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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NGRS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Hon Kit (Chairman)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

LEGAL ADVISORS

Conyers Dill & Pearman (Bermuda)

lu, Lai & Li, Solicitors (Hong Kong)

Vincent T. K. Cheung, Yap & Co. (Hong Kong)
Leong Hon Man, Advogado (Macau)

AUDITOR
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
The Bank of East Asia, Limited

Hang Seng Bank Limited

United Overseas Bank Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE
Clarendon House

2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
30/F., Bank of America Tower

12 Harcourt Road

Central

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited

Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Tricor Secretaries Limited

Level 22, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong*

WEBSITE
www.itcproperties.com

STOCK CODE
Hong Kong Stock Exchange 199

# ' The address will be changed to Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,

Hong Kong with effect from 11th July, 2019.

NN Re

ERERE
RN E IS (A RE)
HhRFRETT(BE)
SREBIEREEEBA (E)8)
R R AR (RFT)

R
E « AR SRTENTT

EBEERIRLT

BE LBELRITERAF
RBRITERAA
BAERITARAF
RERITERAF

o TRRTT (M) R A A
hERAT (BE) BR AT

SR
Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

ERTELEXEME
B

IR

BRE125%
ERHRITH L 304E

FERODECRBFE

Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited
Clarendon House

2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

EREROECREFTE

B EWMEEKEARA A
&5
SRANBEHR1835
A28 "

Ak

www.itcproperties.com

B 471X
BB P 199

Z-NFLA+—BE ZHMUABERREE

# EE -
EFKRER183FAEMA L 547 -

Annual Report % 7 e 2018-2019



INFORMATION FOR SHAREHOLDERS

AR & w

FINANCIAL CALENDAR

Announcement of 2018-2019 Annual Results
AME—E—\ /B NEETRELE

Ex-Dividend Date for Second Interim Dividend

£ ZRFHIRE 2R EE

Book Closure Dates for Second Interim Dividend
BEEZIXFEREZEEHIEAF A E

Record Date for Dividend Entitlement

P B Re sk H 8

Payment of Second Interim Dividend

IR HIRE RS B H

Book Closure Dates for Annual General Meeting

BRRREFARSZEEMTES A

Annual General Meeting

BREFRE

Announcement of 2019-2020 Interim Results

AMEZE—h,/ —E-EFEE RS

SHAREHOLDER ENQUIRIES BRERZEH

E-mail B : info@itcproperties.com
Telephone &E5E (852) 2831 8138
Fax 58 : (852) 2858 2697

BB ERR

26th June, 2019
—T-AFRASTRE

16th July, 2019
ZE-NFEA+RA

18th to 19th July, 2019
—E-NFELATNBRETAA

19th July, 2019
—E-hEFEEATIA

on or about 30th August, 2019
RZF-NAFNA=THHLAE

3rd to 6th September, 2019
“ET-AFHAA=HERHA

6th September, 2019
—E-NAFNhARHE

November 2019
—E-AFT—A

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED o EFESBEERAR



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

B 1548 &

Year ended 31st March
BZ=A=1+—RHLEE

2019 2018
—E-hEFE —T)N\F
HKS$ million BB AET
Revenue Wz
Per consolidated statement of profit or loss RIBGFSERR 262 247
Property income and hotel revenue E LNyl E
— share of associates and joint ventures - LB E R REE AR 1,570 643
1,832 890
Net profit FEF 140 182
HK cents BN
Basic earnings per Share BREXRER 15 20
Dividends per Share BRKE
— first interim - E— R Hf 10 10
—second interim - F TR 12 12
22 22
Revenue Ui Net Profit # |
HKS million HKS million
W 7T W T 0T
1,459
5,088
1,832
1,179 00 .
B = 152 0
FY2015/2016 FY2016/2017 FY2017/2018 FY2018/2019
B s T T S e R [ ——
SERE SELE SEAE SE A FY20152016  FY2016/2017  FY2017/2018  FY2018/2019
B B LE B B ZFnES ZFONES ZFLES ZFNES
From subsidiaries B Share of associates and joint ventures RN ZFENE ZEAE
AP 24 7 WL 8528 7 B A B ) A P P

Total Assets B EAEE

Total Shareholders’ Fund BRRE £ 458

5,353

5,336

HKS$’million HKS$’million

R STH e ST

9,443 8.983 9.171 5,517

7,679
31.03.2016 31.03.2017 31.03.2018 31.03.2019 31.03.2016
ZEA ZF LA ZF N 4E ZENAE ZENE
ZH=4—H =ZH=+—H Z=ZH=+—H Z=H=1—H ZH=14—H
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETRMES

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS
On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual report of
the Group for the Year.

The Group’s revenue and gross profit increased to HK$262.3 million
and HK$117.1 million respectively, attributable to the improvement
in the hotel business. Since the handover of presold units in blocks
13 to 15 of Sky Oasis had been completed during the Year, there was
a substantial increase in the aggregate contributions from associates
and joint ventures to HK$567.5 million. The Group recorded a profit
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$140.6 million and
basic earnings per Share were HK15 cents.

The Board has declared a second interim dividend of HK12 cents per
Share for the Year, which will be payable in cash with an alternative
to elect scrip dividend of Shares. Together with the first interim
dividend of HK10 cents per Share, the total dividend for the Year is
HK22 cents per Share.

The worsened US-China trade conflict has casted uncertainties on the
global business environment and its adverse effect will slow down
the economic growth. Property activities in cities, including Hong
Kong and Vancouver, show signs of sluggishness. On the other hand,
the development of the Greater Bay Area strengthens the cooperation
amongst Guangdong, Hong Kong and Macau and enhances the
economic development in these regions. With careful selection of
projects, the Group remains confident in carrying out its mission and
dealing with challenges ahead.

We will focus on the presale of the remaining blocks in Sky Oasis
and Grand Oasis and the redevelopment projects at Hai Tan Street
and Pau Chung Street in order to secure the revenue for the coming
few years. In addition to stepping our businesses further to Canada
and the United Kingdom, we will keep on improving earnings and
enhancing the Shareholders” value by working hard on the projects
on hand and at the same time, be selective and cautious on
replenishing the Group’s portfolio when suitable opportunities arise.

I would like to take this opportunity to express my appreciation to the
Shareholders for their support, to the fellow Board members,
management and staff for their dedicated efforts to the Group and to
our clients, consultants and partners for all their valuable assistance
offered during the Year.

Cheung Hon Kit
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26th June, 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the Year, due to the improvement in the hotel business, the
Group's revenue increased by 6.4% to HK$262.3 million and gross
profit increased by 5.4% to HK$117.1 million. The handover of
presold units in blocks 13 to 15 of Sky Oasis had been completed
during the Year and as a result there was a substantial increase in the
aggregate contributions from associates and joint ventures to
HK$567.5 million (2018: HK$167.6 million). However, as the local
property prices became moderate recently, there was only a slight
increase in fair value of investment properties of HK$1.5 million, as
compared to HK$274.6 million for last financial year. Furthermore,
the Group has recognised a considerable decrease in fair value on its
equity investment in 62,504,706 shares in SMI Holdings Group
Limited (“SMI”) of HK$211.5 million. As a result, the Group’s profit
for the Year attributable to owners of the Company decreased to
HK$140.6 million from HK$182.5 million for last financial year.

Property
The segmental profit for the Year increased to HK$526.6 million from
HK$431.0 million for last financial year.
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One Oasis, Sky Oasis, Grand Oasis

B B R M AT

XK EE

RAFE  ARNBEEEBBANRE  AEEZ
U 2518 101 6.4% &= 78 %5 262,300,000 7T M EF
H#AN5.4% %2 7B ¥ 117,100,000 7T ° & 1§ & [E
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167,600,000 70 ) © AT - H AN AT HAAS HE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B B R Mo AT

Macau

During the Year, the Group recognised an encouraging share of profit
of HK$634.7 million (2018: HK$104.2 million) from its associate,
which is the developer of “One Oasis”, “Sky Oasis” and “Grand
Oasis” in Cotai South, Macau, upon the handover of the residential
units and ancillary car parks of blocks 13 to 15, where the occupation
permit was obtained in June 2018.

With the solid market reputation established from the delivery of high
quality residential units to the end users in the previous years, the
good performance continues for the presale of blocks 17 to 19 and
revenue of exceeding HK$4.5 billion was secured. The presale of the
remaining blocks 16 and 20 will commence at opportune time.

Hong Kong

In December 2018, “Cheuk Nang Plaza” was renamed as “250
Hennessy”, which is a 31-storey commercial building with 25 car
parks situated at the heart of Wanchai district along Hennessy Road.
The renovation works are in the final stage. Currently, certain floors
are occupied by the Group for self-use while the remaining floors are
held for long and short term leasing purposes.

The foundation and substructural works for the project at No. 23 Po
Shan Road, Mid-levels have been progressing well and the
construction works for the superstructure of a deluxe residential
mid-rise building are expected to commence in the 4th quarter of
2019.

The superstructure works for the redevelopment project at Nos. 205—
211A Hai Tan Street, Sham Shui Po are expected to be completed by
the end of 2019, with presale to be launched in the 3rd quarter of
2019. This is an URA project mainly consisting of residential flats
with a commercial podium.

The foundation works for the project at Nos. 41, 43 and 45 Pau
Chung Street, To Kwa Wan are in progress and completion of the
new composite building is expected by 2021. This is a
redevelopment project comprising a residential tower with retail
shops at lower levels. Presale of this project is planned to be
launched in late 2019.

A 72%-owned subsidiary of the Group has successfully acquired
80% of the lots at Nos. 21, 23, 25, 27, 29 and 31 Sheung Heung
Road, To Kwa Wan. The aggregate site area is approximately 9,100
sq. ft. and it is presently planned for residential redevelopment upon
completion of the acquisition and compliance with town planning
issues.
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T IEBME41 43 M 4558 TEE 2HE T2
EETEFR  WHEBFRAANERZZE=Z—F
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PRC

During the Year, the Group acquired an effective 31.5% interest in a
joint venture which owns portions of Dabiao International Centre
situated at Haizhu District, Guangzhou City with a total floor area of
approximately 640,000 sq. ft.. It is a composite tower comprising of a
commercial podium, offices and a hotel, which is conveniently
connected to the Changgang Metro Station. The property currently
contributes fair rental income to the Group and upgrade of the
facilities may be intended to increase its resale value.

Overseas

Vancouver, Canada

The approval of the rezoning application of the residential
redevelopment project at Alberni Street in downtown Vancouver was
obtained in September 2018. The demolition work is expected to
commence in 2020, with presale to be launched in late 2019. The
project is planned for building two residential towers with a total
floor area of approximately 648,000 sq. ft. upon completion.

London, United Kingdom

The application for the redevelopment of a four-storey office building,
which is located at a prominent corner plot at Greycoat Place, is in
progress. The building is proposed to be redeveloped into a mixed
residential and commercial tower.

BIEE & wm Lo

]

REAFE AEERET —BE6&E 282
31.5% B 8B ARHEAEMTIEEK
(@SR AL E A 49 640,000 F H R EEE
Mg FitA—EERES  BAERBER—
B ZEAKNE - MBS ML SBHE -
ZWEB A AAEBRRETAAS WA - Wt
HEITRMEF ROE I EEEE -

B

YIEY. R

MR ETEE T AR O Alberni Street Z (£ E 218
B2zt BlIRmEE RN T — \E N AESH
B RHIRBANR S -_ZFHMEB  TER
TE-NFIRFABEE - ZTEBFTEEHEMIE
FERE  BXEZEEAEEL A 648,000
FHER

HE R
B Al AN 55 (B 1F BR 55 12 42 5% 7 Greycoat Place
—RBERLE BB MAZTAE - ZK
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Alberni Street
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE T kT

Le Petit Rosedale Hotel
THJBE 147 oty B

Hotel and Leisure BIERER

Revenue from this segment increased to HK$171.1 million (2018: [t & 2 U 2538 =768 171,100,000 T( — =
HK$156.6 million), attributable to the contribution from Le Petit — J\4E : ##£156,600,0007C) * &K B IHE
Rosedale Hotel and Rosedale Hotel Kowloon. The segmental profit & @ B 5 X L EHBE/E 2 BBt - o =B
amounted to HK$18.6 million (2018: HK$46.6 million) which mainly & K %7 % 18,600,000 7T ( =& — )\ 4F : jB &
included the share of the increase in the fair value of Rosedale Hotel ~ 46,600,0007T) * ¥ E & IEfE(G NI EE/S
Kowloon. Consistent with the market trend in Hong Kong, there were 27 A FAEIE AN » %M B ERAEE 2 AFR
improvements in both occupancy and average room rate in these twvo & FHREEHERNE - BEEHHBLER

hotels during the Year. The Westin Bayshore in Vancouver, in which ~ — % o K& B # 5 50% 1 = 2 )8 57 2 & = B
the Group has 50% interests, contributed a stable return. HOTBERAEE R HKIZER R

The Westin Bayshore
A A T

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErEESEEER AR



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B E &m0 AT

RARERY  HAKELEBEAZA%KE

Outlined below is a summary of the Group’s interests in properties

which are significant to the operations of the Group as at the date of ~ ¥)ZEREZBEHIT
this report:
Attributable
Group’s gross
interests floor area
i 3] 30
Location iR BEER
(%) (sq. ft.)
(FHR)
Macau B
One Oasis, Sky Oasis and Grand Oasis MRAHESR 2 SEmE Residential/Commercial 35.5 623,933
situated at Fstrada de Seac Pai Van PEEERSEAE FE/ H%
Sub-total Nt 623,933
Hong Kong EN
Redevelopment project situated at fip+ M 41 - 43 % Residential/Commercial 100 30,000
Nos. 41, 43 and 45 Pau Chung Street, 455 ERIAR %/ E%
To Kwa Wan
Redevelopment project situated at RIRRKE G181 205-211A%  Residential/Commercial 100 40,116
Nos. 205-211A Hai Tan Street, ZEREIERE =/ "
Sham Shui Po
Premises situated at 30/F., Bank of America IRPIRERIE 125 Office 100 13,880
Tower, No. 12 Harcourt Road, Central EERTRLI0EZME BAE
250 Hennessy situated at No. 250 IR E(TE B FE25055 2 Office/Car parks 100 55,600
Hennessy Road, Wanchai 250 Hennessy YNV i
Redevelopment project situated at A2 F48E21 223+ 25+ Residential' 72 20,593
Nos. 21, 23,25, 27,29 and 2729 R3S ERIER FE!
31 Sheung Heung Road, To Kwa Wan
Redevelopment project situated at IR NEME235 2 Residential 40 32,000
No. 23 Po Shan Road, Mid-levels ERER FE
Le Petit Rosedale Hotel situated at R AREEEE 75 Hotel 100 31,000
No. 7 Moreton Terrace, Causeway Bay HEMRIEE i)
Rosedale Hotel Kowloon situated at AR AEAAEIES65 2 Hotel 40 44,000
No. 86 Tai Kok Tsui Road, Tai Kok Tsui NEHBEE g
Sub-total et 267,189

Annual Report % 7 0 2018-2019



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B 5w o T

Attributable
Group’s gross
interests floor area
BN 30
Location Ptz BREER
(%) (sq. ft)
(FHR)
PRC th
Land situated at the Cyber Park, Sanya City, R ERHE —DmelEEXE Hotel 100 886,000
Hainan Province 2t BIE
Portions of Dabiao International Centre situated i B M T8 %k 1@ T G A& Commercial/Office/ 315 201,000
at No. 362 Jiangnan Avenue South and 362 5% KB RT 5 23857 Hotel/Car parks
No. 238 Changgang Zhong Road, ERERP LS EEVE VN4
Haizhu District, Guangzhou City BE/Ef
Sub-total Nt 1,087,000
Overseas =3
Townsend House situated at Greycoat Place, IR B Greycoat Placez  Commercial 90.1 23,900
London, United Kingdom Townsend House EE
The Westin Bayshore situated at IR MER KRBT R TEE Hospitality/Conference/ 50 224,500
1601 Bayshore Drive, Vancouver, i & 2 Bayshore Drive 1601 5% Ancillary uses
British Columbia, Canada ZRTEERRI TR BIE/ &%/ BRERE
Redevelopment project situated at IR MERRB IR A Residential/Commercial 28 181,000
1444 Alberni Street, 711 Broughton Street JBETE Alberni Street 14445+ 2%/ %
and 740 Nicola Street, Vancouver, Broughton Street 711 5% [
British Columbia, Canada Nicola Street 74055 2 ERIBE
Sub-total PNt 429,400
Total @st 2,407,522

' The property is planned for residential redevelopment. #1251 &l FEERZ -

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ EFESBEERAR



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Securities Investments

Segmental loss from securities investments for the Year was
HK$209.0 million (2018: HK$70.0 million). As at 31st March, 2019,
the Group held 62,504,706 shares in SMI (the “SMI Investment”),
representing 2.31% of its existing total number of issued shares (the
“SMI Shares”). The SMI Shares are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, but the trading of SMI Shares has been suspended
on the Stock Exchange since 3rd September, 2018. Based on the
valuation report prepared by an independent professional valuer, a
significant loss of HK$211.5 million was incurred due to the decrease
in fair value in the SMI Investment during the Year.

Due to the share price fluctuation of South Shore Holdings Limited
(“South Shore”), there was HK$38.2 million (2018: HK$251.7
million) net loss on fair value changes of equity investments charged
as other comprehensive expense during the Year.

As at 31st March, 2019, the Group had equity and fund investments
in aggregate of HK$191.9 million, 64% being unlisted securities and
funds denominated in United States dollars and 36% being listed
securities denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Finance

The Group had interest income of HK$76.8 million (2018: HK$69.2
million) for the Year. As at 31st March, 2019, other loan receivables
of the Group amounted to HK$753.6 million.

Paul Y. Engineering Group Limited

The completion of the Group’s acquisition of 45.8% interests in Paul
Y. Engineering Group Limited from South Shore is still pending
fulfillment of certain conditions by South Shore, and is expected to
take place by 31st July, 2019.

B B R M AT

BHERE
KREEBHFBREZDHEBEBARBE
209,000,000 7T (=Z— \4F : &% 70,000,000
L) MR-_ZE—AF=A=+—H KEEH
BF62,504,706 IREERMN ([EXLE]) - (hE
REEEITRD ([EXRH ) BE22.31% -
EEBRMRBRIAERLET  EBZ—N\F
NAZHREEEEHZIMEE - RIEBL
EEGHEMGRREAERS  AREXKE
CATEEAFETK BHEF/EBL
211,500,000 7T 2 EE K518 °

HRErEEERAE(TEE]D BRER
B) - B 138,200000L( =T — )\ & : B
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B B R Mo AT

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group maintains a prudent funding and treasury policy with
regard to its overall business operations. A variety of credit facilities
are maintained to satisfy the commitments and working capital
requirements of the Group.

As at 31st March, 2019, the Group had total bank borrowings of
HK$1,479.5 million and loan notes of HK$1,547.1 million. After
netting off bank balances and cash of HK$526.2 million and
comparing with the Group’s shareholders’ funds of HK$5,336.1
million, the Group’s net gearing ratio as at 31st March, 2019 was
0.47 (2018: 0.44). All of the bank borrowings are subject to floating
interest rates while the loan notes are subject to fixed interest rates.
The Group will closely monitor and manage its exposure to the
interest rate fluctuations and will consider engaging hedging
instruments as and when appropriate.

As at 31st March, 2019, the Group had unused banking facilities of
HK$352.0 million which can be utilised to finance the construction
of properties and the working capital of the Group. During the Year,
a total of HK$758.4 million bank borrowings were drawn down to
finance the redevelopment projects in Hong Kong and the working
capital of the Group. An aggregate amount of HK$306.7 million of
the Group’s borrowings will be due for repayment in the coming
financial year in accordance with the repayment schedules while
another HK$1,172.8 million was classified as current liability since
the lenders have the rights to demand immediate repayment. The
Group will continue to closely monitor its liquidity and working
capital requirements to ensure appropriate financing arrangements
are made when necessary.

For overseas subsidiaries, associated companies and other
investments with cashflow denominated in foreign currencies, the
Group endeavours to establish a natural hedge for debt financing
with an appropriate level of borrowings in the same currencies. In
this respect, the borrowings of the Group and its associates, to which
the Group has granted guarantees, are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars, United States dollars, Canadian dollars and Pound Sterling.
For the Year, an unrealised loss on exchange differences of HK$69.7
million was charged as other comprehensive expense, mainly arisen
from translations of operations in Canada and the PRC due to the
depreciation of Canadian dollars and Renminbi. The majority of the
Group's cash and cash equivalent are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars while the Group’s other assets and liabilities are denominated
in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, Macau Pataca, Pound Sterling,
United States dollars and Canadian dollars. Though no hedging
instruments have been engaged, the Group will closely monitor its
foreign exchange risk exposure.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Subsequent to the end of the Year, the Company has cancelled a total
of 7,723,000 Shares upon repurchase which led to an enhancement
in the net asset value per Share and the earnings per Share. The
Directors believed that the Share repurchase benefited the Company
and its Shareholders as a whole.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31st March, 2019, the Group’s general credit facilities granted
by the banks were secured by pledges of the Group’s investment
properties of HK$922.0 million, stock of properties of HK$752.9
million, and property, plant and equipment of HK$910.2 million.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31st March, 2019, the Group provided corporate guarantees on
a several basis to the extent of (i) HK$91.0 million (2018: HK$91.0
million), HK$365.4 million (2018: HK$377.2 million), HK$58.0
million (2018: Nil), HK$320.0 million (2018: Nil) and HK$230.4
million (2018: HK$238.1 million) in respect of the banking facilities
granted to five joint ventures (which are owned as to 50%, 50%,
50%, 40% and 28% equity interests by the Group respectively) with
the total outstanding amounts of HK$81.9 million (2018: HK$91.0
million), HK$352.7 million (2018: HK$364.4 million), HK$57.8
million (2018: Nil), HK$320.0 million (2018: Nil) and HK$139.9
million (2018: HK$144.6 million); and (ii) HK$565.7 million (2018:
HK$565.7 million) in respect of the banking facilities granted to an
associate (which is owned as to 40% equity interests by the Group)
with the total outstanding amount of HK$354.8 million (2018:
HK$337.6 million).

Number of Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31st March, 2019, the total number of employees of the Group
was 318 (2018: 329). Employees are remunerated according to their
qualifications and experience, job nature and performance, and
under the pay scales aligned with market conditions. Other benefits
to employees include medical scheme, insurance coverage, share
options and retirement schemes.

Movement in Issued Shares

During the Year, the Company issued a total of 37,574,209 new
Shares pursuant to the scrip dividend schemes in relation to the
second interim dividend for the year ended 31st March, 2018 and the
interim dividend for the six months ended 30th September, 2018. As
at 31st March, 2019, there were 975,286,943 Shares in issue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE T kT

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations — ZRE®E 7 27& « B ik R &L & = 2 IA G,
are subject to various risks and uncertainties. The principal factors R T iEFREEZEL - DHA 2 T ER=HT
have been identified and are set out below: o

TERBRFEEREE

Risk Trend
BB

Principal Risks

Key Controls and Risk Mitigations

9500 TRERRABERER

Cooling measures on property markets
RAME T HE

Due to the introduction of the government’s
cooling measures on property markets in
regions where the Group conducts its
business, the Group may experience market
pressures to reduce effective prices for
property sales or rentals

HRAEEREEBREDR 2 BFELS
AR TG - AEBEAREAE TS E S TIE
MEZEREERES

Have ongoing update and assessment of the
government policies

Fr g BTN RT AT R

Conduct market study and demand analysis
timely to formulate the appropriate strategies
%ﬁﬁii&ﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁuﬂE‘i@ié?E’\J
o

Geographical diversification

EZHEE

\nZ

Remains similar

A

Highly competitive industries

TREFERRNGF

Competition risks faced by the Group may
include: (i) numerous developers undertaking
property investment and development in the
markets, including Hong Kong, where the
Group’s property business conducts; (ii) keen
competition and pricing pressure from other
developers; and (iii) competition with other
hotels for guests

AEEEH 2 HFREARBE : ()REEKE
MEXBRAETS  BREEE  FHEARK
EMERBERBERZERRE () KEEMHE
Bz MBS EBEN  Ri)R%3
ERFRAEMEEMEERF

Directors and management to discuss
business performance and formulate various
operation and marketing strategies to
maintain the Group’s competitiveness
EREEEENREBRRAMGEZREE
HTISRBE AR AN R Z BT )
Teams of good calibre and experience to
closely monitor performance by segments
ﬁﬁiﬂ%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ@@%%‘ﬂ%%ﬁ%ﬁ%
£

\nZ

Remains similar

RIS

Laws and regulations

ERERIRB

Development projects and hotel operation
require government approvals or permits, and
some of such approvals and permits may
require an unexpected long period of time to
be granted and issued, which may lead to a
delay in completion of the project and
adverse effects on the hotel operation. The
authorities may also from time to time impose
new regulations on property owners requiring
the Group to increase manpower and incur
additional costs and expenses to comply with
such requirements. In some cases, it may
adversely affect the Group’s property sales
performance

BHRIA B NOBE &8 MARIS BUR I S FF
A A THE RFFR SRAKE - BERTE
Bz g R R ER - ABOR B RERTEK
RSB 52 EBRTNEE - ZRITARED
SR T BN - HERAEE AR
ARLB ST AR E MIBIMA T Mo EREINE
AR - EETIEATAREAEEZY
EHERRBRANTE

Continue monitoring and assessing the
impact of the regulatory changes
FEESEMAER N E RN E
Seek for professional advice on regulation
changes if necessary
ERERSREMMAIINENEXER
Monitor the compliance with laws and
regulations through internal policies and
compliance checklists
BBAREEM A HB EEERENRAID
e

Maintain proper documentation

REE XM RRERIAE

U

New/updated laws
and regulations at
both national and
local levels
RREME
ERTED R AR B
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B E &m0 AT

Principal Risks

Key Controls and Risk Mitigations

Risk Trend

TEEME

Global economic uncertainties

ERREFEMMEERER

The outlook for the global economy and
financial markets remains uncertain. In Hong
Kong, social movements, negative sentiment
towards the inbound PRC tourists and
consumer confidence continue to have
adverse impact on the overall economy. The
economy of the PRC has been facing
downward pressure due to the sluggish
foreign demand, excess production capacity,
adjustments in the real estate market and the
Sino-US trade war. The unprecedented Brexit
may cast deep uncertainties over the future of
the United Kingdom. These global economic
uncertainties could adversely affect the
business activities and the economic and
market conditions globally
ERQEREBTISZASDRAR - 8
FH - BRHEMEER  HEHEPEIKR
B2 NmBHEIEBE LRSI ETERE
R P BRERINRFE SRR - ERLE
BBHETSHRARRFEESEME
STITEN - REBEDAAAR e/
EEFIRFRRETNAPEE - Fl 2K
BEIRERAREAH 2R ZBEEZPUAEL
ol A

TEERREARERER

Submit monthly updates of financial
information of the Group to the Directors to
facilitate them to manage the businesses in a
volatile market
MEEREAEE T A BT B ER AR
BREETRENT ST ERER

Be selective and cautious for assessment of
business opportunities
EHEEBNMAEB RS

Closely monitor the Group’s liquidity and
working capital to ensure its sustainability in
case of adverse environment
BHUERAKENREE S L EEBE S IR
REETHRF R AIFEER

2B %

T

Political uncertainties
and deteriorating
economic conditions
in some markets

o IS8 BT
BA IR 4B AR e =

Currency fluctuations

BEKE

The results of the Group are recorded in Hong
Kong dollars but its various subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures may receive
revenue and incur expenses in other
currencies, including Renminbi, Canadian
dollars and Pound Sterling. Any significant
currency fluctuations on translation of the
overseas accounts may therefore impact on
the Group’s results of operations, financial
position and cash flow

REE 7 A DOEEDINR  EE T 2B A
A BERARRAEERF W AIATRE LK
MmEEREN  BIEARE - ¥ RHEH -
WAEREBINER L IHIRERERNEERK
B BAREEAREEEEE  UBHR
REBRDRE

Assess and monitor the foreign exchange
exposure continuously
FrET M E RINER R

Consider the use of hedging devices when
appropriate

RIEERREBEREH TR

T

Increasing volatility in
currency markets
BT R BN I0
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE T kT

Risk Trend
E B

Principal Risks

Key Controls and Risk Mitigations
FEEERERRBER

TEEME

Associates and joint ventures
BE AR LA ZRE

A large proportion of the Group’s project
developments and investments are carried out
through associates and joint ventures, so it
may expose to risks of having business
partners who may withdraw from the joint
ventures due to the change of their business
strategies, take some unfavourable actions to
the Group, fail to perform their duties and
fulfill their obligations in accordance with the
joint venture agreements, undergo a change
of ownership and control or experience
material business and financial difficulties
hindering their contributions to the joint
venture projects
AREBAHLHERERIREDBBEEN
ARAERRMET - Bl RS EBBH
ARERMEEBREMELAE QT HA
SERBANNTE - AJREAREBEREL
BERTTHBENSET AR A ERE
HIEEE)  FEBS REB LI BEEM
DEEYAEEB EHERMTS R ER

Select business partners with long-term
established relationship carefully
EREBAERESIERMENETRH
Maintain ongoing communications with the
business partners to understand their business
strategies and their change of structures

FBEEBR BRI T B H RIS

Incorporate contractual terms and conditions
in the agreements to safeguard the Group’s
interests

TA 155 2 70 A N i AN i (B s O AR T R AR
Monitor the fulfilment of contractual terms
and legal proceedings through internal
policies and compliance checklists
FRAEBBOR MG B BIABIE & KR
EREFIETT

\nZ

Remains similar

RIS

Financing uncertainties

BEFETNRERE

The Group’s capital requirements primarily
depend on the amount of capital expenditure
required on its property investments and
development projects, and hotel operations.
The Group may need to raise additional funds
to meet these requirements. However, there is
no assurance that additional financing will be
made available, or if available, such financing
will be obtained on terms favourable to the
Group. If the Group fails to obtain necessary
funding on acceptable terms, it may be forced
to delay capital development projects,
potential acquisitions and investments or
otherwise curtail or cease operations
REBNEAZLERNEAYEREMER
BHH URBEEZERMTNERME - A&
ERRERESERIESARNREFTE -
A NIRFEATEUSERINELE - SN AT EX
5 ZMEGTEEEFNAEE - ARE
BEREEEVS A MR B IGR AL g ERE
JEEBEARRIAE BEKRERIRE - 6
WA L E T EE

Maintain close communication with banks
HIRITRISEIER

Manage the maturity profile of deposits and
loans to minimise refinancing risk and cost
EREFALERNERPES - HERED
[\ B B B AR B A R

Establish and maintain diversified channels
of financing

B MRFZTENBERS

T

Challenges in obtaining
new financing on
favourable terms

VA F RO IR SRERIS 3
BB BPE

Natural disaster
BARKE

A natural disaster could result in severe
personal injury, property damage and
environmental damage, which may curtail the
Group’s business operations

BANZTRNGHEEATEES BRUE
RIEIRIG - AR S AR 2 X EE MM

Formulate business continuity plans and
crisis management procedures
HEEBSEEEABMERERRERF
Arrange sufficient insurance package

ZHER AN RR

\nZ

Remains similar

RIS
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Hon Kit (age: 65)

Mr. Cheung joined the Company as the Chairman and an executive
Director in April 2005 and is also a director of various members of
the Group. He is also the chairman of the Corporate Governance
Committee, and a member of the Nomination Committee and the
Investment Committee of the Company. Mr. Cheung graduated from
the University of London with a bachelor of arts degree. He has over
41 years of experience in real estate development, property
investment and corporate finance, holding key executive positions in
various leading property development companies in Hong Kong.
Mr. Cheung is an independent non-executive director of Future Bright
Holdings Limited, a listed company in Hong Kong. He resigned as an
independent non-executive director of International Entertainment
Corporation, a listed company in Hong Kong, with effect from 10th
June, 2017.

Mr. Chan Fut Yan (age: 65)

Mr. Chan joined the Company as the Managing Director and an
executive Director in April 2005 and is also a director of various
members of the Group. He is also a member of the Remuneration
Committee and the Investment Committee of the Company. Mr. Chan
has over 46 years of experience in the local construction field
specialising in planning of construction business. He is also the
deputy chairman and an executive director of Paul Y. Engineering
Group Limited. He resigned as an executive director of ITC
Corporation Limited (now known as PT International Development
Corporation Limited), a listed company in Hong Kong, on 28th
March, 2017.

Mr. Cheung Chi Kit (age: 53)

Mr. Cheung joined the Company in 2005 and was appointed as an
executive Director in August 2006. He is the Chief Financial Officer
of the Company and is responsible for the finance and accounting
functions of the Group. Mr. Cheung is also a director of various
members of the Group and a member of the Corporate Governance
Committee and the Investment Committee of the Company. He has
over 31 years of experience in auditing, accounting and financial
management. Mr. Cheung holds a bachelor’s degree in accounting.
He is a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators of the
United Kingdom.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

BERDANEREE

Mr. Chan Yiu Lun, Alan (age: 35)

Mr. Chan joined the Company as an executive Director in March
2010 and is also a director of various members of the Group. He is
also a member of the Investment Committee of the Company. He
graduated from Trinity College of Arts and Sciences of Duke
University, United States of America, with a bachelor of arts degree
in Political Science — International Relations. Mr. Chan previously
worked in the investment banking division of The Goldman Sachs
Group, Inc. He is a director of Burcon NutraScience Corporation
whose issued shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange and
the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. Mr. Chan was re-designated from an
executive director to a non-executive director of PYI Corporation
Limited, a listed company in Hong Kong, with effect from 22nd July,
2016 and thereafter resigned as a non-executive director with effect
from 25th April, 2017. Also, he resigned as an executive director of
ITC Corporation Limited (now known as PT International
Development Corporation Limited), a listed company in Hong Kong,
on 28th March, 2017. Mr. Chan is the son of Dr. Chan Kwok Keung,
Charles and Ms. Ng Yuen Lan, Macy who are the substantial
Shareholders.

Mr. Wong Lai Shun, Benny (age: 58)

Mr. Wong joined the Company as an executive Director in December
2014 and is also a director of various members of the Group. He is
the managing director of the Group’s Rosedale hotel division and is
responsible for the overall hotel development, operation and
management functions of the Group. Mr. Wong is also a member of
the Investment Committee of the Company. He graduated from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong with a bachelor of arts degree with
honours. Mr. Wong has over 26 years of management experience in
the hospitality, media, construction and building management
industry. He has been the head of a well-established management
team with expertise and experience in the hotel field covering city
and business hotel management since 2004. He had been an
executive director of several listed companies prior to 2004.

BRIBBE S (35 5%)

[RAER ZZ—ZF= AMARRRHERIT
B TAAEEZHNKERRZES < KT
RERNRREBEZEGZKE - REENEH
ft % K 2 (Duke University, United States of
America) Trinity College of Arts and Sciences -
FAEBAREREEXBE LM - RELE
fE B 7 = &% & E (The Goldman Sachs Group,
Inc.) Z % & R1THL © 15 4% Burcon NutraScience
Corporation Z % » AR 2 B #HITHRM N
EREBHFRIMPERRBESF RS L
e REER-T—RFLA-+-HHEE
FEELETRARREEREARARZHITESH
ERIVTES ZBBR_T—LFOA
“+HBBMERIFRITES - I RN -F
—tF=ZA TN\ BBREREE LT RAAER
CEEEERAR(REARBERERER
BRAR ZHITES - RELRTEMRR
B+ RmmELtz R -

HRIELE (585%)

BRAEN T —ME+— ANMAKRQTHER
TEE NAAEEZHEKERRZESE -’
AAEENBRERFICEETLLE  BEXR
EERRALEHE SEREERS - &L4
MBARRIBREREGZKE - HEENES
RN AB  FHELBYBESE - BAER
BE B REREFEERETERERA
T AREZERLER - HE _TTNFEEA
—BEFEEBE CEE BN EE SR
BB R R B 5 S IR 7 T 2 B AR R
B BN _STNFRSAZHEEMARZH
TES-

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ EFESBEERAR



BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

Independent Non-executive Directors

Hon. Shek Lai Him, Abraham, GBs, Jp (age: 74)

(alias: Abraham Razack)

Mr. Shek joined the Company as the Vice Chairman and an
independent non-executive Director in September 2010. He is also
the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of each of
the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Mr. Shek graduated from the University of Sydney,
Australia with a bachelor of arts degree and a diploma in education.
He has been a member of the Legislative Council of Hong Kong
representing the real estate and construction functional constituency
since 2000. He was appointed as a Justice of the Peace in 1995. He
was awarded Silver Bauhinia Star in 2007 and was further awarded
the Gold Bauhinia Star in 2013. Mr. Shek is an independent non-
executive director of Chuang’s China Investments Limited, a listed
company in Hong Kong, and retired from the position of the
chairman of its board and was appointed as the honorary chairman
both with effect from 29th April, 2019. He was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Far East Consortium
International Limited, a listed company in Hong Kong, with effect
from 3rd June, 2019. Mr. Shek is also an independent non-executive
director of China Resources Cement Holdings Limited, Chuang's
Consortium International Limited, Cosmopolitan International
Holdings Limited, Country Garden Holdings Company Limited, CSI
Properties Limited, Everbright Grand China Assets Limited, Goldin
Financial Holdings Limited, Hop Hing Group Holdings Limited, Lai
Fung Holdings Limited, Lifestyle International Holdings Limited,
NWS Holdings Limited, Paliburg Holdings Limited and SJM Holdings
Limited, all of which are listed companies in Hong Kong. He is also
an independent non-executive director of Eagle Asset Management
(CP) Limited — the manager of Champion Real Estate Investment Trust
and Regal Portfolio Management Limited — the manager of Regal Real
Estate Investment Trust, both of the trusts being listed in Hong Kong.
Mr. Shek resigned as an independent non-executive director of TUS
International Limited, ITC Corporation Limited (now known as PT
International Development Corporation Limited) and Midas
International Holdings Limited (now known as Magnus Concordia
Group Limited), all of which are listed companies in Hong Kong, on
6th January, 2017, 28th March, 2017 and 26th January, 2018
respectively. Mr. Shek has retired from the position of independent
non-executive director of MTR Corporation Limited, a listed company
in Hong Kong, on 22nd May, 2019. Mr. Shek is a member of the
Court of The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, a
member of both of the Court and the Council of The University of
Hong Kong and a non-executive director of the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Authority.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Kwok Ka Lap, Alva (age: 71)

Mr. Kwok joined the Company as an independent non-executive
Director in October 2001. He is also a member of each of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company. Mr. Kwok was a marketing manager in an international
company engaging in the design of business administration system.
He has over 36 years of experience in the insurance and investment
business, principally in the senior managerial position leading a
sizable sales team. Mr. Kwok is an independent non-executive
director of Master Glory Group Limited and Rosedale Hotel Holdings
Limited, both of which are listed companies in Hong Kong.

Mr. Chan Pak Cheong Afonso (age: 72)

Mr. Chan joined the Company as an independent non-executive
Director in August 2015. He is also the chairman of each of the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Chan has over 39 years
of experience in the financial and accounting industries. He is the
sole owner of Chan Pak Cheong (Auditor) Accountant Office, an
accounting and auditing firm. He has been a Certified Public
Accountant for more than 39 years and acted as the vice director and
the vice president of Macau Society of Accountants from 1980 to
2008 and from 2008 to 2018 respectively. Mr. Chan is an
independent non-executive director of Future Bright Holdings
Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong. He acted as a
Commissioner of the Finance Department of Macau — Commission of
the Revision of Profit Tax from 1984 to 1996, from 2011 to 2014 and
2018, as well as one of the Examination Commissioners of the
Commission of Registry of the Auditors and the Accountants from
2006 to 2011. Mr. Chan holds a bachelor’s degree in accountancy.

The executive Directors are regarded as members of the Group’s
senior management.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Wong Siu Mun

Ms. Wong has been the company secretary of the Company since
2017. She is an associate of both The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators of the United Kingdom.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the Group are property development and investment in
Macau, Hong Kong, the PRC, Canada and the United Kingdom,
development of, investment in and operation of hotels and leisure
business in the PRC, Hong Kong and Canada, securities investments
and provision of loan financing services. The principal activities of
the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of the above activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a fair
review of the business of the Group, a description of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely
future development in the Group’s business, are set out in the
“Financial Highlights”, “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis”, “Corporate Governance Report”,
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” and “Financial
Summary” sections of this annual report. The relevant discussions in
these sections form part of this report.

There are no material events affecting the Group occurred since the
end of the Year.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on page 90.

The Board has declared a second interim dividend (the “Second
Interim Dividend”) of HK12 cents per Share for the Year (2018: HK12
cents per Share), in lieu of a final dividend, to the Shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company (the
“Register of Members”) as at the close of business on Friday, 19th
July, 2019. The Second Interim Dividend is expected to be paid to
the Shareholders on or about Friday, 30th August, 2019.
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The Board has also resolved that the Second Interim Dividend should
be satisfied in cash, with an alternative to elect scrip dividend of
Shares in respect of part or all of such dividend. The issue price of
each Share to be issued under the scrip dividend scheme will be
fixed by reference to the average of the closing prices of a Share for
the three consecutive trading days ending Friday, 19th July, 2019 less
a discount of 5% of such average price or the par value per Share,
whichever is higher. The scrip dividend scheme is conditional upon
the Stock Exchange granting the listing of, and permission to deal in,
the new Shares to be issued. A circular containing the details of the
scrip dividend scheme and a form of election, together with this
annual report, will be sent to the Shareholders.

Together with the first interim dividend of HK10 cents per Share paid
on 29th January, 2019, the total dividend for the Year is HK22 cents
per Share (2018: HK22 cents per Share, comprising the first interim
dividend of HK10 cents and the second interim dividend of HK12
cents).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of ascertaining Shareholders’ entitlement to the
Second Interim Dividend, the Register of Members will be closed
from Thursday, 18th July, 2019 to Friday, 19th July, 2019, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will be registered.
The Shares will be traded ex-dividend as from Tuesday, 16th July,
2019. In order to be entitled to the Second Interim Dividend,
Shareholders must lodge all transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates with the branch share registrar and transfer
office of the Company in Hong Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited, at
Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong* for
registration by no later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 17th July,
2019.

For the purpose of ascertaining Shareholders’ entitlement to attend
and vote at the Annual General Meeting, the Register of Members
will be closed from Tuesday, 3rd September, 2019 to Friday, 6th
September, 2019, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of Shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the Annual General Meeting, Shareholders must lodge all
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
with Tricor Secretaries Limited at the abovementioned address for
registration by no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 2nd September,
2019.

# The address will be changed to Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,

Hong Kong with effect from 11th July, 2019.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 236.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES
Particulars of the Group’s principal properties as at 31st March, 2019
are set out on pages 237 and 238.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Year are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on page 94 and Note 41(a) to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
The Company’s reserves available for distribution to its Shareholders
as at 31st March, 2019 and 2018 were as follows:

BARR
RER it 7

Contributed surplus
Retained profit

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus of the Company is available for distribution.
However, the Company cannot declare or pay any dividend, or make
a distribution out of its contributed surplus if:

(i)  itis, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities
as they become due; or

(i) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than its
liabilities.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Cheung Hon Kit (Chairman)

Mr. Chan Fut Yan (Managing Director)

Mr. Cheung Chi Kit (Chief Financial Officer)
Mr. Chan Yiu Lun, Alan

Mr. Wong Lai Shun, Benny

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Hon. Shek Lai Him, Abraham, css, jp (Vice Chairman)
Mr. Kwok Ka Lap, Alva

Mr. Chan Pak Cheong Afonso

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 19 to
22. Mr. Chan Yiu Lun, Alan (“Mr. Alan Chan”) is the son of Dr. Chan
Kwok Keung, Charles (“Dr. Charles Chan”) and Ms. Ng Yuen Lan,
Macy (“Ms. Macy Ng”) who are the substantial Shareholders. Other
than the aforesaid, none of the Directors has any relationship with
the substantial Shareholders as at the date of this report.

Pursuant to bye-laws 87(1) and 87(2) of the Bye-laws and the CG
Code, Mr. Chan Fut Yan (“Mr. FY Chan”) and Mr. Wong Lai Shun,
Benny (“Mr. Benny Wong”), both executive Directors, and Mr. Chan
Pak Cheong Afonso (“Mr. Afonso Chan”), an independent non-
executive Director, shall retire from office at the Annual General
Meeting by rotation. All these three retiring Directors, being eligible,
have offered themselves for re-election at the Annual General
Meeting.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the Annual
General Meeting has a service contract with the Group which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The term of office of each of the non-executive Directors (including
the independent non-executive Directors) appointed from time to
time is fixed subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the requirements of code provisions A.4.1T and A.4.2
of the CG Code which state that non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election, and that all
directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to
election by shareholders at the first general meeting after their
appointment and every director, including those appointed for a
specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years.

The Board has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual written confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31st March, 2019, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company and/or their respective
close associates in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO), (i) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or
(ii) which were required to be recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO; or (iii)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

()  The Company

Number of
Name of Director Shares held
EENF iR AR
Mr. Cheung Hon Kit (“Mr. HK Cheung”) 47,800,000
OB A ([SRZFEE]D
Mr. FY Chan 3,390,594
PR 36 B A
Mr. Cheung Chi Kit (“Mr. CK Cheung”) 2,850,000
REGLAE([REGEE]D
Mr. Alan Chan 3,959,582
Mr. Benny Wong 230,000
=E)ELE
Hon. Shek Lai Him, Abraham, css, jp 283,107

(“Mr. Abraham Shek”)

BiEF - css p ([ AEFHRTE]D
Mr. Kwok Ka Lap, Alva 623,453

(“Mr. Alva Kwok”)
AR ([FFmLEE]D)

Mr. Afonso Chan -
BB A
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Number of
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Shares held
FrriERa Percentage
RI2EE Aot
(Note 2) (Note 3)
(Ktet2) (Htat3)
7,000,000 54,800,000 5.61%
3,500,000 6,890,594 0.70%
2,000,000 4,850,000 0.49%
1,500,000 5,459,582 0.55%
1,500,000 1,730,000 0.17%
500,000 783,107 0.08%
300,000 923,453 0.09%
300,000 300,000 0.03%
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(I)  Associated corporation of the Company
Mr. HK Cheung had personal interests in the principal amount
of US$2.3 million under the 4.75% guaranteed notes due 2021
in the aggregate principal amount of US$200 million issued by
Treasure Generator Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and guaranteed by the Company.

Notes:

1. The Directors were the beneficial owners having personal interests in the Shares,
underlying Shares and/or debenture as disclosed above and all such interests were

long positions.

2. This represented the share options granted by the Company (being regarded as
unlisted physically settled equity derivatives) on 4th April, 2018. Details of the share
options are disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” below.

3. This represented the approximate percentage of the total number of issued Shares as
at 31st March, 2019.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March, 2019, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company and/or their respective
close associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
(i) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) which were
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO; or (iii) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme was approved and adopted by the
Shareholders pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on
17th August, 2012 (the “Adoption Date”). The primary purpose of the
Share Option Scheme is to retain, reward, motivate and give
incentives to eligible persons. The Share Option Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing from
17th August, 2012 to 16th August, 2022.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the Directors may grant share
options to the following eligible persons to subscribe for the Shares:

(i) any employee or proposed employee (whether full-time or part-
time) or executives, including executive director, of any
member of the Group, the controlling shareholder (as defined
in the Listing Rules) of the Company (the “Controlling
Shareholders”), any entity in which any member of the Group
holds any direct or indirect equity interests (the “Invested
Entity”) and/or their respective subsidiaries; or

(i) any non-executive director (including independent non-
executive directors) of any member of the Group, the
Controlling Shareholder or any Invested Entity; or

(iii)  any consultant, adviser or agent (legal, financial or professional)
engaged by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; or

(iv) any vendor, supplier of goods or services or customer of or to
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity.

Share options granted should be accepted within 21 days after the
date of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per each grant of the share
options. The exercise price shall be determined by the Board and
shall be at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares on
the date of grant of the share options; or (ii) the average closing price
of Shares for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; or (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant.

There is no specific requirement that an option must be held for any
minimum period before it can be exercised but the Board is
empowered to impose at its discretion any such minimum period at
the time of grant of any particular option. The period during which
an option may be exercised is determined by the Board at its absolute
discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than ten years
from the date of grant.
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The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
the share options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the
Adoption Date (the “Scheme Limit”). The Scheme Limit may be
refreshed by an ordinary resolution of the Shareholders in general
meeting provided that the Scheme Limit so refreshed shall not exceed
10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the date of such
Shareholders’” approval. Furthermore, the maximum aggregate
number of Shares which may be issued upon the exercise of all
outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the total number of
Shares in issue from time to time. Since the Adoption Date,
refreshments were made to the Scheme Limit due to the issue of
additional Shares upon conversion of convertible notes, exercise of
share options and payment of dividend by way of scrip Shares. As at
31st March, 2019, both the refreshed Scheme Limit and the total
number of Shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme
were 93,771,273, representing approximately 9.69% of the existing
total number of Shares in issue.

The maximum number of Shares (issued and to be issued) upon
exercise of the share options granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company (including
options exercised, cancelled or outstanding) to each eligible person
in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of
Shares in issue unless approval of the Shareholders is obtained. Any
grant of share options to a Director, the chief executive of the
Company, substantial Shareholder, or Controlling Shareholder or any
of their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), is
subject to approval by the independent non-executive Directors
(excluding independent non-executive Director who is the grantee of
the share options). In addition, where the Board proposes to grant
any share options to a substantial Shareholder or an independent
non-executive Director or any of their respective associates, and such
share options, if exercised in full, would result in the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all the share options
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the past 12-month
period up to and including the date of grant in excess of 0.1% of the
total number of Shares in issue on the date of grant and with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Shares on the date
of grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000, such further grant of share
options is subject to the Shareholders” approval in general meeting.
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DHRE - AETEBERMNBHERITRME
H 2 10% ([FHEIFREE]) o BREARRERE A
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On 17th October, 2013, the Company granted the first lot of a total
of 20,800,000 share options under the Share Option Scheme with the
exercise period from 17th October, 2014 to 16th October, 2017. All
the outstanding share options lapsed on 17th October, 2017.

On 4th April, 2018, the Company granted the second lot of a total of
27,020,000 share options with an exercise price of HK$2.57 per
share option. The period during which these share options can be
exercised is from 4th April, 2019 to 3rd April, 2022, provided that up
to a maximum of 50% of the share options shall be exercisable
during the second-year period commencing from 4th April, 2019 to
3rd April, 2020 (both days inclusive) and the balance of the share
options not yet exercised shall be exercisable during the period
commencing from 4th April, 2020 to 3rd April, 2022 (both days
inclusive) pursuant to the Share Option Scheme. Movements of the
aforesaid share options during the Year were as follows:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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R-ZB—=F+A+tH  ARaIREERE
B E A ££20,800,000 10 B8R4 © 171F
HE—T-—NE+A+EtEE-_ZT—+F+A
+NH - IBRETECBREA-ZT—+F
+A+tEB&-

RZZE—N\FWNANH » ARaREE-_HE
27,020,000 17 AR E - FOBERE ZITRE
BB 2 577 o IRIEEIRERT S - BRRERT R
TE-NAFNANBE T - _FA=HEH
BT HEFARZ50% 2BREETRZ
Z-NFENANBE-_Z_ZFEMA=A(H
FEREMA) 28 —FHMTE - Mg T
RITFEEREBATR_Z_ZFNHANARE
T —FNAZH(BREEEWB) BET
o FUlBERENAFE 2 ESHWT ¢

Number of share options

Outstanding
as at
1st April,
2018 Granted
Category and R=B-N\#F during
name of participant HB—H the Year
SREFRIRKES fe RAT AEEARH
Directors
=
Mr. HK Cheung N/A 7,000,000
REMREL NEH
Mr. FY Chan N/A 3,500,000
REREE TER
Mr. CK Cheung N/A 2,000,000
REBEE NEH
Mr. Alan Chan (Note 1) N/A 1,500,000
FRIRME A4 (frat 1) TER
Mr. Benny Wong N/A 1,500,000
ERIBE S NEH

BREHE

Outstanding
as at

31st March,
2019
R-E-h#F
EfEr=[E
5 RITE

Cancelled/
lapsed
during

the Year
TEER
i S

Exercised

during
the Year
KEERITHE

7,000,000

3,500,000

2,000,000

1,500,000

1,500,000
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Number of share options

BREHE

Outstanding Outstanding

as at Cancelled/ as at

1st April, lapsed 31st March,

2018 Granted Exercised during 2019

Category and R=B-N\§ during during the Year R-B-h%F

name of participant A—8 the Year the Year FEER =A=t-H

SEREFRIRESR e RAT 2 FEEARE AEERTE HEH R e RAT 2

Mr. Abraham Shek N/A 500,000 - - 500,000
RfeRELE NEH

Mr. Alva Kwok N/A 300,000 - - 300,000
FELxE A

Mr. Afonso Chan N/A 300,000 - - 300,000
RAERFELE NiEH

Sub-total N/A 16,600,000 - - 16,600,000
et NiEH

Employees N/A 7,120,000 - (240,000) 6,880,000
&8 NiEH

Other participants N/A 3,300,000 - - 3,300,000
HittpEE TEM

Total N/A 27,020,000 - (240,000) 26,780,000
aat TER

Notes: et
1. Mr. Alan Chan is also an associate (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the 1. BRBB A ETARETERTCBEA(EERL LR

substantial Shareholders.

2. The closing price of the Shares traded on the Stock Exchange on 3rd April, 2018,
being the business day immediately before the date of grant, was HK$2.55.

3. The fair value of the above share options determined at the date of grant using the
Binomial Model and the accounting policy adopted are set out in Note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, there were no share options granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme
during the Year.

Al -

2. REZE-N\FHA=AEIEERHAZAI—E%R)
REEZPAEE Z BT B REB#2.55 7T

3. Rz BEEZEHARER —BAAREEEES
FEZATEARRAZ @ BRECHNERES
BTSRRI

B ESCRBEE S « KA B R
BERRAESTBI T AR, - 7748  REB A -
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
above, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the
Company during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed above, at no time
during the Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

Pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules, the interests of the relevant
Directors in businesses which competed or were likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during
the Year were as follows:

Mr. HK Cheung, the Chairman of the Company and an executive
Director, had personal interests and/or held directorships in
companies which engaged in (i) property investment in Macau, Hong
Kong, the PRC, Canada and the United Kingdom; (ii) hotel
management and operation in the PRC and Hong Kong; and (iii)
securities investments and loan financing.

Mr. FY Chan, the Managing Director of the Company and an
executive Director, held directorship in a company engaged in
property development and investment.

Mr. Alan Chan, an executive Director, had personal interests and
held directorship in a company engaged in securities investments and
loan financing.

Mr. Benny Wong, an executive Director, held directorships in
companies engaged in hotel management and operation in the PRC
and Hong Kong.
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The Directors are aware of their fiduciary duties to the Company and
understand that they must, in the performance of their duties as
Directors, avoid actual and potential conflicts of interest and duty in
order to ensure that they act in the best interests of the Shareholders
and the Company as a whole. In addition, any significant business
decisions of the Group are to be determined by the Board. Any
Director who has material interest in any matter being resolved will
abstain from voting. In view of the above, the Board considers that
the interests of each of Mr. HK Cheung, Mr. FY Chan, Mr. Alan Chan
and Mr. Benny Wong in other companies will neither prejudice his
capacity as a Director nor compromise the interests of the Group and
the Shareholders. Also, the Board opines that coupled with the
diligence of independent non-executive Directors, the Group is
capable of carrying on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s
length from, such businesses in which the above Directors are
regarded as being interested in.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in Note 39 to the consolidated financial statements,
no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
Year or at any time during the Year.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, changes in
information on the Directors since the last published 2018-2019
interim report of the Company and up to the date of this report were
set out below:

(@) There were changes to the directorships of each of Mr. HK
Cheung, Mr. FY Chan, Mr. CK Cheung, Mr. Alan Chan and
Mr. Benny Wong in certain members of the Group.

(b)  Mr. Abraham Shek:

. retired from the position of the chairman of the board and
was appointed as the honorary chairman of Chuang’s
China Investments Limited, a listed company in Hong
Kong, both with effect from 29th April, 2019;

EERAREHARRALHEREE  WAR
AERTEESRKE  VARRERNER
AR ER - ABRETEFARRR
RABRBEZ HEMS o I AEBEEFE
REBRREABEFSRE - (ENEFERK
BAEA A CERPRBFERERE - £R
LR - EFERRRERLLE - RFRE
£ REBELERERIBREESEREMAT
ZEGTEFEENTEERG  FTTexRE
AEBRBRMNE - i ELSRREEER
EBUFRTESHFATHZES TEEBLR
PREERRREARRNER - WA
EBQEH R

EECEARS RGN ER

Brir e B mRMEIIPMREEI - RAF
BRERRRAFEAEAER  MEFEALN
REHEEAMBARG Y - AESEHEZE
SEHENERNETERIERBRAENRE
HZEAR G « THHEL °

RIELEWARBE1351BNIE EFERBAR
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. retired from the position of independent non-executive
director of MTR Corporation Limited, a listed company in
Hong Kong, on 22nd May, 2019; and

e was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of Far East Consortium International Limited, a listed
company in Hong Kong, with effect from 3rd June, 2019.

(c) Details of the Directors’ emolument for the Year are set out in
Note 12(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 29th
January, 2019, the Board approved the payment of a discretionary
cash bonus in the amount of HK$10,000,000 (the “Bonus”) to
Dr. Charles Chan as a recognition of his contribution to the Group
under a consultancy agreement entered into between the Company
and Dr. Charles Chan dated 31st March, 2017 (the “Consultancy
Agreement”) and as an encouragement for future positive
contributions to the Group. Dr. Charles Chan had been engaged by
the Company as a senior consultant to provide consultancy services
to the Group for the period from 1st April, 2017 to 31st March, 2020
pursuant to the Consultancy Agreement and had waived the monthly
fees of HK$50,000 payable by the Company under the Consultancy
Agreement during the period from 1st April, 2017 to 31st December,
2018 (both dates inclusive). The Bonus was paid on 30th January,
2019.

Dr. Charles Chan is a substantial Shareholder and therefore a
connected person of the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules and
the payment of the Bonus constituted a connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, there was no connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction undertaken by the Company during
the Year and up to the date of this report which was required to be
disclosed pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The related
party transactions disclosed in Note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements did not constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions of the Company, or were either disclosed
previously pursuant to the Listing Rules or exempt from reporting,
annual review, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER FEREREMA L 2L

PERSONS

As at 31st March, 2019, so far as being known to the Directors or WR=—ZF—HFE=A=+—H EEEXKTAT
chief executive of the Company, the interests and short positions of S =T A BN @ T ERERKHEMA T (E
the substantial Shareholders or other persons (other than the Directors  E g K QA Rl &S T A BBRIN) AR5 & AEE
or chief executive of the Company) in the Shares and underlying &S - WERIBEES RBPEEHE XV
Shares which have been disclosed to the Company pursuant to the  #ZEE2 B3 H I KX AR AT IHE » A KRE
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and have been AR ARIRIEZE AR BEIEHIEICIEFE
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant > &5l 2z AR -

to section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Number of Percentage
Nature of Shares held Aot

interests Capacity Frks (Note 2)
BEME 56 R EE (Kzt2)

() Substantial Shareholders

FERR
Dr. Charles Chan Personal interests Beneficial owner 191,588,814 19.64%
PREDSRE L (EPN: £ BmEAA
Corporate interests  Interest of controlled 76,186,279 7.81%
DA corporation
SEGEEE R
Family interests Interest of spouse 247,031,919 25.33%
ENT: o [t e
514,807,012 52.78%
(Note 3)
(BfeE3)
Fortune Crystal Holdings Personal interests Beneficial owner 247,031,919 25.33%
Limited (“Fortune Crystal”) & AfEz= BEmBEAA (Note 4)
ERERBR AT (Bt 4)
:=2=0)
Record High Enterprises Corporate interests  Interest of controlled 247,031,919 25.33%
Limited (“Record High”) NG £ corporation (Note 4)
SESEEE R (Bt 4)
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Number of Percentage

Nature of Shares held Bak

interests Capacity FRrEs (Note 2)

RS =37 R E (H1az2)

Ms. Macy Ng Corporate interests  Interest of controlled 247,031,919 25.33%
L+ NG 5 corporation

EGDEEE R

Family interests Interest of spouse 267,775,093 27.45%
EN-T foiBtgas
514,807,012 52.78%
(Note 4)
(Htaz4)
(I1) Other persons
Hft A+
Galaxyway Investments Limited Personal interests Beneficial owner 76,186,279 7.81%
(“Galaxyway”) AR EmHEAA (Note 3)
(HtaE3)
ITC Holdings Limited Corporate interests  Interest of controlled 76,186,279 7.81%
(“ITC Holdings”) NEIER corporation (Note 3)
EEREARAR] REGDEEE R (Bt 3)
([fErrsmE])
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Notes:

All the interests in the Shares as disclosed above were long positions. Also, no
underlying Shares were held by the substantial Shareholders and other persons
stated above.

This represented the approximate percentage of the total number of issued Shares
as at 31st March, 2019.

Galaxyway owned 76,186,279 Shares and was a wholly-owned subsidiary of ITC
Holdings which in turn was wholly owned by Dr. Charles Chan. As such, ITC
Holdings and Dr. Charles Chan were deemed to be interested in the 76,186,279
Shares held by Galaxyway by virtue of Part XV of the SFO.

In addition, Dr. Charles Chan was deemed to be interested in the 247,031,919
Shares held by Fortune Crystal set out in Note 4 below by virtue of his being the
spouse of Ms. Macy Ng for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO. Also, Dr. Charles
Chan was the beneficial owner of 191,588,814 Shares.

Accordingly, Dr. Charles Chan was interested in and deemed to be interested in a
total of 514,807,012 Shares by virtue of Part XV of the SFO.

Fortune Crystal owned 247,031,919 Shares and was a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Record High which in turn was wholly owned by Ms. Macy Ng. As such,
Record High and Ms. Macy Ng were deemed to be interested in the 247,031,919
Shares held by Fortune Crystal by virtue of Part XV of the SFO.

In addition, Ms. Macy Ng was deemed to be interested in the 76,186,279 Shares
held by Galaxyway and the 191,588,814 Shares beneficially owned by
Dr. Charles Chan by virtue of her being the spouse of Dr. Charles Chan for the
purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

Accordingly, Ms. Macy Ng was deemed to be interested in a total of 514,807,012
Shares by virtue of Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March, 2019, the Company had

not been notified of any other interests or short positions in the Shares

or u

nderlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the

Company pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV

of th

e SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept

by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
Save for employment contracts, no other contracts relating to the

man

agement and administration of the whole or any substantial part

of the businesses of the Company were entered into or subsisted

during the Year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the largest customer of the Group accounted for
approximately 18% of the Group’s total turnover and the aggregate
amount of turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest customers
was approximately 46% of the Group’s total turnover.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers of
the Group for the Year were less than 30% of the total purchases of
the Group.

As at 31st March, 2019, Mr. Alva Kwok is an independent non-
executive director of the largest customer.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors and their respective
close associates or any Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers
as at 31st March, 2019.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Company is aware, there was no material breach of or
non-compliance with all applicable laws and regulations that had a
significant impact on the businesses and operations of the Group
during the Year.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy regarding the Directors, top management
and other employees of the Group was formulated and will be
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee of the Company from time
to time. Directors, top management and employees are remunerated
according to their qualifications and experience, job nature and
performance and under the pay scales aligned with market
conditions. In addition to the contractual remuneration, other benefits
including discretionary bonus, medical scheme, insurance coverage,
retirement schemes and share options may also be offered upon the
determination of the Group.

Details of the Group’s retirement benefits schemes and the Share
Option Scheme are set out in Note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements and the section headed “Share Option Scheme” above
respectively.
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DIRECTORS” REPORT
EEEREE

DIVIDEND POLICY

During the Year, the Company has adopted a dividend policy which
aims at providing stable and sustainable returns to the Shareholders
whilst preserving the liquidity of the Group to capture future growth
opportunities. The Company intends to provide the Shareholders with
regular dividends and to declare special dividend from time to time
and whenever appropriate, to offer a scrip dividend alternative to the
Shareholders. In deciding whether to propose a dividend and
determining the dividend amount, the Board will consider the
earnings performance, financial and liquidity position, investment
requirements and future prospects of the Group, and any other factors
that the Board may deem appropriate.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors is
currently in force and was in force throughout the Year. The
Company has arranged insurance coverage in respect of legal action
against its Directors and officers.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or
the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float of its Shares as required under the
Listing Rules throughout the Year and as at the date of this report.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted at the Annual General Meeting to
re-appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Cheung Hon Kit
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26th June, 2019
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company is committed to maintaining high standard of corporate
governance practices and procedures and complying with the
statutory and regulatory requirements with an aim to maximising the
values and interests of the Shareholders as well as enhancing the
transparency and accountability to the stakeholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Company has adopted the code provisions of the CG Code as its
own code of corporate governance. Throughout the Year, the
Company has complied with all the code provisions of the CG Code
and applied the principles contained therein.

CORPORATE STRATEGY AND LONG-TERM BUSINESS MODEL
The corporate objective of the Group is to create and enhance value
for the Shareholders. To achieve this corporate objective, our
business strategies are to maintain continuous growth and profitability
by acquiring property sites with good locations at relatively low costs
for redevelopment, while sale of property upon completion of
development is the primary profit driver. The Group will also build a
property investment portfolio with appreciation potential in order to
secure a recurring and reliable source of income. Other businesses,
including the securities investments and the provision of loan
financing services, are part of the Group's treasury management for
utilising surplus cash, and supplement to the Group’s core businesses
of property development and investment.

Forming joint ventures with partners having similar investment
philosophy is a preferred mode of holding structure for the Group’s
investment. It can on the one hand diversify the risks and on the other
hand share the expertise of the partners.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of
conduct for Directors in their dealings in the securities of the
Company. In response to specific enquiries made by the Company,
all the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code throughout the Year. The
Company has also adopted the Model Code to regulate the dealings
in the securities of the Company by its employees and directors of the
subsidiaries who are likely to possess inside information relating to
the Company or its securities.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Members of the Board are individually and collectively responsible
for leadership and control, and for promoting the success, of the
Company by operating and developing the Group’s business
operations and implementing the Group’s business strategies. The
Board has eight members, consisting of five executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors. Further details of the
composition of the Board are set out on page 2 of this annual report.
Each of the Directors has signed a formal letter of appointment setting
out the key terms and conditions of his appointment. A list containing
the names of all the Directors and their role and function is available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company, and will be
updated from time to time as and when there are any changes.

The Company has always maintained a sufficient number of
independent non-executive Directors representing more than one-
third of the Board as required under the Listing Rules. With three
independent non-executive Directors possessing professional
expertise and a diverse range of experience, the Board can effectively
and efficiently exercise independent judgment, give independent
advice to the management of the Company and make decisions
objectively to the benefits and in the interests of the Company and
the Shareholders as a whole. The biographical details of the Directors
are set out on pages 19 to 22 of this annual report. There is no
financial, business, family or other material relationship among the
members of the Board.

The Board has delegated the executive Board or other committees
with authority and responsibility for handling the management
functions and operations of the day-to-day business of the Group
while specifically reserving important matters and decisions for the
Board’s approval, such as annual and interim financial reporting and
control, equity fund-raising, declaration of interim dividend,
recommendation of final dividend or other distributions, decisions
regarding notifiable transactions and connected transactions under
Chapter 14 and Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules respectively and
making recommendation for capital reorganisation or scheme of
arrangement of the Company. The Company has established the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee, the Corporate Governance Committee and the
Investment Committee with specific written terms of reference which
clearly define their respective roles, authorities and functions. The
members of the said committees have full access to board minutes,
records and materials as well as the personnel of the Company which
enable them to fulfil their responsibilities. Further information on
each of the committees is set out below in this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TREDMESE

Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year with at Z2FREEHFHRILEPTNATHER  2EES
least 14 days’ prior notice being given to all the Directors. Additional R EZRITRIZ D14 REERBE - INEFF
Board meeting will be arranged and held as and when required. The £ EE@EREEFELHERBITEINEG
Directors may attend the Board meetings either in person or through % - EEA SR UNEFBAHNRALFEETS
electronic means of communication. During the Year, a total of five &% - RAFERN  EFSSHABTHAER
Board meetings (including four regular meetings) were held and (BfEMATHSE) M EAEATE &
written resolutions of Directors were circulated and passed for FEZHENRZER NS EHEITESRB o 1IN
approving significant matters. Also, resolutions were passed by RAFERNE THITESURBRFAFIE
certain executive Directors during the Year for normal course of BEEEEN HIERZ B HEBREK -
business and matters under authorisation and/or delegation by the

Board.

The Directors are provided with all relevant information in advance — FEEEIRZATZE—VIABER - LMEELZIE
to enable them to make informed decisions, and appropriate JRE © ZIMEHBEE LY BRESAHKE R
arrangements are in place to ensure that they are given an FTHEESSEZRPINAETIE  28EE)
opportunity to include matters in the agendas for the regular Board AIZEEARESAEESEEEAS RERR
meetings. All Directors have separate and independent access to the 27 Z R LR UWHBREBLEFAEETSR
advice and services of the Group’s senior management and  [FUAKRFTE@EAAN - REIREH - EEE T
consultants with a view to ensuring that the Board procedures and all  F([E£/F ) REMESIRF 2B TRIEF
applicable laws, rules and regulations are observed and complied EE 7 IFHITEESE X -

with. The chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) meets at least

annually with the independent non-executive Directors without the

presence of other Directors.

A tentative schedule for regular board meetings, committee meetings R EEAFERIAR] © FTEEEHERHZIE
and annual general meeting of each financial year is made available FEZEESTHESHE ZESSHELBREAF
to all Directors prior to the beginning of the year. The attendance K& 2 XK - TRULB TR E
record of each Board member, on a named basis, at the said meetings E&K 8 HFRAFERETZ Al e:E 2 H
held during the Year are as follows: FEaodk

Number of Meetings Attended/Eligible to Attend
BHESE SERHEEER LR

Corporate  Annual

Governance  General
Audit Remuneration Nomination Committee  Meeting
Board Committee  Committee Committee  TEEA

Name of Director EEZe ENRZEE FMEEE REZEE® ZEE

Executive Directors: HITEE:

Mr. HK Cheung REREE 4/5% - - 1" 1% 11
Mr. FY Chan BRI E 5/5 - 212 - - 0/1
Mr. CK Cheung REGTE 5/5 - - - il 11
Mr. Alan Chan Bt 4/5 - - - - 0/1
Mr. Benny Wong AERIBLE 5/5 - - - - 1
Independent Non-executive Directors: BV HEHTEE .

Mr. Abraham Shek AEREE 4/5 4/4 12 1/1# - n
Mr. Alva Kwok BEILE 5/5 4/4 2/2 11 17 171
Mr. Afonso Chan BEHLE 5/5 4/4% 2024 17 - 171

# Chairman of the Board/Committee £5 &,/ ZB &> T &
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Directors disclose to the Company periodically their directorships
and offices held in other organisations as well as other significant
commitments, and also their time commitments to the Company.
Adopting the recommended best practice set out in the CG Code, the
Board has reviewed the performance of the Directors and their
contributions to the Company, and is satisfied that the Directors have
firm commitments to the Company. Also, the Board is of the view
that the Directors have positive contributions to the Board through
participating in the Company’s affairs and the Board’s discussion and
decisions, as reflected in their high attendance on the meetings of the
Board and committees as well as the annual general meeting held
during the Year.

The Company has arranged insurance coverage in respect of legal
action against the Directors and officers arising out of their duties.
Such insurance coverage will be reviewed periodically to ensure the
adequacy of its coverage.

Chairman and Managing Director

The roles of the Chairman and the Managing Director, held by
Mr. HK Cheung and Mr. FY Chan respectively, are clearly segregated
with an aim to providing a clear division of authorities and
responsibilities. The Chairman is principally responsible for the
strategic planning of the Group and the management of the
operations of the Board. The Managing Director is mainly responsible
for the operations and business development of the Group.

Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to the Bye-laws and the CG Code, every Director is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at least once every three
years. All the non-executive Directors are subject to the aforesaid
retirement requirements and are appointed for a specific term of not
more than three years.

The Board has three independent non-executive Directors, at least
one of whom has the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise as required
under the Listing Rules. The Board has received from each of the
independent non-executive Directors an annual written confirmation
of his independence pursuant to the Listing Rules and considered that
all the independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Directors’ Training

In order to uphold good corporate governance, every newly
appointed Director will be briefed and receive professional
development to ensure that he has sufficient understanding of the
Group’s businesses and awareness of duties under the Listing Rules
and the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements. Briefings on
specific topics of significance and interests with the relevant reading
materials will also be arranged for the Directors so as to provide the
continuous professional development (the “CPD”) training as required
by the CG Code. In addition, the Company has been encouraging the
Directors to enroll in professional development courses and seminars
relating to the Listing Rules, the Companies Ordinance and corporate
governance practices organised by professional bodies or chambers.

During the Year, the Company has continued to provide the Directors
with materials on updates in rules and regulations, market
developments, and other relevant topics which enhance greater
awareness and understanding of the Group’s businesses and the
compliance with regulatory development.

All Directors have provided their training records confirming that
during the Year, they have participated in the following CPD:
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Type of Training

Name of Director bl E bl
Mr. HK Cheung ROEGREE R
Mr. FY Chan BREB B R
Mr. CK Cheung REGREE A R
Mr. Alan Chan PR MR Bk o A R
Mr. Benny Wong =2ER A R
Mr. Abraham Shek AfeFREL A, R
Mr. Alva Kwok BRIEE R
Mr. Afonso Chan PREFFEE R
A: Attending seminars/conferences
2 g
R: Reading materials on various topics, including corporate governance matters and directors’ duties and responsibilities

BREEMTRIENEN  BRCREATTHRESNREREE
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Nomination, Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Board has delegated its authority to the Nomination Committee
for the nomination and appointment of new Directors and
nomination of the Directors for re-election by the Shareholders at the
annual general meeting. Pursuant to the Bye-laws, the Directors shall
have the power from time to time and at any time to appoint any
person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as
an addition to the existing Board who will be subject to retirement
and re-election at the next following general meeting or the next
following annual general meeting after his/her appointment.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”), which has been reviewed regularly, for ensuring a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the businesses and strategies of the Group and to the
succession planning and development of the Board. Selection of
candidates for appointment to the Board will be based on a range of
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional and industrial
experience, business perspectives, skills, knowledge and length of
service. All Board appointments will be based on merit and
contribution on an equal-opportunity principle, and selected
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board as well as the needs
of the Board without focusing on a single diversity aspect. A
candidate to be appointed as an independent non-executive Director
must satisfy the independence criteria set out in the Listing Rules.
During the Year, no Director was involved in fixing his own terms of
re-appointment and no independent non-executive Director
participated in assessing his own independence.

Every Director, including those appointed for a specific term, shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years at the
annual general meeting. Also, pursuant to the Bye-laws, not less than
one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by
rotation at each annual general meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Nomination Committee with specific
written terms of reference which clearly define its role, authority and
function. The Nomination Committee comprises four members,
namely Mr. Abraham Shek (committee chairman), Mr. HK Cheung,
Mr. Alva Kwok and Mr. Afonso Chan. Except Mr. HK Cheung who is
an executive Director, all the other members are independent non-
executive Directors.

The main responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include
making recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to
the appointment or re-appointment of the Directors and succession
planning for the Directors; assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors; reviewing the structure, size
and composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience and
diversity of perspectives) of the Board at least annually and making
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy; reviewing the
nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”), as appropriate, to
ensure its effectiveness and regulatory compliance; making
recommendations to the Board on any proposed changes to the
Board Diversity Policy and the progress on achieving the measurable
objectives, if any, that the Board has set for implementing such
policy. During the Year, the terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee have been revised to formalise the responsibility of the
Nomination Committee on reviewing the Nomination Policy, and the
updated terms of reference are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. For effective functioning in the course
of the Director’s nomination process, the Board has also adopted the
procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director in accordance with the Bye-laws, the Nomination Policy
and the Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee has been
provided with sufficient resources to perform its duties.

During the Year, the Nomination Policy has been revised to formalise
the existing selection criteria for appointing new Directors and the
existing Director’s nomination procedures. Under the revised
Nomination Policy, the Nomination Committee shall apply the
following selection criteria after identifying and shortlisting the
suitable candidates for appointment of Director:

(i)  the attributes to complement the Company’s corporate
strategies;

(i) the business experience and board expertise and skills;
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(iii) the time commitment and attention in the businesses of the
Group;

(iv)  the integrity, personal ethics, honesty and good reputation;

(v)  in case of appointment of independent non-executive Director,
the compliance with the independence requirements under the
Listing Rules; and

(vi) the benefits towards a diversified Board with regards to the
Board Diversity Policy.

The recommendation of the Nomination Committee on appointment
of a new Director shall then be put to the Board for consideration
and approval.

In case of re-election of a Director, the Nomination Committee shall
also apply the selection criteria to assess the retiring Director and
make recommendation to the Board. A circular containing the
requisite information on the retiring Director shall be sent to the
Shareholders. If a retiring independent non-executive Director (i) has
served on the Board for more than nine years or (ii) has held
directorship in six or more other listed companies, the Board shall
explain in the circular the reasons why (i) he is still believed as
independent and should be re-elected or (ii) he is able to devote
sufficient time to the Board, respectively.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held a meeting. The
work performed by the Nomination Committee during the Year
included the following:

(i) reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board;

(i) assessed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors;

(iii) nominated the retiring Directors for re-appointment at the
annual general meeting; and

(iv) reviewed the amendments to the terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee, the Nomination Policy and the Board
Diversity Policy.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Corporate Governance Committee
with specific written terms of reference which clearly define its role,
authority and function. The Corporate Governance Committee
comprises three members, two of whom are executive Directors,
namely Mr. HK Cheung (committee chairman) and Mr. CK Cheung,
and one independent non-executive Director, namely Mr. Alva
Kwok. The Board has also adopted the corporate governance policy
and the code of conduct for internal guidance purpose.

The Board has delegated its corporate governance functions set out in
the code provision of the CG Code to the Corporate Governance
Committee. The principal duties of the Corporate Governance
Committee include making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance; and
reviewing and monitoring (i) the training and CPD of the Directors
and the senior management of the Company, (ii) the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with the legal and regulatory
requirements, (iii) the code of conduct and compliance manual (if
any) applicable to the Company’s employees and the Directors, and
(iv) the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report. The Corporate Governance
Committee has been provided with sufficient resources to perform its
duties.

During the Year, the Corporate Governance Committee held a
meeting. The work performed by the Corporate Governance
Committee during the Year included the following:

(i)  reviewed the proposed amendments to the terms of reference
of the Corporate Governance Committee, the corporate
governance policy, the Shareholders’ communication policy
and the code of conduct of the Company and various
procedures for corporate governance matters;

(i) endorsed the Company’s practices and procedures on corporate
governance and the compliance with the CG Code;

(iii)  endorsed the Corporate Governance Report; and

(iv) reviewed the training and CPD of the Directors.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Remuneration Committee with specific
written terms of reference which clearly define its role, authority and
function. The Remuneration Committee comprises four members,
namely Mr. Afonso Chan (committee chairman), Mr. FY Chan,
Mr. Abraham Shek and Mr. Alva Kwok. Except Mr. FY Chan who is
an executive Director, all the other members are independent non-
executive Directors.

The main responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include
(i) making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
remuneration policy and structure for all the Directors and senior
management of the Company and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy as
well as (i) determining the remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and senior management of the Company.

During the Year, the terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee have been revised to include some housekeeping
amendments, and the revised version is available on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Remuneration Committee
has been provided with sufficient resources to perform its duties.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings.
The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the Year
included the following:

(i) endorsed the grant of share options of the Company to the
eligible persons, including all Directors and the senior
executives of the Group;

(i) endorsed the proposed amendments to the terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee and the remuneration policy
for the Directors and employees of the Group; and

(iii) reviewed and approved the discretionary bonus to the
executive Directors and certain members of the management of
the Group for the Year.

Details of the remuneration packages of the Directors are set out in
Note 12(a) to the consolidated financial statements. During the Year,
no Director or any of his associates was involved in deciding the
remuneration package of the Director concerned and the grant of
share options to him. Also, no new service contract of any executive
Directors or senior management of the Company is required to be
approved by the Remuneration Committee during the Year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Audit Committee with specific written
terms of reference which clearly define its role, authority and
function. The Audit Committee comprises three members, all being
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Afonso Chan
(committee chairman), Mr. Abraham Shek and Mr. Alva Kwok.
Mr. Afonso Chan is a qualified accountant with extensive experience
in financial reporting and controls as required by the Listing Rules.
The Board has at all times complied with the requirements of the
Listing Rules for having a minimum of three non-executive Directors
with at least one of them being an independent non-executive
Director with appropriate professional qualifications in the Audit
Committee.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the
Group’s interim and annual results prior to recommending them to
the Board for its approval; making recommendation on the
appointment of external auditor and acting as the key representative
body for overseeing the Company’s relations with its external auditor;
and reviewing the Group’s financial information and financial
reporting system. The Audit Committee is also responsible for
reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems, and the effectiveness of
the internal audit function of the Company. During the Year, the
terms of reference of the Audit Committee have been revised mainly
to reflect certain new amendments to the Listing Rules. The updated
terms of reference are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. The Board has also adopted the risk
management and internal control policy and the whistle-blowing
policy, and has delegated the Audit Committee with the responsibility
for reviewing such policies and related arrangements. The Audit
Committee has been provided with sufficient resources to perform its
duties.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held four meetings. The work
performed by the Audit Committee during the Year included the
following:

(i) endorsed the following matters for the Board’s approval:

(@)  the draft audited consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31st March, 2018 and the draft unaudited
consolidated interim financial statements for the six
months ended 30th September, 2018;

(b) the re-appointment of the external auditor for the
Shareholders” approval at the annual general meeting and
the fees charged by the external auditor;
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(c) the risk management framework and internal control
practices;

(d) the internal audit checklist and timetable of the Company;

(e) the proposed amendments to the terms of reference of the
Audit Committee and the risk management and internal
control policy; and

(f)  the new whistle-blowing policy for replacing the
procedures for the employees of the Group to raise
concerns about possible improprieties in financial
reporting, internal controls or other matters; and

(ii)  held discussions and reviewed with the management and the
external auditor of the Company on the changes in accounting
standards and requirements which might affect the Group.

The Board and the members of the Audit Committee did not have
any differences in opinion during the Year.

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Investment Committee, which
comprises two members and both of them shall be executive
Directors. Specific written terms of reference were adopted to clearly
define its role, authority and function.

The main responsibilities of the Investment Committee include
(i) making recommendations to the Board on strategies and risk
control policies for the Group’s investments and reviewing the
efficiency and effectiveness of their implementation; and relevant
matters relating to acquisitions and disposals of, investments in assets,
companies, businesses or projects, and their funding requirements, (ii)
conducting necessary research and gathering necessary information
before making any investment decisions, (iii) reviewing financial
performance of the investment portfolio of the Group, (iv) reviewing
the appropriateness of the investment portfolio and making
recommendations to the Board on treasury management and
investment of surplus funds, and (v) reviewing the investment policy
to ensure its effectiveness and making recommendations to the Board
on any proposed changes. The Investment Committee has been
provided with sufficient resources to perform its duties.

During the Year, the Investment Committee reviewed the proposed
amendments to its own terms of reference and the investment policy.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) is
responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are followed and
Board activities are effectively and efficiently conducted, and the
Company complies with the obligations of the Listing Rules and all
other relevant rules and regulations, including but not limited to the
preparation, publication and despatch of the Company’s annual and
interim reports within the prescribed time limit as required by the
Listing Rules and arrangement of Directors’ CPD training as required
by the CG Code.

In addition, the Company Secretary advises the Directors on their
obligations for the disclosure of interests and dealings in the
Company’s securities, connected transactions and inside information,
and ensures that the standards and disclosures as required by the
Listing Rules and all other relevant rules and regulations are fulfilled
and, if required, shall be reflected in the annual and/or interim reports
of the Company.

The Company Secretary is an employee of the Group. She confirmed
that she has complied with all the qualifications, experience and
training requirements as required by the Listing Rules.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements for each financial period to give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash
flows of the Group for that period. The Group has maintained a team
of qualified accountants to oversee its financial reporting and other
accounting-related issues in accordance with the relevant laws, rules
and regulations.

In preparing the financial statements for the Year, the Directors have
selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently,
made judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable
and prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis. The
Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to any events
or conditions that may cause significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The statement of the external
auditor of the Company regarding its reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements of the Group is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report.

The management of the Company has been providing all members
of the Board with monthly updates giving a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company’s performance, position
and prospects in sufficient detail to enable the Board as a whole and
each Director to discharge their duties under Rule 3.08 and Chapter
13 of the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The total remuneration paid or payable to the external auditor of the
Company, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, for the Year amounted to
HK$6,480,000, of which HK$5,277,000 was for audit services and
HK$1,203,000 for non-audit services, including review of interim
results and tax related service.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining a sound and
effective system of risk management and internal control for
reviewing its effectiveness, particularly in respect of the key controls
on finance, operations and compliance through risk management
assessment, to integrate into the Group’s business strategies and
business operations.

The Board oversees the Group's risk management process which
comprises of the identification and assessment of the key risks
exposure of the Group based on their estimated impact and
likelihood of occurrence and formulation of corresponding mitigating
measures by management. The Group’s identified risks and
associated mitigating measures are recorded in a risk register and are
reviewed at least annually in light of internal and external changes.
An open and interactive communication channel is maintained to
enable timely reporting and ongoing supervision of the identified
risks within the Group.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems include a
well-established organisation structure, comprehensive policies and
standards, periodic reviews on the implementation of the internal
control systems in respect of operation, financial function and
compliance of all the businesses of the Group, including the newly
acquired investments, in order to manage the Group’s identified risks
effectively. The risk management and internal control policy of the
Group has been developed with a primary objective of providing
general guidance and recommendations on a basic framework of risk
management and internal control and for achievements of the
Group’s objectives.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company has also established and maintained appropriate and
effective systems and procedures for the handling and dissemination
of inside information. The Board has adopted the policy on disclosure
of inside information, pursuant to which an internal committee has
been established to review and assess any material information which
requires to be escalated for the attention of the Board and to be
disclosed. Procedures have also been implemented for responding to
external communications so that only designated personnel can
respond to enquiries about the Company’s affairs.

The internal audit function of the Group is an independent function
that reports directly to the Audit Committee. The internal audit team
from time to time reviews the Group’s business operations, risk
management and internal control systems in accordance with the
risk-based internal audit work plan as approved by the Audit
Committee. Internal audit checklists and reports are also prepared
periodically for the Audit Committee’s review and the Board’s
consideration and approval.

The Board is responsible for the design, implementation and
monitoring of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems on an ongoing basis and a cyclical review has been
conducted on their effectiveness. Furthermore, the Board has ensured
that adequate resources have been spent on the Company’s
accounting, internal audit and compliance functions which are run
by professional staff with appropriate qualifications, experience and
training.

During the Year, no significant irregularity or deficiency in risk
management and internal control systems was required to draw the
attention of the Audit Committee. The Board, based on the
assessment and confirmation from the management, reviewed the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems and
considered them to be effective and adequate.

/\\//\-/-\—\

_IJ: /D#&EE

ARRRINE FLEZIE N B A AROH B HIE MR
BEEAMNGENEZRF EFSCRANBH
BHBERE - UWRBEZBEKIIANBEZES
NEF L EETARRZRFEFSEEIRTN
BREZEBRERN - ARAFCEBEF R
EA - BERRAEEABSAEEAEBAR
AR °

REE 2 ARPEZBEEEIB L BE  ERAFE
ZEZ B EER - AEHEZESRERR SR

*B%ﬁlfﬁﬂriﬂ(%“%ﬁ?,%/‘ﬁt/ﬁ)TﬁﬂA
MAEEZEBEE - BRERARAREE
EY i W;.B%ﬁ%ﬂ&i&%ﬁmﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂ Wi
ETERZEEEMN RTEFTSEERIY
JfE °

i%@fﬁiﬁﬁ*ﬂﬁﬁ!ﬂiigﬂ BEERA
ARG AT BEERER - WERE
R E H 48 AP IEEMT o AN EEEEWRAR
ARABEEEFSHRMNE)ITEaESH - "
HEZMARBECETIRERTEZER

MRAFEER - Bk EIE MR EERGBEL
RAEANEX T R BARFERLZESE
T RBEEEBZELER  EFENCR
AAEEZEREERRARREEGIE - BB
BBABSEH o

Annual Report & 5§ @ 2018-2019



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board has adopted, and will review from time to time, the
Shareholders’ communication policy which was designed with the
objective of ensuring that the Shareholders are provided with ready,
equal and timely access to balanced and understandable information
about the Company in order to enable them to exercise their rights in
an informed manner.

The Company communicates with the Shareholders through the
publication of annual and interim reports, announcements and
circulars as well as the dissemination of additional information about
the Group’s activities, business strategies and developments.
All such information is available on the Company’s website at
www.itcproperties.com.

The Board strives to maintain an ongoing and transparent
communication with all the Shareholders and, in particular, use
general meetings as a means to communicate with the Shareholders
and encourage their participation.

During the Year, the Chairman and representative from the external
auditor attended the last annual general meeting and were available
to answer questions raised by the Shareholders at the meeting. Notice
of the annual general meeting was sent to the Shareholders as least
20 clear business days before the meeting. At the meeting, a separate
resolution in respect of each substantially separate issue put forward
for consideration was proposed by the chairman of the meeting, and
voting on each resolution was conducted by poll. An explanation of
the detailed procedures of conducting a poll was provided to the
Shareholders at the commencement of the meeting. The results of the
poll were published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The Bye-laws are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

Pursuant to bye-law 88 of the Bye-laws, if a Shareholder wishes to
propose a person other than a retiring Director for election as a
Director at a general meeting, he/she can deposit a written notice at
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong for the
attention of the Board or the Company Secretary or at the branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Secretaries
Limited. The period for lodgment of such notice will commence no
earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting and end no later than seven days prior to the date of such
general meeting. The procedures for a Shareholder to propose a
person for election as a Director at general meeting are set out in the
“Corporate Governance” section of the Company’s website at
www.itcproperties.com.

Convening a Special General Meeting

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, Shareholder(s) holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than 10% of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require a
special general meeting to be called by the Board. The requisition
must state the purpose(s) of the meeting, and must be signed by the
requisitionist(s) and deposited at the registered office of the Company
or its principal place of business in Hong Kong. Such meeting shall
be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting, the
requisitionist(s), or any of them representing more than one-half of
the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a
special general meeting, but any meeting so convened shall not be
held after the expiration of three months from the said date of the
deposit of the requisition. Any reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) by reason of the failure of the Board duly to convene
a special general meeting shall be repaid to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Putting forward Proposals at General Meetings

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (as amended), (i) any number of Shareholders representing
not less than 5% of the total voting rights of all the Shareholders
having at the date of the requisition a right to vote at the general
meeting to which the requisition relates; or (ii) not less than 100
Shareholders, can submit a requisition in writing to the Company:

(@) to give to the Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next
annual general meeting notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that
meeting; and

(b)  to circulate to the Shareholders entitled to have notice of any
general meeting sent to them any statement of not more than
1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that
meeting.

The written requisition must be signed by the requisitionist(s) and
deposited at the registered office of the Company with a sum
reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant expenses and
not less than six weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition
requiring notice of a resolution and not less than one week before the
general meeting in case of any other requisition.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and comments to
the Board by addressing them to the Company Secretary by post to
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong, or by email
to info@itcproperties.com, or by fax at (852) 2858 2697.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THE ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

The Company is delighted to present its annual Environmental, Social
and Governance (“ESG”) Report (the “ESG Report”) which has been
reviewed and approved by the Board.

With its corporate philosophy of “be well-positioned as to location,
timing and strategy to maximise returns for the Company and its
Shareholders” and “be persistent in excellent development design
and execution” as its guiding principles, the Company is embedded
with a strong corporate culture for corporate social responsibilities
that forms an integral part of its business strategies. The Group
endeavours to create a harmonious and sustainable community
through cultivating its responsible corporate citizenship and integrate
ESG concerns into the businesses and operations with an aim of
aligning the interests and benefits of its valuable key stakeholders, the
society at large and the environment as a whole.

REPORTING FRAMEWORK AND SCOPE

This ESG Report was prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide set out in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules, and summarised
the ESG-related policies, initiatives and performances of the Group’s
core operations in the property and hotel businesses over which the
Group had major financial and operational controls as well as with
significant ESG implications to the Group and its stakeholders during
the Year.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT
The Board provides strategic direction to the ESG reporting team on
evaluating ESG related risks and opportunities, sets and reviews
related policies regularly to achieve the Group’s ESG objectives. Key
stakeholders are engaged through on-going and comprehensive
communication channels to understand their concerns and
expectations.
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Stakeholder Engagement 33 #%& 2 E2

“A process of identifying, under-
standing and addressing material
sustainability issues and concerns”
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Key Stakeholders Communication Channels Expectations

IERFHE BERE e

1. Shareholders and * Annual and interim reports ¥R M HiFRE o Financial performance 1 %%
investors of the Company ¢ Announcements and circulars A1 [z 38 (K e Corporate transparency
EREIRRAREE e General meetings IR A& PEFERE

* Meetings and interviews & &% 155 e Sustainable development
* Website #8114 RS R
e Social investment 1 &% &

2. Customers e Daily operations A & &i& * Quality products and services

BE e Events /&%) B & m A AR TS
e Questionnaires f% e Data privacy & FHL B
e Customer service hotline B8 & iR 75 243 * Business integrity and conduct
e Brochures and leaflets /M7 & B3R FBBENTR

3. Employees e Training programs, seminars and briefing e Health and safety 2% &
&S sessions HE3IEHE] - AT SMEHRE e Remuneration and benefits

 New hire orientation ¥ 8 TE G e R

* Regular performance reviews FEHIZREFF o Career development B3 % E
e Memos, notice board, intranet, meetings and ¢ Equal opportunities F 5 #&
discussions 58k ~ &R - AWEEHE - @3 o Corporate culture 21t

QIR
o Company activities 72 7]/&Bf

4. Suppliers and contractors ¢ Quotations and tendering processes e Product quality and safety
HRER N REZR HERKRBE EnEEHLE
o After-sale services &% BR7% e Corporate reputation 152
e Site inspections, meetings and work review e Fair and ethical business practice
BiER - RN TIEDEE NV EBIREFED
e Industrial seminars and workshops ¢ Long-term relationship
TR M IIES RHAIERRE
e Supply chain responsibilities
HERE T
5. Business partners e Mutual development and sharing of resources e Mutual trust and synergies
EBEERHF HEBRRNAKZER HEEENRRERE
e Joint projects & EIE E * Long-term partnership relationship
RHAERHEE

e Return on investment & & [B] 3%
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Key Stakeholders Communication Channels Expectations
FEFOE BERE e
6. Community e Community investment f [& 1% & e Social contribution #t & & &k
HE e Volunteering activities 75 /58)E &) e Environmental responsibilities
RREME
e Community participation
R
7. Regulatory bodies and ¢ Compliance management & #1& 1% e Compliance & #%
government authorities * Consultation 4 e Laws, regulations and practices
EEBBNBTHEE o Meetings 8% ERERER
* Seminars Fiz & * Business ethics BB

During the Year, the Group obtained feedbacks from its key =~ RAFE - REEFER Flg)BBERENEE
stakeholders through the above communication channels and further ZFHEMNER - WE—FTHEZTZHE ST
launched a materiality analysis to identify the material ESG issues. ZERIEERE HBREREEH - HERNTX

The results were summarised in the following table: Rt
Subject Areas ESG Aspects Material ESG lIssues
TEHRE RS HEREREE EERR HERERSBE
A. Environmental  A1. Emissions BEX ¥ * Air Emissions [ REEH
BIR * Waste Management £ %) & I%

e Greenhouse Gas Emissions & = SEE HE

A2. Use of Resources & 7 i A e Energy Consumption FE#E S
» Water Consumption 7K &

A3. The Environment and Natural Resources ¢ Emissions, Waste, Energy, Water and Materials
BRERXRER B - BEY) - BEE - KRR
e Indoor Air Quality ERNZERE 2
e Lighting fF8#A
* Noise Management 1% & &1
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Subject Areas ESG Aspects Material ESG lIssues
FEHR RS HEREREE EERR HEREREE
B. Social Employment and Labour Practices
e BRERETIEHR
B1. Employment {E{& e Employment Practices and Relations
REERMEE
B2. Health and Safety @ REEHZ 2 » Workplace Health and Safety
TERRREEZ 2

B3. Development and Training ZRE & 3Z5| e Talent Development A7 & &
B4. Labour Standards % T 28 e No Child and Forced Labour
Pri-E T aghlss T

Operating Practices & 2Z 184
B5. Supply Chain Management fESEEIE o Fair and Green Procurement Practices
NP MEEEREER

B6. Product Responsibility &R E 1 e Products and Services Standards Z i 1R %5
R
o Customer Services % AR 75
e Data Privacy and Information Security
BRALBMEERLZSR
e Fair Marketing A F & #H
e Protection of Intellectual Property Rights

RS R EE R

B7. Anti-corruption X &35 e Anti-bribery and Anti-corruption
REEEEMRES

Community # B
B8. Community Investment ¥t B#& &

Corporate Citizenship TS AR
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RIE -

ENVIRONMENTAL
With a view to undertaking environmental protection as part of
the Group’s corporate responsibilities and achieving sustainable

development, the Group has implemented a number of green

management measures and initiatives in order to deliver its

long-standing commitment to the environmental protection
according to its environmental policies.

Al.

Emissions

The Group strives to conduct businesses in a responsible
manner according to its Waste Management Policy and
encourages sound environmental management practices
to reduce the air emissions and greenhouse gases, waste
disposal and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes.

Air Emissions

Although no significant air emissions were generated
directly from the Group’s operations during the Year
since the construction activities of its development
projects have been outsourced, the Group has put
substantial efforts in minimising the negative impacts on
environment:

o Required its contractors to adopt a series of air
emission reduction measures, including but not
limited to requiring the submission of monthly
reports of their green performance

° Used low emitting materials for adhesives, sealants,
paints and coatings in property projects

J Used non-chlorofluorocarbon (CFC) based
refrigerants in the air conditioning systems to avoid
the depletion of the ozone layer

J Deployed hydro-vent system to effectively filter oil
and odour from the exhaust of kitchens operating in
the hotels

A.

Annual Report & 5§ @ 2018-2019
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Waste Management
The Group upholds its Waste Management Policy in

i

applying the “4Rs” (i.e. “reduce”, “reuse”, “recycle” and
“replace”) waste management principles on the proper

handling and disposal of all wastes generated.

Reduce

B

Recycle
TEREH

¥

Businesses X%

Although the construction wastes were not directly
generated by the Group during the Year, the Group has
shouldered its responsibility by monitoring waste
management practices of its contractors:

J Required the contractors to develop and implement
construction waste management plans for proper
handling and disposal of wastes

o Encouraged the contractors to recycle or salvage
non-hazardous construction and demolition debris.
In particular, recycling bins, paper recycling boxes
and steel scraps recycling area have been designated
to facilitate better waste management

J Provided guidance on waste handling and reduction
to site workers

J Requested staff to enhance the accuracy of materials
budgeting to avoid wastage

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE - B REARES

BEYEE
AEEETHEMERRRN R
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The Group has also implemented various waste handling
and reduction measures across its operations:

J Established a waste classification system in its
offices for recycling and reuse to alleviate burden
on landfills. The general non-hazardous wastes,
such as kitchen wastes, bottles, paper, etc. are
properly handled in an environmentally responsible
manner on a regular basis

o Adopted recycling practices in its operations,
including collection and recycling of used kitchen
oil and plastic bottles from its hotel operations and
procurement of environment-friendly consumables
with minimal packaging

J Encouraged electronic means of communication
instead of paper form and printed in double-side if
inevitable for reducing paper usage

J Reused used paper with no confidential information
as well as sent shredded paper for recycling

J Preferred paper supply that was Forest Stewardship
Council (FSC) certified

During the Year, paper consumption for work-related
purposes was the major type of waste generated from the
Group’s direct-managed activities, amounting to 11.437
tonnes' (2018: 14.723 tonnes). The reduction was
resulted from streamlining of paper reports to reduce
printouts and decrease in staff headcounts during the
Year. In addition, majority of work-related waste was
recycled, which demonstrated the Group’s efforts in
waste reuse and recycling. There were no significant
hazardous wastes produced directly from the operations
of the Group.

g RERREE
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1 The purchase quantity of the above item during the Year was considered as the amount disposed by the Group. <& B8 _F3ift1E B 7
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s

A2,

- HERERRESE

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Group’s major sources of the carbon emissions were
from the consumption of electricity and water and the
disposal of wastes. During the Year, there were 3,717.06
tonnes of the carbon dioxide equivalent (CO,e)?
generated from its direct operations (2018: 3,897.66
tonnes), with an intensity of 0.0142 kg CO,e (2018:
0.0158 kg CO,e) per Hong Kong dollar of revenue. Such
decrease was due to relocation of some departments to
reduce occupied space and decrease in staff headcounts

B ERBEEN
REBERERNEZRFREHESR
FEKMBEMRE - RAFE - HE
BEREREAN _SIREE(Z
SimEE)? A3,717.06(=F
— )\ :3,897.66W)  F&TW
HBFE A0.0142 T 52 — AL it
EE2(ZE—A\F:00158Fx=
QUEmREE) - WERPRAABNRAK
IR FRPIHRE LAUR MG b

during the Year. METABTRE -

Use of Resources A2. BREH

Aiming at achieving operational optimisation and REBEHITHRREE  BHOR
enhancing the ESG performance, the Group has X e B EEBRMRE T+ S
implemented its Environmental Policy to endeavour its NREREEEMBRE(HRRA
efforts in lowering energy and water consumption (its two FEMAETEER) EAEBHE
major types of resources during the Year) throughout life- BEERIEFRE HEREA
cycle and carbon footprints in its business operations. I8

2 Carbon emissions were calculated with reference to the Greenhouse Gas Protocol using carbon conversion factors published by the

Environmental Protection Department and electricity providers. B E T2 ERIFRES ME N HIERE AW 2 IR EE - RIR

REREIZTENRETE -
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Energy Consumption

The Group’s main types of energy consumption and its
corresponding reduction measures were summarised in
the following table:

RIE - B8 RERARES

FEGEE
TREAAEE 2 T 2FEENE
FER A FE i -

Hotel operations Offices
BEEEE PAE
Intensity Intensity

(by room (by gross
night) floor area)
BE Amount’ BE

Property projects
NHER

Intensity
For the year ended (by gross
31st March floor area)
HZ=A=t—-H Unit Amount® BE
IR Efy gE (RERE@ER)
2019 “F—NF
Electricity %77 kWh TH B 229,877 543.82

(BE®) HE (REREER)

27.83 320,862 115.29

Towngas 5. Unit B4z
Diesel 4 L AF 45,000 106.46

Petrol }5H

2018 —E—N\F

Electricity &7 kWh FRLE 3,584 6.38

Towngas & Unit B4z
Diesel 5 L AT 39,569 70.4

Petrol /7

The increment of energy consumption for property
projects was resulted from the construction work
conducted for the redevelopment project at Hai Tan
Street. Nevertheless, there was a reduction in energy
consumption by hotels and offices, due to multiple energy
saving measures taken by hotels, relocation of some
departments to centralise the use of resources and
decrease in staff headcounts.

YA B MR R NREREE
HERBEBETEETFE - Rl
BEEENMRAEREER A H
RBEBRZIAGA EREE - &8
DEFIMBNETEREANRET
AETE

3 The amounts represented the energy directly consumed and controlled by the Group, as well as those used and reported by its

contractors during the Year. Bl2 R RAE BN AFE HHEBFEFIZGINER - UREFEFHDERFNRENER -
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RIE - g MERARES

The Group has implemented a series of reduction
measures in its offices, property projects and hotel
operations to save its energy consumption as follows:

J Implemented building management system (BMS)
and installed devices for monitoring energy
consumption

J Used high energy efficiency fans, pumps and chiller
with auto sequencing programme for machineries

. Used chiller heat recovery for hot water supply

J Regularly reported energy consumption and
resources usage

J Procured energy saving electrical appliances,
including those being accredited with Energy Star
or The Electronic Product Environmental
Assessment Tool (EPEAT)

J Implemented key card system to save energy when
the hotel room is empty

J Hotels participated in the “Energy Saving Charter
2018” and “4Ts Charter” schemes which were
launched by the Environment Bureau and the
Electrical and Mechanical Services Department

In addition, the Group has promoted environmental
protection among its employees through a diverse set of
energy saving programs as follows:

e Turned off electrical appliances and lights during
lunch hours and for office spaces not in use

J Installed light emitting diode (LED) lighting in office
areas and business areas

J Used low-emissivity window film and controlled
temperature setting for air conditioners with regular
cleaning and maintenance

e Switched off office equipment and electrical
appliances to energy-saving mode when not in use

J Used green signage and energy saving tips to
promote best practices and increase staff awareness

J Adopted duplex printing and copying, recycled
used paper and scrapped paper for notepads

¢ Conducted telephone conferencing meetings
instead of face-to-face meetings for counterparties
in different locations
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RET M [EHaEHE2018]
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Water Consumption

During the Year, the total amount of water consumed by
the Group was 55,132 m? (2018: 51,179 m?3), with
detailed consumption and intensity summarised in the
following table:

Property Projects
MEEE
Intensity
For the year ended (by gross
31st March floor area)
BZ=RA=1-H Amount? BRE
LEE H$E (REEE®)
2019 ZF— N5 m? 5K 3,452 8.1664
2018 ZF—\F  mUAK 2,722 4.8429

The increase in water consumption for property projects
and hotel operations was resulted from the construction
work conducted for the redevelopment project at Hai Tan
Street, and increase in occupancy in Rosedale Hotel
Kowloon and Le Petit Rosedale Hotel Hong Kong during
the Year. Again, reduction in water consumption by
offices was due to relocation of some departments and
decrease in staff headcounts during the Year.

In order to consume water responsibly throughout its
operations, the Group has formulated the following water
conservation initiatives across its offices, property projects
and hotel operations:

. Installed water efficient and/or low-flow water
fixtures including faucet and showerhead

e Reused water to maximise utilisation

o Reduced irrigation by growing plants which were
suitable for the climate of Hong Kong

J Regularly reported water consumption and saving
measures

J Promoted water saving awareness and best
practices through provision of regular training and
use of signage

RIR

Hotel Operations

BEEE

Amount*

BE!

51,217

47,816

HEREA RS B

FEokE
RAFE  AEENBEKES
55,1323 77 K(ZZ—)\4F : 51,179

K TRFAMAGAEENZ
=3
(0]1{1¢:
WAE
Intensity Intensity
(by room (by gross
night) floor area)
BE Amount* BE
(ZRE®) HE' (REREER)
0.2820 463 0.1693
0.2724 641 0.2097
7§A$¢F M ERIR R

TRETENNERBEEMNES
fEI%EﬁS:?@EE’\J)\E/\%UE !
BYEIE B RS & BN FEKEM
I o WAEFEKERDBIFNR
EARAFEISHIFIMBERET
ANEURFE o

AEERFEREXGEETHEAR
EHRK - BHIE A T E# RKEE

M WRERARENAE YWHEIEE

B G 275

° #ikpi\/jﬁﬁ7k&/_§,ﬂilllb£
RIRRHE - B IEKEEE MM
TEESR

o &AM B ERK

s BHEAESBEBRENEDIA
LA ERR

o TEHIREFKEMELIEIE

o FEBFIIEFFUIREREL
RKNE#MEEERETR

The amounts represented the water consumed and controlled by the Group in its offices, property projects and hotel operations, as well as

those used and reported by its contractors during the Year. BIERRAEEMNAFEAENAE  WHEIEE KBS & EFFTEREFZEHIH A

KE - URHEFREHEEARRENFKE -
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A3.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group aims to constantly improving operational
efficiencies and reducing adverse operational impacts on
the environment through its Environment and Natural
Resources Policy with various initiatives, including
introduction of eco-friendly low-carbon measures to
minimise wastage as well as promotion of resource-
efficient and environmentally-responsible green building
design.

Regular evaluation has been conducted to identify
potential environmental risks and timely mitigating
actions are implemented. During the Year, the Group has
dedicated its efforts in improving the following
environmental issues:

Emissions, Waste, Energy, Water and Materials

The Group is aware that construction work has a huge
impact on the environment and natural resources. As
such, it has taken initiatives in joining the Leadership in
Energy and Environmental Design (“LEED”) programme,
the world’s leading green building standard, which
addresses the whole life cycle of the property, lowers its
operating costs, increases its value and conserves energy
and natural resources. One of the Group’s hotels,
Rosedale Hotel Kowloon, has attained the LEED GOLD
standard while another hotel Le Petit Rosedale Hotel
Hong Kong is currently in the certification process for the
same standard.

Indoor Air Quality
The Group has recognised the importance of indoor air
quality to human health:

J Used ventilating systems with ventilation rate which
was 30% higher than the standard set by American
Society of Heating, Refrigerating and Air-
Conditioning Engineers in the Group’s property
projects

o Committed to use materials with minimal or no
Volatile Organic Compound (VOC) to maintain
high air quality

J Engaged building managers to perform regular
cleaning for dust filters, humidifiers and fans in
office

o Applied photocatalyst and air purifiers to control
airborne allergens, viruses, bacteria and odours

J Prohibited smoking at workplace

A3.
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Lighting

To uphold the slogan of “go green” and minimise light
nuisance and electricity consumption, Rosedale Hotel
Kowloon and Le Petit Rosedale Hotel Hong Kong have
taken initiatives in joining the “Charter on External
Lighting” of the Environment Bureau (“EB”) to voluntarily
switching off all lighting installations of decorative,
promotional or advertising purposes that affect outdoor
environment from 23:00 to 07:00 on the following day
and received “Platinum Award” from the EB as a
recognition. Moreover, individual lighting controls
enabling occupants to adjust the lighting system have also
been installed in the hotels.

Noise Management

Construction activities may generate significant level of
noise and therefore the Group’s contractors have been
required to strictly follow the requirements of relevant
regulations, in particular, the Noise Control Ordinance
(Chapter 400 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

SOCIAL

Being a socially responsible corporate citizen, the Group aims
at building a mutually beneficial relationship with its key
stakeholders.

Employment and Labour Practices

B1.

Employment

Employment Practices and Relations

The Group values high-quality talent as an important
asset, a comprehensive Employee Handbook has been
developed covering various human resources aspects,
including recruitment, compensation, movement,
working hour, rest period and equal opportunity as a
guiding principle for reinforcing satisfaction, loyalty and
commitment of its employees.
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R e hEnlmses

The following practices have been continuously adopted
by the Group during the Year:

J Offered attractive and competitive remuneration
packages to employees and reviewed at least
annually with reference to individual performance,
contribution, development and inflation

J Regularly reviewed annual leave policy and revised
the annual leave policy with a general uplift and
progressive increase with reference to the number
of years of employment

J Reviewed the maternity leave policy and extended
the maternity leave from 10 weeks to 14 weeks
voluntarily

e Offered other fringe benefits to staff, including
preventive check-up scheme, comprehensive
medical and life insurance coverage and retirement
fund contribution

J Granted share options as a motivation to employees
by building direct correlation between their rewards
and the Group’s performance

. Organised annual dinner, festive luncheons and
employee birthday parties

J Presented long services awards as a token to
appreciate dedication and contribution to the loyal
staff members serving the Group

J Provided seasonal presents to staff members on
special days, such as Chinese New Year and Mid-
Autumn Festival

o Closed office early on festive occasions

The Group is an equal opportunity employer and
explicitly against any kind of discrimination on age,
gender, marital status, race, nationality, religion, disability
and family status.

The Group has encouraged its staff to maintain a well-
balanced life and supports its staff to actively pursue their
personal development by participating in different roles
and activities in the community. Moreover, the Group has
devoted to strengthen a sense of belonging of its staff by
demonstrating care and support in all aspects.
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As at 31st March, 2019, the total number of employees of
the Group was 318 (2018: 329). During the Year, total
employee turnover rate remained stable at 31% (2018:
32%). Majority of the resigned employees worked for the
Group’s hotel business where relatively high turnover rate
is the industrial norm.
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B2.

Health and Safety

Workplace Health and Safety

The Group promotes a high degree of awareness and
accountability of health and safety at work through its
Health and Safety Policy, which consists of regular
trainings, standard codes of practices and various health
and safety measures so as to promote an injury-free
culture.

The Group is committed to providing and maintaining a
healthy and safe workplace for its staff and other persons
likely to be affected by its business activities and
operations:

J Offered adjustable sit-stand converters that allow
the staff to work in flexible position, with reference
to medical advice

e  Carried out periodic air-conditioning systems
cleaning, floor care maintenance, pest control and
carpet disinfection treatment to ensure a hygienic
working environment

J Participated in the annual fire and evacuation drill
organised by the respective building managers to
familiarise with the fire evacuation route and
strengthen awareness of fire precaution

e Organised emergency drill in the hotels to facilitate
the coordination, communication and evacuation
processes between departments

J Conducted regular inspections of the facilities and
safety measures at its workplace

J Provided additional and special safety work
guidelines and equipment for the site workers

J Rosedale Hotel Kowloon participated in “Project
VanGUARD” which was jointly organised by
Kowloon West Region Police and Hong Kong
Hotels Association to ensure the safety and security
of the guests

B2.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Development and Training

Talent Development

Employee development is an important human capital
investment. The Group has established its Development
and Training Policy to reinforce its manpower and
develop its human capital by providing a wide spectrum
of in-house and external training and development
courses, seminars, workshops and conferences to equip
its staff members with knowledge, skills and experience
in performing their job duties effectively and efficiently.

Corporate orientation programs and briefings have been
introduced to new staff to help them in familiarising with
the corporate culture and practices. Continuous
professional development training programs and briefings
have also been provided to the Directors and senior
management of the Group.

Labour Standards

No Child and Forced Labour

The Group respects human rights and strictly prohibits
child and forced labour by having effective controls in its
recruitment process. A No Child and Forced Labour
Policy has been established to ensure that no abuse,
physical punishment and assignment of tasks with
extremely high risks of all kinds are allowed in its
workplace and business operations.

Operating Practices

B5.

Supply Chain Management

Fair and Green Procurement Practices

In accordance with its Supply Chain Management Policy,
the Group continues to work closely with its supply chain
partners in order to facilitate its effective governance of
supply chain practices as well as execute green
procurement for maintaining a high quality for its
property projects and customer services, and enhance
responsibilities with its supply chain management system.

The Group has diversified its procurement through
different suppliers and has established stringent
procedures for the selection of suppliers with regular
monitoring and review as key assessments of
sustainability performance of its suppliers. It has further
assured that the Group does not engage suppliers and
contractors with known non-compliance with all the
applicable laws and regulations, including child and
forced labour, discrimination, bribery, corruption or other
unethical practices and environmental pollution.
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B6.

Product Responsibility

Products and Services Standards

The Group has established its Products and Services
Responsibility Policy to offer socially responsible products
and services to the public and utmost business ethics
when serving the public through its businesses and
operations.

Customer Services

According to its Customer Services Policy, the Group
strives to enhance customer experience by demonstrating
professionalism, responsiveness and caring for its
customers and stipulates the principle of delivering a high
standard of customer services.

Adhering to its "Consistent, Comfort and Care” motto, the
Group has placed customers satisfaction as priority in its
hotel operations by providing its valuable customers with
thoughtful services experience and embellishing guest
satisfaction through various communication channels and
key service parameters, including but not limited to
providing a free”handy”smartphone during their stay for
unlimited internet access, local calls anywhere and IDD
calls in selected countries in order to create a barrier-free
environment.

Data Privacy and Information Security

In view of high public concern over data privacy
especially in recent years and according to its Data
Privacy Policy, the Group strictly adheres to legal
requirements relating to data privacy protection in order
to fulfill its key stakeholders” expectations on information
security and confidentiality.

The Group has ensured a high standard of security and
confidentiality of personal data throughout its businesses
and operations, requiring its staff to fully comply with the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and similar overseas regulations in
handling information of its Shareholders, business
partners, customers and employees in the collection,
processing, use and keeping of their personal data.
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Fair Marketing

The Group has strictly followed the Residential Properties
(First-hand Sales) Ordinance in Hong Kong and similar
overseas regulations which require provision of true and
accurate information in marketing materials of properties,
including sales brochures and leaflets, price lists, show
flats, promotion advertisements and registers of sales
transactions, etc.

Protection of Intellectual Property Rights

The Group protects its intellectual property rights by
prolonged use and registration of domain names and
trademarks. It has applied and/or registered trademarks in
various classes in Hong Kong, Macau, the PRC and other
relevant jurisdictions. Such domain names and
trademarks have been constantly reviewed and renewed
upon their expiration.

Anti-corruption

Anti-bribery and Anti-corruption

In order to cultivate an ethical corporate culture and
maintain a fair and equitable business environment, the
Group has established its Code of Conduct and Anti-
corruption Policy to emphasise the principles of anti-
bribery and anti-corruption to counter bribery, corruption,
extortion, money-laundering, competitive activities and
other fraudulent activities.

The Group has required its staff to possess high ethical
standard and demonstrate professional conducts in its
businesses and operations. Employees have been
reminded not to have any form of corruption including
but not limited to request or acceptance of benefits of
material value from any parties having business
transactions with the Group. Whistle-blowing mechanism
has been established to guide the employees on reporting
about any suspected impropriety, misconduct or
malpractice.

Community

B8.

Community Investment

Corporate Citizenship

As a long-standing supporter of a number of charity
groups, the Group has established its Community
Investment Policy which sets out its mission of leveraging
its resources to improve the community in which it
operates.
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The Group is strongly committed to serving the
community with love and care through various charitable
services, donations, fundraisings, sponsorships and
volunteering services:

J Participated in Dress Casual Day organised by The
Community Chest

e Actively promoted local sports and sponsored a
table tennis team, namely “ITC Properties”, to
advocate sports to the potential players and the
society at large

J Rosedale Hotel Kowloon cooperated with Hong
Kong Community College of The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in providing a 3-month
internship programme for students of hotel
management

J Rosedale Hotel Kowloon participated as a
supporting organisation for “Work Experience
Movement”, which was organised by the Education
Bureau in providing career exploration
opportunities for the secondary students

GOVERNANCE

Referring to the keystones of its corporate philosophy, the
Group believes that ESG should be embedded in its core
businesses and operations. Its sound corporate governance
system and professional working team have enabled the Group
to lay a solid foundation for its ESG initiatives so as to enhance
accountability, integrity, transparency and honesty which drives
the Group forward.

The Board takes an overall responsibility to oversee the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems on an ongoing
basis in order to safeguard the stakeholders’ interests and
enhance our sustainability performance. The ESG related risks
have been closely monitored by the Board through the Group’s
governance system. The governance practices and procedures
have been reviewed from time to time to ensure they remain in
compliance with the legal and regulatory requirements. During
the Year, no incidents of misconduct were identified.

More information on the corporate governance is set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” section of this annual report.
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CONTENT INDEX L]

The Company has complied with all “comply or explain” provisions  ARATRIE FTHHBIE 1391 ERBE - &
on general disclosures (“GD”) and environmental key performance  R&SaiEigs| DB ABE — MR [T
indicators (“KPIs”), in accordance with Rule 13.91 of the Listing Rules  <PgtfRi2 | K IBIS IR E BURIEIE o

and the ESG Reporting Guide.

The following table provided an overview of the GD and TH#F|A&IBIE e REER
environmental KPIs, and their location of disclosure in the ESG g3 52 &k 2 IBIE R & WIEIE
report.

= o
i)
29

ENVIRONMENTAL BB LOCATION OF DISCLOSURE #HBEZ=&

A1  Emissions $E5#

e GD—REEA Al. Emissions HER#

Information on policies; and compliance with relevant laws

and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into

water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-

hazardous wastes

EBRERIMAEREBHW  MKRTHMES  AERES

BEVNEESHERR  REBTHEITABEATENER

ERERBHIER

o KPIBAREERIEIRALL? e Air Emissions B HEIR

Types of emissions and respective emissions data e Waste Management BE¥) & 1%

PR iR sE M AE B R EUR e Greenhouse Gas Emissions J& = & 88 HE B
*  KPIBARRERUEIRAL2 *  Greenhouse Gas Emissions Jfi Z 5 88 HE 5

Greenhouse gas emissions in total and intensity
RERBEHNERTE

*  KPIRBRAEMIRRALS? s NATEH
Total hazardous waste produced and intensity

FIELEBERRMBERER

o KPIFAREEMIEIRAL4 e Waste Management B )& 12
Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity

FIELBEBRREMAENREE

1 No confirmed non-compliance or grievance was identified during the Year. B AN [E2 5 AR B ok R EF o
2 The Group did not directly generate significant air emissions during the Year. NEERAFE R B HEEERNEFERIM
3 The Group did not generate material amount of hazardous waste during the Year. NEBRARNFE L EELERNEGEEEY ©
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ENVIRONMENTAL RiE LOCATION OF DISCLOSURE #EFAZE &

o KPIFASRERUEIZALS e Air Emissions FE & HERR
Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results e  Greenhouse Gas Emissions ;& %= S EEHEHX
achieved

R E HE D B B0 3 M PTISAR

o KPIFAREERUIEIRATLG e Waste Management EE¥) & 12
Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved
A RIEEERBEERZYNIL  BIEEEENEIERA
SRR

A2  Use of Resources &R & F

e GCD—MIEEA2 A2.  Use of Resources &R {3
Policies on efficient use of resources like energy, water and
other raw materials

BRERER(BIEER  KREMREME) WK

o KPIARRERIEIRA2.1 e Energy Consumption fERES
Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and
intensity

BREAEISMEER SR REEERTE

o KPIFARRERIEIRA2.2 e Water Consumption /K2
Water consumption in total and intensity
BREKERTE

o KPIFARRERMIEIZA2.3 e Energy Consumption fEREE

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results
achieved

st g JR(E A a5t B MRS R

*  KPIRARRGERUIEIRA2.4 *  Water Consumption #E7K &
Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that
is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results

achieved
WA BAEEKREEEFEBE  LWERREARKSGEE &
FriSaK R
e KPIFAREBEDBUEBIEA2.54 o NATEMA

Total packaging material used for finished products

R BEABEMHNEE

4 The Group did not identify material packaging materials during the Year due to its business nature. N BIFHE ¥ L REANFERAERERHE
Wk} o
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL & LOCATION OF DISCLOSURE #HE =&

A3 The Environment and Natural Resources BRiE &k X AE R

. GD — &I 52 A3 A3. The Environment and Natural Resources
Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the RIENRAER
environment and natural resources

IR EIT AHIRIBE MR ABRENEAFZ ENHR

e KPIFARBBUIEIZAS.1 *  Emissions, Waste, Energy, Water and
Description of the significant impacts of activities on the Materials HERY) - BEY) - B2 & - K W)
environment and natural resources and actions taken to ¥
manage them e Indoor Air Quality EAZERE &
IR EHHRBELIRAERNEAZERDIRKINABEH <  Lighting &RA
EIRHEIE e Noise Management 1§ & & 12

B. SOCIAL #& LOCATION OF DISCLOSURE #HEZE

B1 Employment {E{#

e GCD—REEBI B1. Employment {&f%

Information on policies; and compliance with relevant laws

and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and

promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,

diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare

BRAFI R E - BIERET - TIERE - BY - TSHKe

ZIt » RIS REMAF B RENHBOR © R8s 8T
ANEERFENHBERLRPINER

B2 Health and Safety 2 FREEZ 2

e GCD—R#EFEB2 B2. Health and Safety [@F %2
Information on policies; and compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards
BRREHZE2THERREIMRERERCBMEMRENERRE
REBTFTHRITABERFENHRERLAMNER

B3 Development and Training 3 /& & 3% 3l
e GCD—&#EB3 B3. Development and Training %% /& & 53l
Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities
BRAIRTTE B BT TR E A A0 S B BE M BUR L 55 D)
E>)

1 No confirmed non-compliance or grievance was identified during the Year. #EE R E8 G E BT R o
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B. SOCIAL #& LOCATION OF DISCLOSURE 8 ZE &

B4 Labour Standards % T %8|

e GD—MR#FEBA B4. Labour Standards # T %8|
Information on policies; and compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child or forced labour
BRATLET e M5 THRR  RETHETABERY
EWREARRBINER

B5 Supply Chain Management fit f& § & 32

e GCD—MB#EEBS B5. Supply Chain Management f f& ## % 12
Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
supply chain

ERHREENRIE Rt g R R EBR
B6 Product Responsibility = R E{E

e GD—R#EFEB6 B6. Product Responsibility & &

Information on policies and compliance with relevant laws

and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy

matters relating to products and services provided and methods

of redress

BERMREHRERMRENRERLE  BE  RELLES

HIARBRITENERE - LB THETABEATENER

EREIBBINE R

B7 Anti-corruption R &5

e GCD—REEB B7. Anti-corruption R &5
Information on policies; and compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering
BRI - B - BGFROEREBEMRE « RETHET
ANEERFENHERER LRGN ER

B8 Community Investment B & &

e GCD—MI¥FEB8 B8. Community Investment 41 [@ 3% &
Policies on community engagement to understand the
community’s needs where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests
BREAHBRSERTREEMELETEMBREXEES
BEREMERNREABR

1 No confirmed non-compliance or grievance was identified during the Year. BEERAFEIR BB MR F AR ©
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Deloitte

TO THE MEMBERS OF ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED
BHBESERRAF

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ITC
Properties Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 90 to 235,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31st March, 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31st March, 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BB RS S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a

REETSEH

REATZERAE - BREAFTA/ATE
BERARRZ G BRI RER ZSEH
AITEBRGR VB RE ML ERE RRRE
BHERE MIERLEETHEFERE

whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not providea  § o

separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRETER

Impairment loss on other loan receivables

Htt e B 2 BlE AR

We identified the impairment loss on other loan
receivables as a key audit matter due to the
significant judgment exercised by the management of
the Group in respect of the impairment loss arising
from other loan receivables.

MR BB T IR E R (U SR YR (E
BIEREAHE - MATTHR M ERE R RERS
1BER SRgRER ER

Referring to Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31st March, 2019 and 1st April,
2018 (upon the adoption of HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial
Instruments), the carrying amounts of other loan
receivables were HK$753,559,000 and
HK$787,191,000, net of credit loss allowance of
HK$101,141,000 and HK$115,133,000,
respectively.

R GAMBRERNTL R_ZE—NF=A
=+—HBRZZE-N\FOA—B (RNBBFBRE
BRFOHK(—T—NF) ML AR)  HEKE
KW KR EERE ¥753559000T & B &
787,191,0007C * EF DRI IR EE BB EAE
101,141,000 7T & & # 115,133,000 7T ©

Referring to Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group recognises a credit loss
allowance for other loan receivables by adopting the
expected credit losses (“ECL”) model individually in
the current year. In calculating the credit loss
allowance, the internal credit ratings and the loss
rates, which involve key estimates from the
management, are estimated based on the credit
quality of the debtors, a function of comparable
probability of default, recovery rate quoted from
international credit-rating agencies after adjustments
to specific conditions and exposure at default and
adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

BRI S M IS HRARM T4 - ARBEEBNAF
EERFMEREEER((FRREEEE ) EAE
REMEKRERNEEBERRRE - EtEEEEBR
BER - ARERFTRANEEX(EhrREREN
Bt DRBEAELREBAZEEER - Y
Bx - B EEFAEBERESEGREENR
B 1& P A BUR 2 (NBUE S H - WIRIRERN
HBZKAKE NN A E S RTEEERLETTAE

REFTHEEERENSERZIL A

Our procedures in relation to assessing the sufficiency of the
impairment loss on other loan receivables included:

ATRBAELERRERRESEBERRRENEFEH

Obtaining an understanding on the Group’s credit risk
management policy and how the credit loss allowance
have been calculated by adopting the ECL model on
other loan receivables;

TR BESEZEERERE BRI RRAE M ERK
EROAREEERE KA EFEBRREZ TR

Understanding the terms and conditions of and
inspecting the relevant loan agreements; and
TERARER &N RN RIGT - YEEBRERW
RN

Assessing the reasonableness of the internal credit

ratings and the loss rates for individual debtors used in

the Group’s ECL model based on:

RENTSEFNE ESERAEEEEEAHER

BEBAMAOAREERFRREEEREARE

— the credit quality of the debtors, such as any
experience in default or delay in payments and
historical settlement pattern; and
BEAZEEER  fIINEFZ DL RITEEN
REBEEERN R

— the probability of default, recovery rate adopted as
a proxy to individual debtor’s credit quality,
adjustments to specific conditions, exposure at
default and forward-looking information.
ERRKRESNEBAGELE BRIBERTHE
FE R MIB TR MR M ATIE (B R MR ER
R RIRER -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont’d)

Key audit matter

BRETER

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

g 2 BEM R E S

BERETERE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REGHEEBRETERZL X

Valuation of investment properties

REYEGE

We identified the valuation of investment properties
as a key audit matter due to the judgment involved in
the valuation of investment properties.
AITHREMREEHBSBEREAFTH RAR
REMEMES K HIE -

Referring to Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the valuation of investment properties
was based on valuation on these properties
conducted by independent professional valuers using
property valuation techniques which involve certain
assumptions of market conditions. Favourable or
unfavourable changes to these assumptions would
result in changes in the valuation of the Group’s
investment properties and corresponding adjustments
to the fair value changes reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. As at 31st March, 2019,
investment properties were carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at their
fair values of HK$922,000,000 (2018:
HK$900,000,000).

B RIMARA M B HRERM T4 REYEMGERE
KRB BXAEMERMERERMEZEFE
T2EE ERPRETRZE TRR - ZFRE
ZAMKANEHSEY BEREREMEZGEE
HIREBH LR BRRRAMER A FEZSEL
HEREE R_F-NF=ZA=1+—8 REMX
BN FEE 922,000,000 (= F—\F: B
900,000,000 7T ) 4R & B BRI R AR ©

Our procedures in relation to valuation of investment
properties included:

N

TR BV R AEMREURF 8

Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent professional valuers;

B ERMGEMCEN B REEI

Obtaining an understanding from the independent
professional valuers about the valuation methodology,
significant assumptions adopted and critical judgment
on key inputs and data used in the valuation;

FE BRGEM T REED L  RAERMARAE
REBEREEFAAEER ABR REREL 2 ERHE

Checking the relevance of market transaction price used
by the independent professional valuers on a sample
basis by benchmarking them to relevant market
information; and
WMEERB L B X MEMAA TS
TERKZEEMERETSERE

RHBEREDEE -

TEERH )32

Obtaining the valuation report and discussing with the
independent professional valuers to assess the
reasonableness of adjusting factors on the locations and
conditions of the properties made by them by checking
the comparability and other market factors for similar
properties.

ERGERSYEB T EXEEM R BBRER
PRz REMTISEE  FEERAEYE

PR MR G AERRAHE -
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Key audit matter

CEEEE S

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REFTTEREBRRBEASHEZLE

Valuation of Level 3 suspended listed equity securities
EEFEENE=RLTRAZSFZIEE

We identified the valuation of Level 3 suspended
listed equity securities as a key audit matter due to
the significance of judgment and estimates made by
the management of the Group and the subjectivity in
the determination of Level 3 fair value given the lack
of availability of market-based data.
ATHEEFEENFE R EMRABZNAEEE
ERBRESFSEER  HERZAIREGH mia;—;%(ﬁé
< BESEETEEAFEHERHERMG  XF
ITBARAEE=RNFE"

Referring to Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the quoted closing price as at 31st March,
2019 was no longer available following the
suspension of trading of such listed equity securities
since 3rd September, 2018. Due to a lack of quoted
closing prices or recent transaction prices in the
market, the fair value of the suspended listed equity
securities is measured using a valuation technique
with significant unobservable inputs which involve
certain significant assumptions of the financial
position and operational data of the underlying
business that required the management of the Group
to make significant estimates and judgment when
determining the fair value. During the year ended
31st March, 2019, fair value loss of HK$211,540,000
has been recognised for the Level 3 suspended listed
equity securities which were carried at zero as at 31st
March, 2019.

RRAGAMBEHRERMTI BR_F—\FAh
A=ZREEFEEZSF LMKRAE %LAK i
—NWEFE=ZA=+T—BNEHBREIFE - ARNRZ
WHRESMMHIEIHER  CEEEEN LT
BAFE SR QN FETDRAGERME - ZAER
MEFEATABRREABE - 55 KETHE
BAEBP BN RS ERIBFLNEARR
ERMRRKRER BESEEEEAETAFERER
BEXGE AL -BE_T-AF=ZA=T—HL
FE CR_F-NF=ZA=1T—HEHEEETT
MEEFEEENFS =M EMBRABHFER R FER
188 ¥ 211,540,000 7T °

Our procedures in relation to valuation of Level 3 suspended
listed equity securities included:

AR EEEENE =R EMRAFZNGENERTEHE

Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent professional valuers;

A BEXEMEMZEN s RFEIM

Obtaining an understanding from the independent
professional valuers about the valuation methodology,
significant assumptions and judgment on key inputs and
data used in the valuation; and

A BEMGER T @REEDE  RAERARAE
ARBREEAAEEEAEH REBIBEL 2 EAHE
K

Obtaining the valuation report and discussing with the
independent professional valuers, together with our own
internal valuation experts to assess:

EREERES  BRATHABGBERERR —HEBT
B ER iR AR

(i)  the appropriateness of the valuation methodology
and significant assumptions based on the industry
knowledge; and
BETDERERTEANBRMELZEZERE
R

/

(i) the appropriateness of the key inputs by
independently checking to the external data; or by
evaluating the rationale of judgment on the key
inputs made by the management of the Group by
considering the publicly available information; or
by performing sensitivity analysis.
BUREINHE BETMBBABHNELE
§ REAEELNAN it BEEEEE
?{ﬁﬁﬁi@)\ﬁﬂﬁﬂ’ﬁﬁﬂéﬂbﬁm@ﬁ A TTHUR
tr/'\*ﬁ ®
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

J Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Lam Sau Fung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
26th June, 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

— = N7

LeEmE

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 #EZ—F—NF=A=+—HILtFE

Revenue

Hotel operation income
Property income

Direct cost for hotel operation income
and property income

Gross profit for hotel operation income
and property income
Interest revenue from loan financing
Net loss on financial instruments
Other income, gains and losses
Reversal of impairment losses, net
Increase in fair value of
investment properties
Administrative and other expenses
Finance costs
Share of results of associates
Share of results of joint ventures

Profit before taxation
Taxation

Profit for the year

Profit (loss) for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Earnings per share
- Basic (HK dollar)

— Diluted (HK dollar)

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR
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2019 2018
—g-nE  —TNE
HK$/000 HK$/000
BT T ST IT
262,299 246,625
171,140 156,606
14,325 20,280
185,465 176,886
(68,344) (65,747)
117,121 111,139
76,834 69,219
(207,908) (69,387)
48,809 56,015
14,432 -
1,520 274,606
(355,460) (312,016)
(121,772) (113,566)
619,419 96,942
(51,940) 70,674
141,055 183,626
(1,165) (1,477)
139,890 182,149
140,583 182,488
(693) (339)
139,890 182,149
0.15 0.20
0.15 0.20




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

relBanhEMEmEmRaR

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 #Z2—F—NF=A=+—HILFE

2019 2018
—g-nE  —T-\F

HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT

Profit for the year REE 7 139,890 182,149

Other comprehensive (expense) income Hib2mE (B %) &
Item that will not be reclassified to TEEN S BERH IR -
profit or loss:
Net loss on fair value changes of financial 57 Az AT B8R Mt AEAM
assets designated as at fair value through 2 EUES ([1E A FEHIER Kt A
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) E{m%@ﬂ&ﬁﬁj)z/ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%z
NP EREEEFE (41,328) (252,130)

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to E#E gt @ B DB E B2 BH -
profit or loss:

Exchange differences arising on s —EfB AR mEE Y
deregistration of a subsidiary EHER - (2,785)
Exchange differences arising on translation ~— #EEINETE 2 [ K ER
of foreign operations (69,706) 101,274
Share of translation reserve of associates RIEBE AR RAE R RIRE R
and joint ventures 17,627 (8,098)
Other comprehensive expense for the year AFEEEMEEAS (93,407) (161,739)
Total comprehensive income for the year AFEERHEWRERE 46,483 20,410
Total comprehensive income (expense) THALTRIERFE 2 E RS
for the year attributable to: (AX)E5E
Owners of the Company RARIEAE A 47,748 19,802
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR HE 2 (1,265) 608

46,483 20,410
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
fre AR AR

at 31st March, 2019 R=ZE—h&E=A=+—H

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Investment properties

Equity and fund investments

Interests in joint ventures

Amounts due from joint ventures

Interests in associates

Amounts due from associates

Other loan receivables

Deposit paid for acquisition of
an associate

Other non-current assets

Current assets

Inventories — food, beverages
and general stores

Deposits paid for acquisition of
leasehold land

Stock of properties

Other loan receivables

Amount due from a joint venture

Debtors, deposits and prepayments

Equity and fund investments

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Creditors, deposits and accrued charges
Amount due to an associate
Tax payables
Obligations under finance leases
— due within one year
Bank and other borrowings
— due within one year

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ EEESEBRAR
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2019 2018

—®-hE —2\F

NOTES HK$/000 HK$/000
Fi3E BETT  BETR
15 922,544 943,586
16 922,000 900,000
17 70,093 110,633
18 1,179,333 1,088,564
18 558,067 435,194
19 2,132,226 1,806,774
19 16,686 9,097
20 168,630 752,324
19 159,000 159,000
21 173,252 140,588
6,301,831 6,345,760

744 732

22 354,997 371,684
23 1,110,937 799,273
20 584,929 150,000
18 - 274,155
24 169,735 155,713
17 121,816 277,745
25 526,187 608,334
2,869,345 2,637,636

26 193,770 117,430
19 408,128 132,532
202,992 181,292

130 65

28 1,479,545 1,334,761
2,284,565 1,766,080

584,780 871,556

6,886,611 7,217,316




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
fre AR AR

at 31st March, 2019 R=Z—h&E=F=1+—H

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-N\F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
k3 BT T BETIT
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Loan notes — due after one year —FRIBCERE 27 1,547,059 1,538,209
Obligations under finance leases —FREPzREHERE
— due after one year 438 60
Bank and other borrowings —FRBBRITREMEE
— due after one year 28 - 142,139
1,547,497 1,680,408
5,339,114 5,536,908
Capital and reserves B B
Share capital A&7 30 9,753 9,377
Reserves #E 5,326,371 5,523,278
Equity attributable to owners RRFFEE AEIHHER
of the Company 5,336,124 5,532,655
Non-controlling interests FEIERRRE RS 2,990 4,253
5,339,114 5,536,908

The consolidated financial statements on pages 90 to 235 were 5 90E 235 Afi#EGATEREEN T — 1
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26th  FXAZ+/~ARESSIAERFTERE - I
June, 2019 and are signed on its behalf by: AT EERAESE

CHEUNG HON KIT CHEUNG CHIKIT

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

A 4 Sk
e EmE

)&

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE=ZF—NF=A=+—HILFE

At Tst April, 2017

Profit (loss) for the year
Netloss on fair value changes of equity instruments
designated as at FVTOCI

Exchange differences arising on deregistration of
asubsidiary

Exchange differences arising on translation of
foreign operations

Share of translation reserve of associates
and joint ventures

Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year

Exercise of share options

Issue of shares pursuant to scrip dividend scheme for
-2017 final dividend
- 2018 irst interim dividend

Transfer from investment revaluation reserve upon
disposal of financial asses designed as FVTOCI
(Note 17)

Transfer of lapse of share options

Dividends recognised as distibution (Note 13)

Acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries from
non-controlling interests

At 31t March, 2018
Adjustment (Note 2)

At Tst April, 2018 (restated)

Profit (loss) for the year
Netloss on fair value changes of equity instruments
designated as at FVTOCI

Exchange differences arising on translation of
foreign operations

Share of translation reserve of associates
and joint ventures

Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year
Issue of shares pursuant to scrip dividend scheme for
- 2018 second interim dividend
- 2019 irst interim dividend
Capital injection from non-controlling interests
Recognition of equity-settled share-based payments
(Note 31)
Dividends recognised as distribution (Note 13)

At31st March, 2019

note:

R-Z2-t4RA-A

KERER (BR)

R ARAFESIRREA
A2 EMEIRATAZ

Rt -FHBATELL
Eiz2

REBNRE ENZR

EEBENRAELT
BEGRH

AEERE (AR hELR
Tt
it Phud B S
- TR ERERE
- 2B R -RPARE
N EREARATEIER
STARME AN SHARS
SRRRABERR(N)
HEREXIEER
BTk RE (1)
HAARERLENELT
LR

R-Z2-/\$=A=1-H
AE(Mit2)

RE-\EMA-A (&)

RELEH(BR)

BEAROFEIR R ALY
2EME A TAZATE
29PRFE

BEBEEZENZR

EiEBERARAEDT
BERE

RERRE () hestE
RENRR S EE TR
- 2R \EECRPERE
-ZE-NEE-RERE
FialkEaTE
BN REEE R AR
(H&31)
BT RE (e 13)

RZE-NE=A=1-R

Attributable to owners of the Company

Special reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal value

of the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired and the nominal amount of the

share capital of the Company issued as consideration under the group

reorganisation in 1994.

AOARAARESD
Share-
Capital based  Investment Non-
Share Share  Contributed ~ redemption  payment  revaluation Special  Translation ~ Retained controlling
capital  premium  surplus  reserve reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve profits Total  interests Total
BARE HRHKA
ks ROEE HAR& R XNEE RhREE BERE REER &5t FERER #:f
HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000
AT BBTT  ERTn  BMTR 7 A% A%Tn  ERfn  EETR BSTT B Tr
(note)
(Kiit)
8,873 317648 113,020 9,185 2622 (271,642) (8,908)  (70,814) 2615453 5574275 3151 5577426
= = = = = = = - 182488 182,488 (339) 182,149
= = = = - (252,130) = = - (252,130 - (252,130)
= = = = = = = (2,785) - 2,785) = (2,785)
= = = = = = - 100327 - 100327 97 101,274
- - - - - - - (8,098) = (8,098) - (8,098)
= = = = - (252,130) = 80444 182,488 19,802 608 20410
1 216 = = (37) = = = = 180 = 180
m 75,184 - - - - - - = 75455 = 75455
232 61,135 = = = = = = = 61,367 = 61,367
= = = = - 304108 = - (304108) = = =
- - - -0 - - -5 - - -
= = = = = = = - (197.924)  (197,924) - (197,924)
= = = = = = = = (500) (500) 494 6)
9377 3,313,021 113,020 9,185 - (219,664) (8,908) 18,630 2207994 5,532,655 4253 5536908
- - - - - - - - (I473) (121473) - (In47)
9377 3,313,021 113,020 9,185 - (219,664) (8,908) 18,630 2176521 5,411,182 4253 5415435
= = = = = = = - 140583 140,583 (693) 139,890
= = = = = (41,328) = = = 41,328) = (41,328)
= = = = = = = 69,134) = (69,134) (572)  (69,706)
= = = = = = = 17,627 = 17,627 = 17,627
- - - - - (41,328) = (51,507) 140,583 47,748 (1,265) 46,483
343 76,719 = = = = = = = 77,062 = 77,062
3 6,645 = = = = = = = 6,678 = 6,678
. - - B : - B - - - 2 2
- - - - 3,184 - - - = 3,184 = 3,184
= = = = = = = - (209730 (209,730) - (209,730)
9,753 3396385 113,020 9,185 3,184 (260992) (8908)  (32,877) 2,107,374 5336124 2990 5339114
M - AERERRRERSAARRER - AEE

SESEMEBENBARZRAEEEAR
AETERREBEZRATERER 2 EHE -

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mAEREMER

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZ—F—hF=A=+—HILFE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Decrease in fair values of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)

Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment

Exchange differences arising on
deregistration of a subsidiary

Finance costs

Increase in fair value of
investment properties

Interest income

Loss (gain) on disposal/written off of
property, plant and equipment

Net foreign exchange (gain) loss

Reversal of impairment losses, net

Share-based payment expenses

Share of results of associates

Share of results of joint ventures

Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital

Increase in other non-current assets

(Increase) decrease in inventories

Increase in deposit paid for acquisition of
leasehold land

Increase in stock of properties

Decrease (increase) in other loan receivables

(Increase) decrease in debtors, deposits
and prepayments

Increase in equity and fund investments

Decrease in debt investments

Increase (decrease) in creditors, deposits
and accrued charges

Cash used in operations
Interest received
Interest paid

Tax paid

REER

BR Tt Al 7

FEIAR ¢
BAFEIRMET AR ([RAF
BIERMFARRE ) 2EREE
DNHER D

YE - B EREITE

AFsH—RNBARMmMELZ

EHER

MBER
BREWME 2 X FEEN
FEWA

HE M E - MR REZ
B8 (as)

P (Wat) B HRI% AR

B EIRERBERFE

B FE A A 2 B

L NCTE S

EIERERRIEE

KA BBESBEA 2 QBET
Beine

H {37 B A A A

1= (B ) A

ISR E + 42 B AR S

WEFEEM

H b e W & FOm A> (3250)

FEURR - e MIAN R
(18 hn) B

P e B BB IR N

ERERE R D

FERTERR - 1RE RIERT R
o OR)

REmER S
EHFE
ERFE
BEf#HIA

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& 2L Fr3E3H £ 558

Annual Report 4 # @ 2018-2019

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—)N\F
HK$/000 HK$/000
BETTE  BETR
141,055 183,626
207,908 69,907
34,570 30,444
- (2,785)
121,772 113,566
(1,520) (274,606)
(113,450) (116,182)
91 (924)

(289) 16,408
(14,432) -
3,184 -
(619,419) (96,942)
51,940 (70,674)
(188,590) (148,162)
(800) (800)

12) 36
(3,090) (2,996)
(306,077) (64,887)
2,000 (228,000)
(11,067) 23,181
(51,979) (262,876)
- 7,813
29,024 (46,815)
(530,591) (723,506)

12,955 42,731
(119,907) (109,559)
(2,647) (285)
(640,190) (790,619)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

et RER

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE—Z—NF=A=+—HILFE

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Repayment from joint ventures

Dividend from associates

Dividend from joint ventures

Interest received

Repayment from an associate

Proceed from disposal of equity
and fund investments

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant
and equipment

Advance to joint ventures

Investments in joint ventures

Additions to investment properties

Advance to associates

Investments in associates

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Purchase of other non-current assets

Purchase of equity securities

Deposit paid for acquisition of an associate

NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New bank and other borrowings raised
Advance from (repayment to) an associate
Advance from non-controlling interests
Capital injection from a

non-controlling interest
Net proceed from issue of shares
Repayment of bank and other borrowings
Dividends paid

Repayment of obligations under finance leases

Acquisition of additional interests in
subsidiaries from non-controlling interests

NET CASH FROM (USED IN)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ EEESEBRAR

BRRET
BEATER

B AT ZBE
ABATZBE
BRI
—RIm A AER

HERERESREMFHA

HEME - WKL REEHR

TSI
RABRTZIEE
REREDE
BHTHE AT

N EINSRE S
BEME - BRRERE

BE IR AR
RS

W —MEBE AR ZE MRS

REXBRERSFR

BME XK
HIRRITRAEMEE

— B2 R A2 B (GER)
TR R 2 B AR
RS EANEE

BT TS FUR 8

BERITREMER

EffARE

EERERERE

[FISEE R s IR FE P B A 7]
Z

MEXKHRE (AR REFE

2019 2018
—g-nE  —TNE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT  BETR
331,355 51,485
303,800 464,025
54,800 167,448
20,223 22,400
6,735 -

= 6,545

- 2,360
(245,197) (190,580)
(43,043) 2,339)
(19,759) (24,576)
(14,575) (12,411)
(14,000) (70,210)
(12,954) (20,602)
2,219) -
(786) (114,226)

- (159,000)
364,380 120,319
758,387 320,567
275,596 (286,383)
47,150 -

2 —

- 180
(745,306) (449,710)
(125,990) (61,102)
(140) (110)

- (6)
209,699 (476,564)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mAEREMER

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 H#Z2=Z—NF=A=F+—HILFE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$/000 HK$'000
BT T ST T

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND HeRBHeESEEBEARDFE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (66,111) (1,146,864)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATTHE REFZRERREZEER

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 608,334 1,728,748
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EREFH o FE
RATE CHANGES (16,036) 26,450

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATTHE REZKZHER
END OF THE YEAR, REEEER
represented by bank balances and cash EIRTEBR KRR S

526,187 608,334

Annual Report 4 # @ 2018-2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ar B WS R M At

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 #E - —NF=A=+—HILtFE

1.

GENERAL

ITC Properties Group Limited (the “Company”) is a company
incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability and its issued
shares are listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (Stock Code: 199).
The ultimate controlling shareholders (as defined in the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”)) of the Company (the “Controlling
Shareholder”) are Dr. Chan Kwok Keung, Charles and his
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules). The addresses of the
registered office and the principal place of business in Hong
Kong of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information” section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”), which is the functional currency of
the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in property development and
investment in Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC
(defined below) (“Macau”), Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the PRC (“Hong Kong”), the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”), Canada and the United Kingdom,
development of, investment in and operation of hotels and
leisure business in the PRC, Hong Kong and Canada, securities
investments and provision of loan financing services. The
principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are
set out in Note 42.

—REHR
EEMESEERAR(ARF]) /R
BREFMKZZARAR - HEET
BONEEHERZAARIF (B
1) EAR £ (AR © 199) ° NAAF]
ZEREERBER (ERRBRMES L
BANT EmARRND) (THERBER]) RERE
BELTREBBACERR EWARA) -
ARAEMREEEEEEE LRI
ZHARFRP [RAER] —HRE -

HEMBRRIIARRBNEEE LS
([E% ) R% -

AAEA—HREERAR - AAF K
BB AR (5HE [AEE ) EERFEH
(FE&E R TR ITHE( R
F9)) - FEIBEBEFANTHRE(ES])
REAREMBE(HRE]) - MERKRE
BREMERRRIEE  RHPE - B
EMeER#REER BERCERER
EHEED  BHERERREERRER
e ARREEMBARIZ EBEKSH
REIEE42 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR BTSRRI R

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE—Z— N F=A=+—HILtFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
Amendments

Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration

HK(FRIC)-Int 22

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment
Transactions

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments to HKAS 28 As part of the Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

Save as described below, the application of the amendments
and the interpretation to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial performance and
position for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.

2.1 HKEFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS 18 Revenue,
HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related
interpretations.

22
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZ2=ZF—hF=A=+—HILtFE

28

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Cont’d)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Cont’d)

2.1

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Cont’d)

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initially applying this standard
recognised at the date of initial application (i.e. 1st April,
2018). Any difference at the date of initial application is
recognised in the opening retained profits and
comparative information has not been restated.
Furthermore, in accordance with the transition provisions
in HKFRS 15, the Group has elected to apply the standard
retrospectively only to contracts that are not completed at
1st April, 2018. Accordingly, certain comparative
information may not be comparable as comparative
information was prepared under HKAS 18 Revenue and
HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related
interpretations.

The Group recognises revenue from the following major
sources which arise from contracts with customers:

J Revenue from hotel accommodation is recognised
over the stay of guests.

J Revenue from food catering operation is recognised
at a point in time when the control of the goods or
services has been transferred to the customers.

o Revenue from building management fee income is
recognised over time.

o Revenue from properties commission income is
recognised at a point in time when the related sale
and purchase agreements are signed and stamped.

Information about the Group’s performance obligations
and the accounting policies resulting from application of
HKFRS 15 are disclosed in Notes 6 and 3, respectively.

Based on the assessment by the directors of the Company
(the “Directors”), the application of HKFRS 15 does not
have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements as at 1st April, 2018 and for the year
ended 31st March, 2019.

FERFET REET ERMBREE
RI(TEBMBREER D @)

REFEERSERZHFITEBHBRE

ERREERT (E)
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185 M R BB ST ERE 1158
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR BTSRRI R

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE—Z— N F=A=+—HILtFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Cont’d)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Cont’d)

2.2 HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 (“HKFRS 9 (2009)”) introduces
new requirements for the classification and measurement
of financial assets and was early adopted by the Group
with a date of initial application on 1st April, 2014.
HKFRS 9 was subsequently amended in 2010 and 2013,
and revised version of HKFRS 9 was issued in 2014
(“HKFRS 9 (2014)”) which changes in impairment
requirements are relevant to the Group. In the current
year, the Group has applied HKFRS 9 (2014) and the
related consequential amendments to other HKFRSs in
accordance with the transition provisions set out in
HKFRS 9 (2014), i.e. applied the impairment requirements
retrospectively to instruments that have not been
derecognised as at 1st April, 2018 (date of initial
application) and has not applied the requirements to
instruments that have already been derecognised as at 1st
April, 2018. The difference between carrying amounts as
at 31st March, 2018 and the carrying amounts as at 1st
April, 2018 is recognised in the opening retained profits
and other components of equity, without restating
comparative information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be
comparable as comparative information was prepared
under HKFRS 9 (2009). Accounting policies resulting
from the application of HKFRS 9 (2014) are disclosed in
Note 3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR MRS R MY A

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE=ZF—NF=A=+—HILFE

22,

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Cont’d)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Cont’d)

2.2 HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments (Cont'd)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 9 (2014)

The table below illustrates the financial assets subject to
expected credit losses (“ECL”) under HKFRS 9 (2014) at
the date of initial application, 1st April, 2018.

ASSETS BE
Other loan receivables Hip e E R
Other non-current assets Hi3ERBEE

Debtors, deposits and prepayments FEUERR - ke RIEMRIA

EQUITY i
Retained profits RE R
note:

Impairment under ECL model

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 (2014) simplified approach to measure
ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade debtors. To measure the ECL,
trade debtors have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the ECL on these assets are assessed collectively using
a provision matrix.

Credit loss allowance for other financial assets at amortised cost mainly
comprise of debtors and deposits, amounts due from joint ventures,
amounts due from associates, other loan receivables and certain other
non-current assets and bank balances which are measured on 12-month
ECL (“12m ECL”) basis as there had been no significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, except for certain other loan receivables
which are measured on lifetime ECL basis as credit risk had increased
significantly since initial recognition. In calculating the credit loss
allowance, the loss rates, which involve key estimates from the
management, are estimated based on a function of comparable probability
of default, recovery rate quoted from international credit-rating agencies
after adjustments to specific conditions and exposure at default and
adjusted for forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

R REETT BB BRESE
RITERMBHREER D (@)

REFEREERZHITEEBMBRE

BRI BT ()
22 BEEBMBHREEAFINR(-F
—mE)EMTA(E)

I ER BB B8 & 2RI E 95
—FF)SIB T EUE
TRIABRBEBBVH RS ERF
I (=T —MF)RIEER BB
(A —ZF—N\FHA—B)ZRNE
HEEER(RBEEERDzE
REE -

At Effect of At
31st March, HKFRS 9 Tst April,
2018 (2014) 2018
(audited) (restated)
EBEITS
HEZER

F9%
RZF-N\EF (ZT-—mF) RZFT-N
=R=1+—H %8 HWEA-A
(g&t) (gE5)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT

902,324 (115133) 787,191
140,588 (1,902) 138,686
155,713 (4,438) 151,275

2,297,994  (121,473) 2,176,521

fiaE
AMERBABAT 2 A E

AEEEATBPBRELMNEIR(=ZF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ira SRR M

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE—Z— N F=A=+—HILtFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2,

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Cont’d)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Cont’d)

2.2 HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments (Cont’d)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 9 (2014) (Cont’d)
note: (Cont’d)

Impairment under ECL model (Cont'd)

As at Tst April, 2018, for undrawn loan commitments to an associate and
joint ventures of HK$598,745,000 and HK$3,357,000, respectively, and
for financial guarantees provided to an associate and joint ventures of
HK$565,707,000 and HK$706,252,000, respectively, the Group considers
there has been no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
and hence the loss allowance is measured on 12m ECL basis.

The ECL for amounts due from joint ventures, amounts due from
associates, undrawn loan commitments and financial guarantees are
assessed to be insignificant with reference to the estimation of the amount
and timing of future cash flows, collateral values and underlying asset
values of respective associates and joint ventures. The credit loss
allowance is not recognised as it is not material.

The ECL for bank balances is insignificant because they are placed in
banks with good reputation and high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies. The credit loss allowance is not
recognised as it is not material.

As at 1st April, 2018, credit loss allowance of HK$121,473,000 has been
recognised against retained profits. The additional loss allowance is
charged against the respective assets.

The reconciliation of loss allowances for financial assets, including other
loan receivables, other non-current assets, other debtors and deposits and
amount due from a joint venture, as at 31st March, 2018 and the opening
loss allowance as at Tst April, 2018 is as follows:

FERAHIREETERMBRESE
AI(TEEMBREERD @)

REFERBERZHTEEMBRE
R R EAETT ()
22 BEMBBEEEANEIR(-F
—mF)EMTA(HE)
Ve FEF & BB 588 & BRI E 95
—E-F) IR ERE (B)
FRE : ()

BHEEHEERT 2RE(E)

RZZ—N\FEA—HB ' gtr—FE#ERRF
REERARRERES R AB 598,745,000
JC K & #5 3,357,000 7T 2 AR B) A B BRI -
AR A—EEEARREERARERES
Bl &7 % 565,707,000 7T KX 7 ¥ 706,252,000
TZHBERTE ASERAHBVRE
RUREERBFERZ LN - e HER
BT M A BB EEBEEENE -

BR2ZHABERRRAERRZMBEIRR
RenBZERRKHE - R REERERH
ﬁéﬁﬁ% WA ERBFIA - RUEE
RARE - ABAEFRERVBERZE
HEEERRIE/LTER - W ERRE
EBERE - TRNEEBBLTERX -

RITEBEHREEBFERLTIEN  RAR
ZERTHEBERNEERFAREREER
AR AR B RZRIT - WEER
EEBREE  DANEEBRITEK -

RZE—N\FEmNA—H ' EREEHRF
EEEEEEA121,473,0007T © FINES
BREDASEEBEEFRIR -

SREEZBRBB(REAN-S-—/N\F=
A=1+—RBZHEMEKREN HMFERHE
B EEEERAREEARERK—REE
RAFB)BR_F-N\FOA—HZHD
ERBHZHROT -

Other
Other debtors Amount due

Other loan non-current and from a joint

receivables

assets deposits venture Total

HitfEw RS Hit R Eh-HaE

%

BE k&S DEFE st

HK$/000 HK$000 HK$/000 HK$/000 HK$'000
AETTT BETT BB AETTL AR

At31st March, 2018 —HKFRS9 ~ R=—E—\F=ZA=1+—H

(2009) — BAUBREEAFR
(Z2ZTNE) - - 23,923 11,022 34,945
Amounts remeasured through BRBNRERTEM 2
opening retained profits dcix 115,133 1,902 4,438 = 121,473
At Tst April, 2018 RZE-\FEA—-H 115,133 1,902 28,361 11,022 156,418
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR MRS R MY A

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE=ZF—NF=A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2. R R KBTS BHIKREE

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) Bl ([ HEBBHREED |) (&)

(Cont’d)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily RAREERSEN T HETEETBERE

effective for the current year (Cont’d) ER R EHEET (&)

2.3 Impacts on opening consolidated statement of financial 23 FEFEBHBHEERFISE (=
position arising from the application of HKFRS 9 (2014) E—[UE) YA 7S B R E

ZE

As a result of the changes in the Group’s accounting R i ANEB S HE S - 5
policies above, the opening consolidated statement of MG E P EARRKETFAES - T
financial position had to be restated. The following table KEHIRZEE S MYIBEERY
shows the adjustments recognised for each of the line R o XA WY A KT IZEEE)
items affected. Line items that were not affected by the 2B MEIEE o

changes have not been included.

At 31st March, At 1st April,
2018 HKFRS 9 2018
(Audited) (2014) (Restated)
R=B-—N\F FEREHRE R=ZF—N\E

=A=+—H ZERIZE 95 mA—A
(REZ) (ZZT—WF) (Z=EH)

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT BT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Other loan receivables HihelwE R 752,324 (94,365) 657,959
Other non-current assets HASEREEE 140,588 (1,902) 138,686
Current assets REBEE
Other loan receivables HibEWE R 150,000 (20,768) 129,232
Debtors, deposits FEMBR TN - 11 & KR FAft
and prepayments KIE 155,713 (4,438) 151,275
Capital and reserves RA K &
Retained profits {REE T 2,297,994 (121,473) 2,176,521
note:  For the purposes of reporting cash flows from operating activities Wi shEAREEERBE T —NE=
under indirect method for the year ended 31st March, 2019, B=1—HBIEERKEEK I IRER
movements in working capital have been computed based on EMs “ELESEH IR X
opening statement of financial position as at 1st April, 2018 as BER-—T— \EMA— B2 HIHE
disclosed above. IRRARFH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HEZ=F

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Cont’d)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23
Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRSs

Leases'

Insurance Contracts®

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments'

Definition of a Business*

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation’
Sale or Contribution of Assets

between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?
Definition of Material®

Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement!

Long-term Interests in
Associates
and Joint Ventures'

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017
Cycle!

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2021
4 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the

acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period

beginning on or after 1st January, 2020

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2020

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned

below, the Directors anticipate that the application of all other

new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact

on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable

future.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Cont’d)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting treatments
for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17
Leases and the related interpretations when it becomes
effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis
of whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer. In
addition, HKFRS 16 requires sales and leaseback transactions
to be determined based on the requirements of HKFRS 15 as to
whether the transfer of the relevant asset should be accounted
as a sale. HKFRS 16 also includes requirements relating to
subleases and lease modifications.

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed
for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to be
recognised for all leases by lessees, except for short-term leases
and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions)
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted
for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability
is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is
adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact
of lease modifications, amongst others. For the classification of
cash flows, the Group currently presents upfront prepaid lease
payments as investing cash flows in relation to leasehold lands
for owned use and those classified as investment properties
while other operating lease payments are presented as
operating cash flows. Upon application of HKFRS 16, lease
payments in relation to lease liability will be allocated into a
principal and an interest portion which will be presented as
financing and operating cash flows, respectively by the Group,
upfront prepaid lease payments will continue to be presented
as investing or operating cash flows in accordance to the
nature, as appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE—Z— N F=A=+—HILtFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Cont’d)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Cont’d)

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised an asset
and a related finance lease liability for finance lease
arrangement and prepaid lease payments for leasehold lands
where the Group is a lessee. The application of HKFRS 16 may
result in potential changes in classification of these assets
depending on whether the Group presents right-of-use assets
separately or within the same line item at which the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they
were owned.

Other than certain requirements which are also applicable to
lessor, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and continues to require
a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating lease or a
finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

As at 31st March, 2019, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of HK$89,882,000 as disclosed
in Note 36. A preliminary assessment indicates that these
arrangements will meet the definition of a lease. Upon
application of HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of all these
leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental
deposits paid of HK$21,521,000 and refundable rental deposits
received of HK$1,955,000 as rights and obligations under
leases to which HKAS 17 applies. Based on the definition of
lease payments under HKFRS 16, such deposits are not
payments relating to the right to use the underlying assets,
accordingly, the carrying amounts of such deposits may be
adjusted to amortised cost. Adjustments to refundable rental
deposits paid would be considered as additional lease
payments and included in the carrying amount of right-of-use
assets. Adjustments to refundable rental deposits received
would be considered as advance lease payments.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Cont’d)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Cont’d)

The application of new requirements may result in changes in
measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated above.
The Group intends to elect the practical expedient to apply
HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as leases
applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease and not apply this standard to
contracts that were not previously identified as containing a
lease applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4. Therefore, the
Group will not reassess whether the contracts are, or contain a
lease which already existed prior to the date of initial
application. Furthermore, the Group intends to elect the
modified retrospective approach for the application of HKFRS
16 as lessee and will recognise the cumulative effect of initial
application to opening retained profits without restating
comparative information.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of
material by including additional guidance and explanations in
making materiality judgments. The amendments also align the
definition across all HKFRSs and will be mandatorily effective
for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1st April, 2020.
The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance of
the Group but may affect the presentation and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HEZ=F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Listing Rules and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
and investment properties that are measured at fair values at the
end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
within the scope of HKAS 17 Leases, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZ2=ZF—hF=A=+—HILtFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so
that at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

. Level 1: inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

J Level 2: inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

] Level 3: inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below:

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

. has power over the investee;

3 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HEZ=F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to keep their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group’s relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of
relevant reserves between the Group and the non-controlling
interests according to the Group’s and the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate interests.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 #E - —NF=A=+—HILtFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of
equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair
value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 (2014)/
HKFRS 9 (2009) or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Acquisition of a subsidiary not constituting a business

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that
do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and
recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first to the
financial assets and financial liabilities at the respective fair
values, the remaining balance of the purchase price is then
allocated to the other identifiable assets and liabilities on the
basis of their relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such a
transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase
gain.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HEZ=F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Investments in associates and joint ventures (Cont’d)

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the sharing of
control of an arrangement contractually agreed, which exists
only when decisions about the relevant activities that require
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group'’s share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of the
associate/joint venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the
Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a
joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that associate or
joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or
joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 #E - —NF=A=+—HILtFE

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Investments in associates and joint ventures (Cont’d)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable

amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When
the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint
venture and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKFRS 9 (2014)/HKFRS 9 (2009), the Group measures
the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value
is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference
between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture,
and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing of the relevant interest in the associate or joint
venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint
venture on the same basis as would be required if that associate
or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or
loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant

associate or joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair

value upon such changes in ownership interests.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HEZ=F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Investments in associates and joint ventures (Cont’d)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
or a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of
the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not
related to the Group.

Interest in a joint operation

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the
assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the joint
arrangement. Joint control is the sharing of control of an
arrangement contractually agreed, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities that require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation in
accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in which a
group entity is a joint operator (such as a sale or contribution of
assets), the Group is considered to be conducting the
transaction with the other parties to the joint operation, and
gains and losses resulting from the transactions are recognised
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of other parties’ interests in the joint operation.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in which a
group entity is a joint operator (such as a purchase of assets),
the Group does not recognise its share of the gains and losses
until it resells those assets to a third party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZ2=ZF—hF=A=+—HILtFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon application of
HKEFRS 15 in accordance with transitions in Note 2)

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the
goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

J the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

J the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that
the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it
would not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all
incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs would
otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or loss within one
year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE—Z— N F=A=+—HILtFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon application of
HKEFRS 15 in accordance with transitions in Note 2) (Cont’d)
Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the goods or services transferred to the customer to
date relative to the remaining goods or services promised under
the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Revenue recognition (prior to 1st April, 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described below.

Revenue from sale of properties in the ordinary course of
business is recognised when the respective properties have
been completed and delivered to the buyers. Deposits and
instalments received from purchasers prior to meeting the
above criteria for revenue recognition are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under current
liabilities.

Revenue from hotel accommodation, food and banquet
operations are recognised when the services are provided.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Consultancy fees are recognised when the relevant services are
rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 #E - —NF=A=+—HILtFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Revenue recognition (prior to 1st April, 2018) (Cont’d)

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue from
operating leases is described in the accounting policy for
leasing below.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset. Other than investment properties measured under fair
value model, such costs are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the
Group at their fair values at the inception of the lease or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.
The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the
consolidated statement of financial position as an obligation
under finance lease.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and
reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance
expenses are recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless
they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case
they are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general
policy on borrowing costs (see the accounting policy below).

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land
held under operating leases, are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE—Z— N F=A=+—HILtFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Leases (Cont’d)

The Group as lessee (Cont’d)

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into
operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability.
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction
of rental expense on a straight-line basis except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for a property interest which
includes both leasehold land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an
operating lease separately based on the assessment as to
whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in
which case the entire property is accounted as an operating
lease. Specifically, the entire consideration (including any
lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element
and building element at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant lease payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease
payments” in the consolidated statement of financial position
and is amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis
except for those that are classified and accounted for as
investment properties under the fair value model. When the
lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the
leasehold land and building elements, the entire property is
generally classified as if the leasehold land is under finance
lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of each reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 #E - —NF=A=+—HILtFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Foreign currencies (Cont’d)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for
exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or
payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net
investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised
initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the
Group’s interests in associates/joint ventures.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case,
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under
the heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation of
which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e.
partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do not
result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HEZ=F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets,
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless another
HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the
cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages, salaries and annual leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 #E - —NF=A=+—HILtFE

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the

equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share-based payment
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises
its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to
vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting
conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to the share-based payment reserve. For share
options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value
of the share options granted is expensed immediately to profit

or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payment reserve will be transferred
to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share-based payment reserve

will be transferred to retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HEZ=F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, interests
in associates and interests in joint ventures, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZ2=ZF—hF=A=+—HILtFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Taxation (Cont’d)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to
settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE—Z— N F=A=+—HILtFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings and
leasehold land (classified as finance lease) held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes, are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their
expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets.
However, when there is no reasonable certainty that ownership
will be obtained by the end of the lease term, assets are
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful
lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation (including properties under
development for such purposes).

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values. All of the Group’s property interests held under
operating leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
purposes are classified and accounted for as investment
properties and are measured using the fair value model. Gains
or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which
they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZ2=ZF—hF=A=+—HILtFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Investment properties (Cont’d)

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of
the investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use
and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or
loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

Impairment losses on non-financial assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of assets are estimated individually,
when it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an asset individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HEZ=F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Impairment losses on non-financial assets(Cont’d)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted
average cost method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Stock of properties

Properties under development which are developed for future
sale in the ordinary course of business and completed
properties held for sale are classified as current assets and are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net
realisable value is determined by reference to professional
valuations or Directors’ estimates based on prevailing market
conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 #E - —NF=A=+—HILtFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date/
settlement date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 since 1st April, 2018. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liabilities and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in
other income, gains and losses except for interest revenue on
other loan receivables, which is included in interest revenue
from loan financing.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HEZ=F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(upon application of HKFRS 9 (2014) in accordance with
transitions in Note 2)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

J the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling financial assets; and

J the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial application/initial recognition
of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in
OCI if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a
business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations
applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

J it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

e oninitial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking;
or

J it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 #E - —NF=A=+—HILtFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(upon application of HKFRS 9 (2014) in accordance with
transitions in Note 2) (Cont’d)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or
FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

0]

(ii)

(iii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value recognised in OCI and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve; and
are not subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on
disposal of the equity investments, and will be transferred
to retained profits/will continue to be held in the
investment revaluation reserve.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to
receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the “net loss on
financial instruments” line item in profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being

measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at
FVTPL.

FTESHEER#E)

ETMIRAE)

THEE(E)
EREEZ D BRARTE (FKIRATE2
BRI A ERE B EERE9
F(—F—mF)E)(E)

BESh - fd FTHBR Sk E PR R G At R A
7N 5 [ 7T 1S BT H08H 3 1 ZR AR H R AR 5
BAFEIEMAREMMEERSE S
BEERET A HESBR KA AR

(i)  BEIHACARRFSMA
HERBHRAGEZEMEELZ
MEWARBERF A REERE
R MBWATIHEREE 2 KE
RERAERMNEGE  EHERY
REEREZEREERIINET
X)) » HRIERK R ERRERNE
BMEE - MBRABRBIEERF R
EART —HREHHSREENE
SHAXANHER - IMRIERBESRT
AEMERERNE  E2MEET
BERRE  MBERERNEE
RAREEEETBEERRENR
SRR EBEENARASER
FERA BHLA -

(i) FEERIFHEIRSGARLMEE
Weas 2 BN T &
BRHESIR R AR 2 E RS
ZRBEAT R ZREHKAIZRF
B E - AFEEIHMELERER
EEN A2 R R E
EffREER - BBAELRER
i e REERARER - Rethas
IEBEBRB T EER D BEEm - I
REBREREBEN,EEENRE
EffEERE -

HERRATAZREZREER
5 BB ST OB B. 2 A B X PR R
RER - BRIEACE BRRER R B
BZEBaRA - RERBHEPETA
(SR TAEZEEFHE]IAR -

(i) BRFEINELFTABEZZERE
23
PREREBHEKATEZ R 2E
MEEAERAFEINE R AE

Nz
S o
T

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR BTSRRI R

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE—Z— N F=A=+—HILtFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(upon application of HKFRS 9 (2014) in accordance with
transitions in Note 2) (Cont’d)

(iii)  Financial assets at FVTPL (Cont’d)

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in
the net loss on financial instruments line item in profit or
loss.

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9
(2014) with transitions in accordance with Note 2)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial
assets which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 (2014)
(including debtors and deposits, amounts due from joint
ventures, amounts due from associates, other loan receivables,
certain other non-current assets and bank balances), loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events that are possible within
twelve months after the reporting date. Assessments are done
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade debtors.
The ECL on these assets are assessed collectively using a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZ2=ZF—hF=A=+—HILtFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9
(2014) with transitions in accordance with Note 2) (Cont’d)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the

Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether

lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant

increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since

initial recognition.

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR BTSRRI R

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZ2=—F—h&F=A=+—HILtFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9
(2014) with transitions in accordance with Note 2) (Cont’d)

(i

Significant increase in credit risk (Cont’d)

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i)
it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a
debt instrument to have low credit risk when it has an
internal or external credit rating of “investment grade” as
per globally understood definitions.

For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts,
the date that the Group becomes a party to the
irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date of
initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the
financial instrument for impairment. In assessing whether
there has been a significant increase in the credit risk
since initial recognition of a loan commitment, the Group
considers changes in the risk of a default occurring on the
loan to which a loan commitment relates; for financial
guarantee contracts, the Group considers the changes in
the risk that the specified debtor will default on the
contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZ=F
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9
(2014) with transitions in accordance with Note 2) (Cont’d)

(ii)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(¢) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HEZ=F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9
(2014) with transitions in accordance with Note 2) (Cont’d)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Trade debtors are grouped based on internal credit rating
and the ECL on these assets are assessed collectively
using a provision matrix.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the expected losses are
the present value of the expected payments to reimburse
the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts
that the Group expects to receive from the holder, the
debtor or any other party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZ2=ZF—hF=A=+—HILtFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9
(2014) with transitions in accordance with Note 2) (Cont’d)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Cont’d)

For undrawn loan commitments, the ECL is the present
value of the difference between the contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group if the holder of the loan
commitments draws down the loan, and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive if the loan is drawn
down.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts or on loan
commitments for which the effective interest rate cannot
be determined, the Group will apply a discount rate that
reflects the current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks that are specific to the cash flows but
only if, and to the extent that, the risks are taken into
account by adjusting the discount rate instead of adjusting
the cash shortfalls being discounted.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or caters for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped on the credit risk characteristics:

. Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE—Z— N F=A=+—HILtFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9
(2014) with transitions in accordance with Note 2) (Cont’d)

V)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Cont’d)

For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are
recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss
allowance determined in accordance with HKFRS 9
(2014); and the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amount of income recognised
over the guarantee period.

For undrawn loan commitments, the loss allowances are
the present value of the difference between:

(@)  the contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
if the holder of the loan commitment draws down
the loan; and

(b)  the cash flows that the Group expects to receive if
the loan is drawn down.

Except for loan commitments and financial guarantee
contracts, the Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of
trade debtors where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZ2=ZF—hF=A=+—HILtFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(before application of HKFRS 9 (2014) on 1st April, 2018)

Financial assets are classified into the following specified
categories: financial assets at amortised cost, financial assets at
FVTPL and financial assets at FVTOCI. The classification
depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and
is determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular way
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date/settlement date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

() Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms of the instrument give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short-term receivables where the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.

(ii)  Financial assets at FVTPL
Investments in equity instruments are classified as at

FVTPL, unless the Group designates such investment that
is not held for trading as FVTOCI on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HEZ=F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(before application of HKFRS 9 (2014) on 1st April, 2018)
(Cont’d)

(ii)

(iii)

Financial assets at FVTPL (Cont’d)

A financial asset is held for trading if it has been acquired
principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term or
it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost
criteria (see above) are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any gains or losses
arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss and
included in net (loss) gain on financial instruments.

Financial assets at FVTOCI

On initial recognition, the Group can make an
irrevocable election (on an instrument by instrument
basis) to designate investments in equity instruments as at
FVTOCI.

Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity
investment is held for trading.

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve.

The Group has designated certain investments in equity
investments (listed or unlisted) that are not held for
trading as at FVTOCI on initial application of HKFRS 9
(2009).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B 5 R B At

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 #E - —NF=A=+—HILtFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(before application of HKFRS 9 (2014) on 1st April, 2018)
(Cont’d)

(iii)  Financial assets at FVTOCI (Cont’d)

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to
receive the dividends is established in accordance with
HKAS 18, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends
earned are recognised in profit or loss and are included in
net (loss) gain on financial instruments.

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9
(2014) on 1st April, 2018)

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL and FVTOCI, are
assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each
reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired
where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial
assets have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

J significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

. breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

J it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

Objective evidence of impairment of trade debtors could
include the Group's past experience of collecting payments, an
increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio
past the average credit period of 60 days, observable changes
in national or local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HEZ=F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9
(2014) on 1st April, 2018) (Cont’d)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade debtors and other debtors and deposits,
where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When a
trade debtor or other debtors and deposits is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If
the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZ2=ZF—hF=A=+—HILtFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Derecognition of financial assets (Cont’d)

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at
FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in
the investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit
or loss, but is transferred to retained profits.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including creditors and deposits, amount
due to an associate, loan notes and bank and other borrowings)
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HEZ=F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity (Cont’d)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are initially measured at
their fair values. It is subsequently measured at the higher of:

(i) the amount of loss allowance as determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9 (2014) (since 1st April, 2018)/
HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets (before application of HKFRS 9 (2014) on 1st April,
2018); and

(ii)  the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligation are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the Directors are required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B 5 R B At

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 #E - —NF=A=+—HILtFE

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment loss on other loan receivables

As at 31st March, 2019 and Tst April, 2018 (upon the adoption
of HKFRS 9 (2014)), the carrying amounts of other loan
receivables were HK$753,559,000 and HK$787,191,000, net
of credit loss allowance of HK$101,141,000 and
HK$115,133,000, respectively.

The Group recognises a credit loss allowance for other loan
receivables by adopting the ECL model individually in the
current year. In calculating the credit loss allowance, the
internal credit ratings and the loss rates, which involve key
estimates from the management, are estimated based on the
credit quality of the debtors, a function of comparable
probability of default, recovery rate quoted from international
credit-rating agencies after adjustments to specific conditions
and exposure at default and adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

Valuation of investment properties

As at 31st March, 2019, investment properties are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at their fair values
of HK$922,000,000 (2018: HK$900,000,000).

The valuation of investment properties was based on valuation
on these properties conducted by independent professional
valuers using property valuation techniques which involve
certain assumptions of market conditions as disclosed in Note
16. Favourable or unfavourable changes to these assumptions
would result in changes in the valuation of the Group’s
investment properties and corresponding adjustments to the fair
value changes reported in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HEZ=F

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

Valuation of Level 3 suspended listed equity securities

As at 31st March, 2019, the fair value of the Level 3 suspended
listed equity securities carried in the consolidated statement of
financial position was zero (2018: Level 1 listed equity
securities of HK$205,920,000) as disclosed in Note 33(c). The
quoted closing price as at 31st March, 2019 was no longer
available following the suspension of trading of such listed
equity securities since 3rd September, 2018. Due to a lack of
quoted closing prices or recent transaction prices in the market,
the fair value of the suspended listed equity securities is
measured using a valuation technique with significant
unobservable inputs which involve certain significant
assumptions of the financial position and operational data of
the underlying business that required the management of the
Group to make significant estimates and judgment when
determining the fair value. During the year ended 31st March,
2019, fair value loss of HK$211,540,000 has been recognised
for the Level 3 suspended listed equity securities which were
carried at zero as at 31st March, 2019.

Amounts due from joint ventures and associates

As at 31st March, 2019, the carrying amounts of amounts due
from joint ventures and associates were HK$558,067,000
(2018: HK$709,349,000) and HK$16,686,000 (2018:
HK$9,097,000), respectively. The management of the Group
considers the credit risks on amounts due from associates and
joint ventures are limited with reference to underlying asset
values of respective associates and joint ventures, except for
certain amount due from a joint venture which is measured on
lifetime ECL basis as those credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The segment information reported externally was analysed on
the basis of the goods and services delivered or provided by the
Group’s operating divisions which is consistent with the
internal information that is regularly reviewed by the executive
directors, being the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM?"), for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of performance. This is also the basis of organisation
in the Group, whereby the management has chosen to organise
the Group around differences in products and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR MRS R MY A

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE=T—hF=A=+—HILtFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 5. ZERER )

The Group's reportable and operating segments are as follows: REE 2 A RE RLEDIRINT -

Property — development of and investment YES - MEEREERE
in properties

Hotel and leisure — development of, investment in BIERCER - BE RERKE
and operation of hotels B E & JE R
and resorts

Securities investments  —  trading and investment AR - BEEELEE
of securities

Finance — provision of loan B _ REEZEERE
financing services

Information regarding these segments is reported below: BZED Iz ERRENT ¢

For the year ended 31st March, 2019 BE-_E—-hE=A=1+—HLEE

Segment

results:

Share of profit

Operating Share of results (loss)

Segment (loss)  results of of joint Finance before
revenue profit  associates  ventures costs taxation

DS

gg  EEWE BHERE BRBLAD
AE (BR)ER LARXKR LARXE  MEER BN (ER)
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
A®TT BRTr BRTr  EMTxn  B¥Tz  B%Tx

(note a) (note b)

(MizEa) (HfED)
Property (note c) % (i) 14,325 (19,485) 628,951 (56,809)  (26,011) 526,646
Hotel and leisure (note d) /& K B (Bt d) 171,140 (23,886) (9,532) 65,025 (12,960) 18,647
Securities investments EEERE - (209,029) - - - (209,029)
Finance A 76,834 95,311 - - - 95,311
SEGMENT TOTAL D8 262,299  (157,089) 619,419 8,216 (38,971) 431,575
Unallocated AOEEBH - (147,563) - (60,156) (82,801)  (290,520)
GROUP TOTAL B 262,299  (304,652) 619,419 (51,940)  (121,772) 141,055
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ﬁ ﬁk #& i‘% M—J n_|I_
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 ===

D EER ()
NE=ZA=1t—HLFE

—NEFE=A=t—HIFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d) 5.

For the year ended 31st March, 2018 BE—T—

Segment

results:

Share of profit

Share of results (loss)

Segment ~ Operating  results of of joint Finance before

revenue  profit (loss)  associates ventures costs taxation

DERE

kg EEEE  EAERE BRBLA

PEME HN(ER) ARRE  RAFE  UBER EN(BR)

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT BT BT BETT BETT

(note a) (note b)

GETY (KtzEb)

Property (note ) % (M) 20280 303,518 104,058 41,291 (17,859) 431,008

Hotel and leisure (note d) ~ JE/E K AR (it d) 156,606 (29,748) (7,116) 97,102 (13,680) 46,558

Securities investments EEEE 520 (70,013) = = = (70,013)

Finance mE 69,219 73,975 = = = 73,975

SEGMENT TOTAL 7 W 246625 277,732 96,942 138,393 (31,539) 481,528

Unallocated RABHH - (148,156) - (67,7190 (82,027)  (297,902)

GROUP TOTAL B A 246,625 129,576 96,942 70,674 (113,566) 183,626

notes: Bt &E -

(@  Revenue as set out above comprised rental income, properties commission @  EXEHUEeFEESEA WEASK

income, building management fee income, hotel operation income, loan
financing income and dividend income from equity investments. All
segment revenue is from external customers.

A REEBEBRA BEEBERA - BEX
BERARBEREREWA - T8 D EPK
BHREINEES -

(b)  The aggregate of the segment results as set out above comprised the profit (b))  EXFESBEERERESSBZRBA
(loss) before taxation from each segment without allocation of certain A (ER) - BRDEE TEMEA 57
other income, gains and losses, certain administrative and other expenses, REER BETTRREMER  ETEGE
certain share of results of joint ventures and certain finance costs. ERREEARETUBHER -

() During the year ended 31st March, 2019, the segment result of property (© REEZZ-NAF=RA=+—HIEFE 9
segment included increase in fair value of investment properties of B2 AMBEECEREMHE 2 A TEE
HK$1,520,000 (2018: HK$274,606,000). B #1,520,0007( = F — )\ F B

274,606,000 7T.) ©
(d)  During the year ended 31st March, 2019, the segment result of hotel and d REE_Z-AF=A=+—HIFE B

leisure segment included share of increase in fair value of investment
properties held by a joint venture amounting to HK$52,000,000 (2018:
HK$80,000,000).

Annual Report 4 # @ 2018-2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B RS R I a

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZ=F

—NF=A=t—HIFE

5.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 3. The
CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments
based on the profit (loss) before taxation of the group entities
engaged in the respective segment activities which represents
the segment results. Segment results are analysed before
taxation whereas tax payable is allocated to operating segment
liabilities. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities
by reportable and operating segment:

Segment assets

7 RER (E)
i«‘%%ﬁ52§§+ﬁkfﬁéﬁiﬁiﬁi3ﬁﬁﬁt$%

BREE R TBREERREE
F?ﬁé%xﬁﬁﬁ“* BB KREER IR
BADE A (B51R) (A0 #R4E) AP fh R &
DEB 2RI - N EPEANIBR TR IAATE
IO MENHRBERDEEEE D
BE- HWHREBLERREERAH
BRD R KRB 256

THEEREE
AEBIZATREREEDHE D
REEIHFMT

ZEBE

Segment liabilities

APBEE ABEE

2019 2018 2019 2018

—E-NF —N\F Z=B-hF — N\

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

BET T BT T BT T BT T

Property L7JE 3 5,416,194 4,498,865 1,727,578 1,094,620

Hotel and leisure BIE KB 1,766,116 2,091,728 490,428 751,749

Securities investments BHIEE 191,914 388,384 4,096 4,042

Finance Fha 790,200 942,111 48 1,275

Segment total HEHEE 8,164,424 7,921,088 2,222,150 1,851,686

Unallocated: RO BEEB D

Bank balances and cash ~ #R7T4 ﬁ%&iﬁ@ 526,187 608,334 - =

Loan notes BEa=E - = 1,547,059 1,538,209
Accrued coupon interest EREIEEETREE

on loan notes - = 34,595 34,581

Others HAb 480,565 453,974 28,258 22,012

Total FEE 9,171,176 8,983,396 3,832,062 3,446,488

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ira SRR M

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZE=E—NF=A=+—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d) 5.
Segment assets and liabilities (Cont’d)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

e all assets are allocated to operating segments other than
certain property, plant and equipment, deposit paid for
acquisition of an associate, certain other non-current
assets, certain debtors, deposits and prepayments of the
corporate offices, certain interests in joint ventures,
certain amounts due from joint ventures and bank
balances and cash; and

e all liabilities, including tax payables, are allocated to
operating segments other than loan notes and its accrued
coupon interest, certain creditors, deposits and accrued
charges and obligations under finance leases of the
corporate offices.

Other segment information

Additions to property, Depreciation

plant and equipment and of property,

investment properties plant and equipment

I /E R LV ET N BRK

2019 2018 2019 2018
S A L T e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

7 EER ()
THEEREE(E)
REEDMBRARDIEDHEER

s MBEEANRELENE  HE
THE - EHERE - WE R
BRAZENEE FTHMIFR
BEE B ETRUEER 1R
EREMNFKE  ETREERARLZ
Rz B TRIRAE AR IRER
TRERASHRIN &

s MABRB(BREEANEBE)ANER
RENE  HEFREBRMEEFE
B RBzETENESR B2k
FERTFISCIA K B B TR EAHERRD -

Hitb &R

Increase
in fair value of

investment properties Interest income

REMEATESEM FEKA
2019 2018 2019 2018
—E-AE ZF\F ZB-AE TR
HK$'000  HK§'000  HK§'000  HK$§'000

BMTT  A%TT BMTR ETR

BBTr A% E¥TR BETro

Property mE 32,102 41,580 20,536 16,229 1,520 274,606 21,206 20,086
Hotel and leisure TEE ROEE 653 76 11,609 11,781 - - 7,990 19,822
Securities investments EHRE - = - = - - - 400
Finance BB - = - = - = 80,957 74,032

32,755 41,656 32,145 28,010 1,520 274,606 110,153 114,340
Unallocated APEHH 1,510 4,621 2,425 2,434 - - 3,297 1,842
Total ot 34,265 46,277 34,570 30,444 1,520 274,606 113,450 116,182
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R RMN R

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE=T—hF=A=+—HILtFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d) 5. OEERE)
Geographical information it & &K
The Group’s revenue from external customers based on REFEREINERE 2 M RMERR
location of properties and goods delivered or services delivered, RS9k RFE 2 HBEEI D) LA R A B E iR
and information about its non-current assets, excluding BEERMNEBEZ D ZIERBEE (B
financial assets, by physical location of the assets are detailed SREE) BRI ¢
below:

Revenue from Carrying amount of
external customers non-current assets
REMEEF 2 W@ FRBEEZIREE

2019 2018 2019 2018

—®-NE -“T)\F Z¥-hE -“T)\F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
AMTRE  E%TT  BETRE  AKTx

Hong Kong a5 251,389 233,325 2,687,970 2,660,292
Macau JEPY - = 1,543,931 1,151,135
PRC 2] - - 519,365 450,331
Canada mEXR - - 567,733 583,709
Others Eh 10,910 13,300 41,613 95,747
262,299 246,625 5,360,612 4,941,214
Information about major customers FEXERFZEHR
During the year, the Group had two customers (2018: one REEAR  AEEEMERF (TN
customer) with whom transactions have exceeded 10 per cent F:—BEP) 2R HBEARERRGRE
(“%") of the Group's revenue. #B10% °

2019 2018
—E-hEF —FE-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT

Customer A — Finance BEFA-FE 47,500 47,500

Customer B (note) — Hotel and leisure EEB (M) - BIE MOERE 38,657 N/A i R

note: Revenue from this customer contributed less than 10% of the Group’s iz - kaEPzWREAEFBHE_E— N\F
total revenue for the year ended 31st March, 2018. ZA=Z+—RHUEFEZBRELR10% °

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ EEMESERRAR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B RS RR M A

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZE—Z— A F=F=+—HAILtFE

6. REVENUE 6. Wik
A.  For the year ended 31st March, 2019 A. BEZE-NFZA=+—-HLFE
(i)  Disaggregation of revenue (i) WESE

2019
ZEB-hF
HK$’000
BT
Revenue from contracts with customers: BEEEHWA :
Property L/ES
Revenue from building management fee income R AEE 2B A 2 Iz 912
Revenue from properties commission income KEMERS WA Z R 2,099
Hotel and leisure JB I R JE B
Revenue from hotel accommodation BEETE 2 Wan 145,659
Revenue from food catering operation EREB 2 W 25,481
174,151
Revenue from other sources: REEHMIRRA :
Rental income B WA 11,314
Interest revenue from loan financing EXEE N EUWA 76,834
Total st 262,299
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B 5 R B At

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZ=F

—HhE=ZA=t—RLFE

6. REVENUE (Cont’d)
A.  For the year ended 31st March, 2019 (Cont'd)

(ii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Revenue from building management fee income
The Group provides building management services
to customers. Such services are recognised as a
performance obligation satisfied over time as the
customers simultaneously receive and consume the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs.

The Group receives payment of building management
fee at the beginning of each month according to
contract terms.

Revenue from properties commission income
Revenue from properties commission income is
recognised at a point in time when the related sale
and purchase agreements are signed.

The Group applies the practical expedient of
expensing all incremental costs to obtain a contract
if these costs would otherwise have been fully
amortised to profit or loss within one year.

The Group receives payment when the property
transactions have been completed.

Revenue from hotel accommodation and food
catering operation

The Group’s revenue contracts with customers
consist of hotel accommodation which is
recognised as a performance obligation satisfied
over time and food catering operation which is
recognised at a point in time.

The transaction price for such transactions is
recorded as revenue when the good or service is
transferred or rendered to the customer during their
stay at the hotel or when the delivery is made for
food and beverage.

For hotel accommodation, individual customers are
billed as incurred. The normal credit term for travel
agents is 60 days upon rendering of services.

For food catering operation, payment of the
transaction is due immediately at the point when
the customer consumes the food and beverage.

6. W (&)

A, BE-E-NF=ZA=1+—-HLHF
E (%)
(i) BFEFEXNZBEHEE

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B RS RR M A

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZE=Z—NF=A=+—HILFE

6. REVENUE (Cont'd) 6. W (#)
A.  For the year ended 31st March, 2019 (Cont’d) A, BE-ZE-NF=ZA=+-HLHF
E (&)
(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining (i) PEHZEEFEHNZFEGEY
performance obligation for contracts with BEREZXEERK
customers
All the revenue from contracts with customers are ERBEFaBZKRmZ
for periods of one year or less. As permitted under FHAE—FHUAT - HBFH
HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these IS EERFE 155 FT
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed. AW ERBEIREZFR
BT HEIE -
B.  For the year ended 31st March, 2018 B. BE-—T-N\F=ZA=+—-HL#HF
E
An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as REBFARZEDWTHT -
follows:

2018
— N\
HK$'000
BETT
Rental income el A 16,436
Properties commission income MERSEA 3,420
Building management fee income AREEBEERA 424
Revenue from property segment ESa L& 20,280
Revenue from hotel and leisure segment B E KO B 5 88 2 Yaas 156,606
Revenue from securities investments segment BHILE DBz Wk (e
representing dividend income from equity BEZREWAN)
investments 520
Revenue from finance segment representing loan && 7 28U zE (FEE 7K F BULA)
interest income 69,219

246,625
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 #Z—=

7o

e MR R

W N

—HhE=ZA=t—RLFE

NET LOSS ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

THMITAEEEFHE

2019 2018
—E-hFE T N\F

HK$'000
BT T

HK$’000
BT

Decrease in fair values of financial BRATFEIRERGABR S
assets at FVTPL: BEZRNFHERD
— held at the end of the reporting - R EBAREEA (i)
period (note)
— disposed of during the year -RAFEALE

Dividend income from equity investments 3k 5 B &R & 2 I B A

note:

During the year ended 31st March, 2019, the decrease in fair values of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss was mainly due to a fair value loss of
HK$211,540,000 recognised for the investment in 62,504,706 shares in SMI
Holdings Group Limited (“SMI Shares”), which listed equity securities have been
suspended. Following the suspension of trading since 3rd September, 2018 and
due to a lack of quoted closing prices or recent transaction prices in the market,
the quoted closing price was no longer available and thus the fair value of SMI
Shares was measured using a valuation technique with significant unobservable
inputs performed by independent professional valuers.

As disclosed in the announcement of SMI Holdings Group Limited (“SMI”) dated
2nd June, 2019, SMI was still short of sufficient working capital to support its
business operations where considerable amount of wages, rent and license fees
were in arrears, and no agreement or material terms in relation to its debt
restructuring have been entered into or agreed. The fair value loss was arrived
based on the valuation report from the independent professional valuer.

Details of the valuation technique and inputs used to determine the fair value of
the suspended listed equity securities are disclosed in Note 33(c).

(188,766) (67,853)
(19,142) (2,054)
(207,908) (69,907)
- 520
(207,908) (69,387)

B -

REBEE-T-NF=A=1+—BILLEE KATFE
ﬁlJﬁE&quMaﬁnZ%mﬁéféz NEERSEBERA
RIER62,504,706% 2 EEREEFRAFMKRMD ([ 2
ERH ) 2BRE(BEREEN EMRAFSR) QT
EE18E%211,540,000 THB - B=ZT—N\FHA
“HEFEER% mMAmS LERZ KM RESTH
RGERE - FIAZBTRETTE  ARREEE
BipZ AT ERBY BEGHEMEARNE TR
WEIE 2 EEF AT E -

MNEXZEREMERARTEXD)RHR=-Z
—NERAZAZAMHAHRE  EXNARZEH
LBEESUIRBERBEE  ETREERREL
A HekREER A EEBEALETLH
ARMERAGR - AEERE-BBEIEEXME
Eﬁiﬁﬁé’%ﬁZﬁﬁ?E%ﬁE RRFEEE -

EXEEEER LTRERESF 2 ATEMAMKES
ERBABEZ FHBERIRE330RE -

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 ===

—NEFE=A=t—HIFE

OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 8. HMKA - #RREE
2019 2018
—E-hF —N\%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
B¥TT BT T
Bank interest income RITA EUA 3,297 1,842
Consultancy fee income ESE-TON 9,480 13,480
Net foreign exchange gain (loss) BE 5 WS (B518) F 58 1,415 (17,171)
Interest income on amounts due from Y& & A EIFIE 2 FILE WA
joint ventures (Note 39(i)) (FF7E390)) 29,196 39,908
Other interest income H A F 2 WA 4,123 5,213
Exchange differences arising on Rt — M B AR mES
deregistration of a subsidiary EHER - 2,785
Others HAth 1,298 9,958
48,809 56,015
FINANCE COSTS 9. FMBEH
2019 2018
—E-hE — )\
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
Effective interest on loan notes (Note 27) ,T,)\mﬁ'é,z ERRFE (BsE27) 82,764 82,017
Interest on bank and other borrowings TREMEBEEZFE 45,527 35,651
Interest on obligations under finance leases Eﬂﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁk%Zﬂ% 37 10
Total borrowing costs REERA 128,328 117,678
Less: amounts capitalised in qualifying W NEENMEGHZEEZ
assets REEE (6,556) (4,112)
121,772 113,566
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR MRS R MY A

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE=Z—NF=A=+—HILFE

10. TAXATION 10. BB

Hong Kong Profits Tax: FENEH

Current tax AREAFL IR

Overprovision in prior years BEFEREEE
United Kingdom Corporation Tax: REDER

Underprovision in prior years BEFERBETRE

For the year ended 31st March, 2019, Hong Kong Profits Tax of
the qualified entity of the Group was calculated in accordance
with the two-tiered profits tax rates regime (i.e. the first HK$2
million of profits of a qualifying group entity to be taxed at
8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million to be taxed at 16.5%),
while the profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime continued to be taxed at a flat rate
of 16.5% (2018: 16.5%).

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions was calculated at the
rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

2019 2018
—E-hEF

—E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T

984 1,556
(27) (79)
957 1,477
208 -
1,165 1,477

REBEE-_ZTE—AF=ZA=+—HLHF
B AEEZAERERNETEFER
TOIR B M AR I A AS F R b E Rt & (B —
FERZEBERZEN B
2,000,000 JTT #5322 8.25% 2 T R EFL »
BB B # 2,000,000 7T 2 5% F BI1% 16.5%
ZRRERET) - TREE MR RS R
EERZEEBEER Z & F B4 &%
16.5% 2 8l — B EHB(ZT — /\F :
16.5%) °

REMBNEEEREELE 2HRIBNIEEH
/Qi @EZ%RTu‘fé °©

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B RS RR M A

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZE=Z—NF=A=+—HILFE

TAXATION (Cont’d)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as follows:

10. BIE (&)
AFEERBEYHHESAEZMEME2E
WHRFTR B AT 2 SR T ¢

2019 2018
—EB-hEFE ZZ)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T
Profit before taxation R A5 B A 141,055 183,626
Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate at BB FER T L 16.5%1E
16.5% 2 Fi1E 23,274 30,298
Tax effect of share of results of joint NN NN /NI E
ventures and associates 2GR E (93,634) (27,657)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for — Na[ T B 2 Fii5 52 £
tax purpose 14,179 4,827
Tax effect of income not taxable for BAERBBAZ s 2
tax purpose (14,130) (62,023)
Under(over)provision in prior years BEFEEET R (BEREE) 181 79)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERMBEBRMBHE 75,635 62,355
Utilisation of tax losses previously not BASEATRER 2 HIREE (M)
recognised (note) (2,155) (2,979)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries ﬁéﬁ{&‘j‘\j&%@%l:i«‘ & B AR
operating in other jurisdictions HERRzHE (2,000) (3,265)
Income tax at concessionary rate RERMREAE Z B (185) -
Tax charge for the year REFEHIA A 1,165 1,477

note: During the year ended 31st March, 2019, the tax losses utilised were

HK$13,061,000 (2018: HK$18,055,000).

&2 g
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR MRS R MY A

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE=Z—NF=A=+—HILFE

11. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 11. NEERF

2019
—E-hEF

HK$'000
BT T

Profit for the year has been arrived at after NG & & F| 21k (FTA) ¢
charging (crediting):

2018

—E-N\F

HK$’000

BETT

Auditors’ remuneration ZEED BN &
— current year -REE 6,542 5,908
— (over)underprovision in previous years — — B FE (BEEEE) BETR (182) 107
6,360 6,015
Directors’ emoluments (Note 12(a)) EE2M< (HFE120@) 46,114 44,158
Other staff costs: H M8 TR
Salaries and other benefits e LEMER 126,934 114,333
Equity-settled share-based VARR 1 45 S ARR 19 FZ RS2 f+F
payment expense FIAR X 1,217
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 3R k4@ Fl| 51 21 it 7% 5,177 5,095
Total staff costs B TR 179,442 163,586
Gross rental income FREE VN (11,314) (16,436)
Less: direct operating expenses that B FAEERESRA
generated rental income ZHEEEEMX
during the year 3,288 3,499
(8,026) (12,937)
Depreciation of property, plant M - W REBITE
and equipment 34,570 30,444
Cost of inventories recognised as TRAEMAS 2 FEKA
an expense 8,436 8,525
Loss (gain) on disposal/written off of HE M TEE - B R
property, plant and equipment B () 91 (924)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B RS RR M A

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZE—Z— A F=F=+—HAILtFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS 12, BERIEABASMEURES

AND HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS AL

(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments @ EBEERIETHAE#MS
Details of the emoluments paid or payable to each of the ERSKENNEG(ZE—N\FE: N\
eight (2018: eight) Directors including chief executive for ZVEE(BETETHAR) 2B
their services rendered for the Group are as follows: SHBEORT ¢

Other emoluments

EtbBe

Discretionary
and
performance Equity-settled  Retirement
Salaries related  share-based benefits
and other incentive payment scheme Total

benefits  payments expense contributions  emoluments
HiERR  NRESE
Fek  REAB  URGEL  BHER
e  HEEN ZEE XARERX  HEHR HEARE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT  BMTr  EMTR BT B%TR  B%Tx

(note i)

(Brati)
2019 “E-NE
Executive Directors HTEE
Cheung Hon Kit REM 10 3,480 16,000 829 7 20,326
Chan Fut Yan (note i) ~ BR# 2 (t5Eii) 10 3,240 4,500 414 324 8,488
Cheung Chi Kit R 10 2,280 2,800 237 114 5,441
Chan Yiu Lun, Alan [y 10 2,640 3,500 178 18 6,346
Wong Lai Shun, Benny =) 10 2,280 2,000 178 114 4,582
Independent BUFHITEE

Non-executive Directors

Chan Pak Cheong Afonso B # 300 - - 36 - 336
Kwok Ka Lap, Alva v 200 - - 36 - 236
Shek Lai Him, Abraham A% 300 - - 59 - 359

850 13,920 28,800 1,967 577 46,114
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR MRS R MY A

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 B Z—Z— N &=F=+—RAItFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS 12, EENFETHRAEMEUERES
AND HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Cont’d) FRAL (2
(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Cont’d) @ EBEERTIETHAEME(E)

Other emoluments

Hitife
Discretionary
and
performance Retirement
Salaries related benefits
and other incentive scheme Total
benefits payments  contributions  emoluments
Hek EERERR RN EN
HiiaA Bz %8 TR MemsE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BB BETT BB
(note i)
GED)
2018 —B-N\E
Executive Directors HITEE
Cheung Hon Kit REMR 10 3,480 16,000 18 19,508
Chan Fut Yan (note ii) BRE%E (MIEEii) 10 3,240 4,500 324 8,074
Cheung Chi Kit REG 10 2,280 2,800 114 5,204
Chan Yiu Lun, Alan FRiEE 10 2,640 3,500 18 6,168
Wong Lai Shun, Benny =128 10 2,280 2,000 114 4,404

Independent Non-executive Directors B F#77EE

Chan Pak Cheong Afonso BEE 300 - - - 300

Kwok Ka Lap, Alva LiEav) 200 - - - 200

Shek Lai Him, Abraham ayE 300 - _ _ 300

850 13,920 28,600 568 44,158

notes: M aE

(i) The amounts included discretionary and performance related (i) ZEHEBEAMEFEEREREBEK
incentive payments which are determined with reference to the BEE  AARBEAIBLETESLS
Group's operating results, individual performance and comparable AHEEE o RIERERRBHG
market statistics for both years. )

(ii) Mr. Chan Fut Yan is considered as chief executive of the Company (ii) PR B E AR AR AR 2 EET
and his emoluments disclosed above include those for services BAE W EXFBEENEBERIES
rendered by him as the chief executive. FETBRABUERZ RS -

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HEZ=F

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS
AND HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Cont’d)

(@)

(b)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Cont’d)
The executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The emoluments of the independent non-executive
Directors shown above were for their services as
Directors.

There was no arrangement under which a Director or the
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during both years.

Employees’ emoluments

The employees’ emoluments are based on their
qualifications and experience, job nature and
performance, and under the pay scales aligned with
market conditions.

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in
the Group, five (2018: five) were Directors whose
emoluments are included in the disclosures in Note 12(a)
above.

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the five highest paid Directors, as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

& MR R M

A

—NE=ZA=t—RALFE

12. EERTETHRAEMEURERS
HFMA L&)

(@)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR MRS R MY A

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE=Z—NF=A=+—HILFE

13. DISTRIBUTION 13. 2K

2019 2018
—E-hEF

—E-N\F
HK$’000
BT T

HK$'000
BT T

RANFEEERIED R ZABE -

Dividends recognised as distributions
during the year:

First interim dividend, paid for the year
ended 31st March, 2019 — HK10 cents
(first interim dividend, paid for the year

BRAHE=Z—

NF=AH
=t—HLEFEZE—RTH
BB - BB 10781l

ended 31st March, 2018: HK10 cents) (BRMEZ=_ZE—N\F
per share ZA=+—HILFEZ
—RAPEARRE - 107840) 97,204 91,447
Second interim dividend, paid for the year 2 R{FEZE —ZT— N\4F
ended 31st March, 2018 — HK12 cents =A=+—HItFEEZFE =
(final dividend, paid for the year ended REIRR S - BARAR D 1284l
31st March, 2017: HK12 cents) per share  (BIRMEHEZE T —+F
—AZT—HIEFEZRE
ARE  12740) 112,526 106,477
209,730 197,924
Dividends in form of: REFE :
— Cash -He 125,990 61,102
— Scrip shares (Note 30(b) & (c)) — AR AR (B EE30(b) B2 (<)) 83,740 136,822
209,730 197,924
Dividends declared in respect of the year: ZAREELD EfﬂiZHﬁL g
— Second interim dividend declared -BEEREE=ZZ—NF
for the year ended 31st March, 2019 =A=+— El EFEEZ
— HK12 cents (second interim FIRFRHRES -
dividend for the year ended BRRARG 12 810
31st March, 2018: HK12 cents) (HEZZE—N\F
per share ZA=+T—RHILFEZ
FETIRBERE - 1278(00) 116,108 112,526

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Board has RAMEIKR V12 EESDHA0E
resolved to declare a second interim dividend of HK12 cents T EFE—-—hE=A=+—HILEETE
per share for the year ended 31st March, 2019, which will be FE_RPHREEIRIEH 12511 - IEE
payable in cash, with an alternative to elect scrip dividend of WPV SR - MR EUER B R D
shares, in respect of all or part of such dividend. The second DREEIPRBOBEBIRE - F -k
interim dividend was calculated by reference to the HEBEE2ENARE A 2B T
967,563,943 issued shares outstanding as at the date of this 19 967,563,943 fRT & -

report.

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR



14.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ira SRR M

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZE—Z— A F=F=+—HAILtFE

EARNINGS PER SHARE 14.

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

BREFN
ARAREB ANEEGRERNRETEF
THRERA T 8UIRETE

2019 2018
—g-nFE -FNE

HK$’000 HK$’000

Earnings: B :

BET T BETT

Profit for the year attributable to owners ~ F{EsTEBRERREERF 2
of the Company for the purpose of basic AR BB A FEIGAEE 3 F

and diluted earnings per share

140,583 182,488

Number of shares: REE :

Weighted average number of shares for ~ FB{ESt EERERREERT] 2
the purpose of basic and diluted nEFHERNE R
earnings per share

The effect of the exercise of the Company’s share options was
not taken into consideration for computing the diluted earnings
per share for the years ended 31st March, 2019 and 2018 as
the exercise price of those share options was higher than the
average market price for shares.

Annual Report 4 # @ 2018-2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

%= A

N

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZ=F

15.

o MR R M A

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

COST

At st April, 2017

Exchange adjustments

Additions

Transfer from investment
properties (Note 16)

Disposals/written off

At 31st March, 2018
Exchange adjustments
Additions
Disposals/written off

At 31st March, 2019

DEPRECIATION

At st April, 2017

Exchange adjustments

Provided for the year

Eliminated on disposals/
written off

At 31st March, 2018

Exchange adjustments

Provided for the year

Eliminated on disposals/
written off

At 31st March, 2019

CARRYING VALUE
At 31st March, 2019

At 31st March, 2018

B
RZZE—+FNA—H
A%

NE
BREAKENE
(BtiE16)

HE /M

RZZ-\F=HA=T—H
5 R

E

HE /s

R-E-NF=A=t-H

HE
R-_E—+ENA—H
A%

REE R

HER /i

R-Z-\F=A=t1—H
I 5

RERRE

HER W

RZE-N$=A=1-H

RAEE
R-F-NF=R=t-H

—E-\E=A=1—H

—NF=A=t—HIFE

15. Y% - EWRRE

Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures
land and Leasehold and Motor

buildings  improvements equipment vehicles Total

HELi HE G- %£E
RET NEEE e RE M@t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
/%M%T_E /%Wm%:FT_E /}éﬁ%%ﬁ /am:FTE /Em:FTE
835,484 2,740 5,033 16,721 859,978
- 112 143 218 473
14,477 1,018 1,365 4,023 20,883
154,000 = = = 154,000
- (1,124) (439) (6,899) (8,462)
1,003,961 2,746 6,102 14,063 1,026,872
- (89) (81) (81) (251)
11,417 12 1911 445 13,785
- (208) (536) - (744)
1,015,378 2,461 7,396 14,427 1,039,662
43,953 2,650 3,629 9,337 59,569
- 66 68 165 299
27,196 163 722 2,363 30,444
- (1,124) (423) (5,479) (7,026)
71,149 1,755 3,996 6,386 83,286
- 31 (30) (24) (85)
31,218 360 1,062 1,930 34,570
- (208) (445) - (653)
102,367 1,876 4,583 8,292 117,118
913,011 585 2,813 6,135 922,544
932,812 991 2,106 7,677 943,586

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ EEMESERRAR



15.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR BTSRRI R

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE—Z— N F=A=+—HILtFE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are

depreciated on a straight-line basis, taking into account their

residual values, as follows:

Leasehold land and buildings 50 years or the remaining
term of the relevant
lease, if shorter

Leasehold improvements 3 years or the remaining
term of the relevant
lease, if shorter

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 to 5 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

The leasehold land and buildings shown above are located in
Hong Kong under long leases.

At 31st March, 2019, the carrying values of furniture, fixtures
and equipment of the Group included an amount of
approximately HK$553,000 (2018: HK$132,000) in respect of
assets held under finance leases.

The Group has pledged leasehold land and buildings with
carrying values of approximately HK$909,613,000 (2018:
HK$929,200,000) to secure general banking facilities granted
to the Group.

15.

Annual Report & 5§ @ 2018-2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

W N

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZ=F

16.

B 7% ¥ 3R I =

—NF=A=t—HIFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Completed investment properties

16. BEWHE
EERREYE

HK$'000
BT

FAIR VALUE DEE

At Tst April, 2017 R-ZB—tFMA—HR 754,000
Additions INE 25,394
Transfer to property, plant and equipment (note b) ~ BEE = W% - AR K 3245 (BIREDb) (154,000)
Increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss MNIBESHER 2 A BN 274,606
At 31st March, 2018 RZE—N\F=A=+—H 900,000
Additions INE 20,480
Increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss RERHERZ A FEEN 1,520
At 31st March, 2019 RZZE-NF=A=+—H 922,000
notes: Bt E

(@) The investment properties shown above are located in Hong Kong and @  AERTRERBEYMFEROUREERRBERSAE

(b)

(d

held under long leases.

The valuation of investment properties at 31st March, 2019 was performed
by Asset Appraisal Limited, independent professional valuers not
connected with the Group.

During the year ended 31st March, 2018, investment properties with
carrying amount of HK$154,000,000 were transferred to property, plant
and equipment as the management had changed the use of the properties
to owner occupation purpose. The properties were valued by RHL
Appraisal Limited, independent professional valuers not connected with
the Group, at the date of transfer on the basis of direct comparison method
and it was concluded that the carrying amounts approximated to their fair
values at the date of transfer.

At 31st March, 2019 and 2018, all of the Group'’s investment properties
had been pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group.

The unrealised gain on property revaluation recognised in profit or loss for
the year amounted to HK$1,520,000 (2018: HK$250,606,000) which was
arisen from the investment properties held at the end of the reporting
period.

(b)

(d)

HFEA e

REMER-_T-NF=RA=t+—HZMHE
HEARE %Elﬁ@z}%ié%ﬁﬁﬁﬂmﬂ%&
EREMMEERERABETHE -

BE-_Z-—N\GF=A=+—HILFE ' KA
EAE 154,000,000 T 2 A MEERES
ME - WRRSE REAEEECEWE
ReR2AER BEEMELRRAEEHRE
B 2 B B ER KA TTHEREMAR
ARARERE BRAEELEUREITHE
WiSTHAERE AREREREQATERE 2L

oo

oy

RZFB-NER=F-N\F=A=+—AR"
ARBE2HREY RN - (ERARE R
BERITRE 2 R o

REBRERZFARERYEE (G nHRE
#1,520,000L( = T — )\ F: & ¥
250,606,0007T) JY R E BAIRIFE MR E
MIEFTEE -

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR



16.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B RS RR M A

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZE—Z— A F=F=+—HAILtFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont’d) 16. WEWHXE (&)
Followings are the key inputs used in valuing the investment LFTE-—E—hER_ZET—N\E=FA
properties as at 31st March, 2019 and 2018: =+ —HREYWEGERATEHAHR
=
Relationship of
Fair value Key unobservable  Range or unobservable inputs
Category hierarchy Fair value as at Valuation techniques inputs weighted average to fair value
TEREBE BEIBEUANE
Lol APESS RTSIBHZATE  fERE PN ¢ HEANETHH EATEZBRE
31.3.2019 31.3.2018
ZB-nf z
ZA=t-H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BETT
Commercial properties Level 3 922,000 900,000 Direct Comparison Method - Adjusting factors on ~ Adjusting factors  The higher the
in Hong Kong £ based on the average locations and ranging from 97%  adjusting factor, the
ERBADE market observable conditions t0119%(2018:  higher the fair value
transactions of similar EHHRARAZE  rangingfom85% HEEEEME AT
properties after applying ~ E% to 114%) EdE
adjusting factors to reflect BEEENT97%
the conditions and E119%(ZF-N
locations of the subject ENTFH%E
properties 114%)
RABREARBERY
RIRREEERER
B AR DL
RHFRERLRE
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement of investment FE=MATEASVIREYEEENT ¢

properties is as follows:

HK$'000
BT T

At Tst April, 2017 RZZE—+tFmMH—H 748,000

Additions NE 25,394

Transfer to property, plant and equipment BREDE  BWMERE (148,000)
Increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss IR R 2 A FEE N 274,606

At 31st March, 2018 R-FB-N\F=A=1+—H 900,000

Additions INE 20,480

Increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss RERER 2 A TEIG M 1,520

At 31st March, 2019 RZZE-—hF=A=+—H 922,000

In determining the fair value of the relevant properties, the RETHEBEYFE 2 AFER  EEKT
Directors have set up a valuation team to determine the HEEK  NETBEAAFETE2ME
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value B K AEE -

measurements.

Annual Report 4 # @ 2018-2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Z.—H

N

B M B HmR M

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE=Z—NF=A=+—HILFE

16.

17.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont'd) 16.
There were no changes from the valuation technique used in
the prior year.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and
best use of the properties is their current use.

EQUITY AND FUND INVESTMENTS 17.

BREWE (&)
PrRAfSE AR A F LW EEE) -
RAFER » E=RALEEAREL -

WEFMEZATER  DEZ&EER
RERERBAAE -

RERESRE

2019 2018
—®-nE —T-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BT T

Listed equity securities in Hong Kong BB LTRAES
Unlisted equity securities in overseas BINE ETHRRANE
Unlisted investment funds in overseas BINELTIREES
Analysed as: DR
Current ik 2l
Non-current FERE
Classified as: DS
FVTOCI BRFESIR AT AR A
2 HEME
FVTPL BEAFEIIRERT ABR

The fair values of the listed securities are determined based on
the closing prices quoted in active markets in Hong Kong.

The above unlisted equity securities and unlisted investment
funds represent investments in securities and funds issued by
private entities incorporated in overseas and are measured at
fair value.

69,113 351,016
27,200 30,300
95,596 7,062
191,909 388,378
121,816 277,745
70,093 110,633
191,909 388,378
62,243 103,571
129,666 284,807
191,909 388,378

M2 N FEDREEEETISM
HUHEREE

LA ETRAESRIFLTREES
ERBINEMAL 2 FLABBBATETTE
HFRESZRERBAFENE -

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B RS RR M A

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZE—Z— A F=F=+—HAILtFE

EQUITY AND FUND INVESTMENTS (Cont’d) 17. BERESKRE(#)
During the year ended 31st March, 2018, the Group has HE—_ZFT—N\FE=A _+—E|JJ:$F
disposed of and subscribed for the shares of South Shore REBLHENZAEEEEEBER A
Holdings Limited (“South Shore”), being equity investments (Tm&E) Z &M, (B4 EE’WQZEEIJEE
designated at FVTOCI, at fair value of HK$6,545,000 and Kt AR mEKzE 2 BERE) A F
HK$112,277,000, respectively. Details were disclosed in the 8 9 Bl & 7 #6,545,0007C K &
announcement of the Company dated 19th March, 2018. As a 112,277,000 7¢ ° sIEERANA T B E A
result of the disposal, cumulative losses of HK$304,108,000 —E-NEFE=A+HILBZARIEE- &
were transferred from the investment revaluation reserve to the THEEBE%B Z2HEFEEEK
retained profits. 304,108,000 T T A EAHIBERE
REEM o

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES/AMOUNTS DUE FROM 18, RA& AT 2% FERES% AT
JOINT VENTURES Mg

2019 2018
—B-AE  ZFN\F

HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BETIT

Cost of unlisted investment in joint ventures A& &R AIIEETIRE Z KA 1,784,386 1,573,475
Share of post-acquisition results and other B REE N EMEE
comprehensive expense, net of dividend FS - HBRAR R (605,053) (484,911)
1,179,333 1,088,564
Amounts due from joint ventures (note) UL E &N | sk IE (I FE) 684,220 923,850
Less: Impairment loss R OREEE (11,022) (11,022)
Less: Share of post-acquisition losses that B EBHIRE KA 2 G YR
are in excess of cost of investment B8 (115,131) (203,479)
558,067 709,349
Analysed as: DA
Current e - 274,155
Non-current IERED 558,067 435,194
558,067 709,349

Annual Report 4 # @ 2018-2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR I A

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 #E - —NF=A=+—HILtFE

18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES/AMOUNTS DUE FROM
JOINT VENTURES (Cont’d)
note: The amounts were non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and had

no fixed term of repayment, except for,

(i) an amount of Canadian dollar (“CAD”) 24,647,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$144,877,000) (2018: CAD22,658,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$137,625,000)) which carried
fixed interest rate of 15% (2018: 15%) per annum, and was

repayable on 1st March, 2022; and

(ii) as at 31st March, 2018, an amount of HK$276,765,000 due from
a joint venture which carried fixed interest rate of 7% per annum
and was repayable on demand. It was fully repaid during the

current year.

The management did not expect to recover the amounts of
HK$558,067,000 (2018: HK$435,194,000) within twelve months from
the end of the reporting period. Therefore, such amounts were classified

as non-current assets.

During the year ended 31st March, 2019, the Group capitalised the
amounts due from joint ventures of HK$156,087,000 (2018: Nil) as cost

of investment in these joint ventures.

The Group’s material joint ventures at the end of the reporting
period include 1488 Alberni Development Holdings Limited
Partnership (“1488 Alberni LPDH”), 1488 Alberni Investment
Limited Partnership (“1488 Alberni LP1”), Bayshore Ventures JV
Ltd. (“Bayshore”), More Cash Limited (“More Cash”), More Star
Limited (“More Star”) and Star Trail Limited (“Star Trail”). All of
the Group’s joint ventures were accounted for using equity
method in these consolidated financial statements.

The financial year end date for Bayshore is 31st December. For
the purpose of applying the equity method of accounting, the
consolidated financial statements of Bayshore for the year
ended 31st December, 2018 (2018: 31st December, 2017)
have been used as the Group considers that it is impracticable
for Bayshore to prepare a separate set of financial statements as
of 31st March. Appropriate adjustments have been made
accordingly for the effects of significant transactions between
that date and 31st March, 2019.

REERRIZER BREE QT

FRIE (&)

[k AEREAEEDIEE  WER  LBRE
BB -

(i) BECHNEE (T 0% 1) 24,647,000 7T (48
B R 47 #144,877,000L ) (= F
—\& : % 22,658,000 7T (& R
#97%137,625,000 7T )) Z RIB IR E
EFEMEISE(ZT—NF:15F)
e BAR-Z-_—4#=F—BH
B R

(i) RZZBE-—NF=ZA=+—H A&H
#276,765,000 7T FE L —fE & & A A
ZHORREEFENE7EAE - BA
RERKEE - BEFERAEEEH
Bi& -

B 13 E 78 B 5% 58 R U 15 558,067,000
(=T — \4F : #&%435,194,0000) T &
RS BAREF =@ A AlkE - Bt - %
ERBENBERIERBEE -

HE_Z-HhF=-A=+—HLLFE K&
E 5 FE U & & A 7] #Y 308 7S B8 156,087,000
T(ZE—N\F B)ERERZZEER
RIS AR AN o

AEBRBERRZETESRLERAEHE
1488 Alberni Development Holdings
Limited Partnership ([ 1488 Alberni
LPDH]) + 1488 Alberni Investment
Limited Partnership ([ 1488 Alberni
LP1]) - Bayshore Ventures JV Ltd.
([Bayshore]) » More Cash Limited
([More Cash]) * More Star Limited
([More Star|) % Star Trail Limited ([ Star
Traill) - X"EERAE S L RRIRNZEFLR
B BHRREAEREALR -

Bayshorex AN F EF & A &+ = A
=t—H -BERAEZSEANS - A
A 7N 5= [ 3R & Bayshore A B AR R = A
=T —BZMBRRENNER - Bit
¥ ABayshore B Z =T — \F += A
=t+—HUEFECE-N\F: ZT—+
FTZA=+—H)ZEEMBHRK - A
AAERZBAHE_T-HF=H
=T -BZBZERRSGZEMEREEL

R

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 ===

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES/AMOUNTS DUE FROM
JOINT VENTURES (Cont’d)

Details of the Group’s material joint ventures at the end of the
reporting period are set out below:

Name of entity

HEsHE

1488 Alberni LPDH

1488 Alberni LP!

Bayshore

More Cash

More Star

Star Trail

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

/B

British Columbia,
Canada

NeEXER
Bl

British Columbia,
Canada

JIEYN:Y:
Bl

British Virgin Islands
EERARS

British Virgin Islands
RERARS

British Virgin Islands
RERARS

British Virgin Islands
AERARS

Class of
shares held
B R 5
5l

N/A
TER

N/A
@A

Ordinary
Limik

Ordinary
Limik

Ordinary
Limik

Ordinary
Limik

Nominal value
of issued and
fully paid
share capital
BERTR
BERAEE

N/A
TER

N/A
TER

CAD172,200,000
1 172,200,000 7T

US$100
10037

Us$10
IESH

Us$2
2ET

ZT iﬁS{ 4555 i%gé B1it oF

:\\/T\

—NEFE=A=t—HIFE

. REERARIZED EBREEAQAT
MIE (&)

AEBRBRERRZEZEAE QT
0T Bt

nuk

|E

Proportion of
nominal value
of issued Proportion of
share capital voting
held by the Group power held Principal activity
AREMECRT
RAmEELL A st gl FEER
2019 2018 2019 2018
“2-nE —2N\F ZB-AF _FNF
% % %
28 28 28 28 Property
(note a) (note a) development
(Hita) (Mita) 9DEER
28 28 28 28 Property
(note a) (note a) development
(Hrita) (e  MEERE
50 50 50 50 Investment holding
(note b)
RA AR (D)
42 - 50 - Investment holding
(note c)
RARR (M)
40 40 40 40 Investment holding
(note d) (note d) (note e)
(WaEd)  (HeEd)  BEER(FEe)
50 50 50 50 Investment holding
(note f)
RA AR (M)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

N

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZ=F

18.

B 7% ¥R 2% B =

—HhE=ZA=t—RLFE

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES/AMOUNTS DUE FROM
JOINT VENTURES (Cont’d)

notes:

(@)

(b)

()

The Group is able to exercise joint control over the relevant activities of
1488 Alberni LPDH and 1488 Alberni LPI, limited partnerships
incorporated in British Columbia, Canada, as the major decisions
regarding the relevant activities of 1488 Alberni LPDH and 1488 Alberni
LPI require unanimous consent of their respective shareholders according
to the shareholders’ agreements.

The principal activities of its subsidiaries are holding of a hotel property

and hotel operation in Vancouver, Canada.

On 23rd November, 2018, the Group completed the acquisition of 42%
interest in More Cash which is entitled to 75% interest in the sino-foreign
cooperative joint venture (the “PRC JV”), at a consideration of
HK$280,000,000. The PRC JV is the owner of portions of a composite
complex known as “Dabiao International Centre” situated in Haizhu
District, Guangzhou City, the PRC. The consideration was offset with the
amount due from a joint venture of HK$156,000,000, other loan
receivables of HK$40,000,000 and the interest receivables of
HK$44,128,000, and the remaining amount of HK$39,872,000 was
settled by cash.

The Group is able to exercise joint control over the relevant activities of
More Star as the major decisions regarding the relevant activities of More
Star require unanimous consent of both of the shareholders of More Star
according to the shareholders’ agreement. As at 31st March, 2018, the
Group has pledged the 40% equity interest in More Star to secure the
other loan facilities granted to the Group as set out in Notes 28 and 37.

The principal activity of its subsidiary is holding of a hotel property in
Hong Kong.

The principal activity of its subsidiaries is property development in Hong
Kong.

The above table lists the joint ventures of the Group which, in
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results of
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. Disclosing the details of other joint ventures would, in
the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

18. REELQRZER EWEEAQT
NIE (&)
BiaE -
(@) PN S Al %1488 Alberni LPDH % 1488

(b)

(d)

Alberni LPI (R &9 AR e K EE etk &
BEMKIZBREBELE) 2ABEBT
i £ [F 45 6l 4 - R A & 1488 Alberni LPDH
121488 Alberni LPI B 75180 2 = 285K
BREBESANREREREERE—BRAE -

HETHBARZ EBXBARNMEXBTFE
FA - RBEMERETBESE -

RZB—NE+—A-+=8 KEBEUR
{B75H 280,000,000 7T 5ERX UL B8 More Cash 2
DLwWRIE ZAREBTINEEEE AT
(THFRELAR])Z275%MHE - FEEER
AlBA R B EMN TS ERE [ B A O]
%%?éﬁ@z%ﬁ/\ REEH-FHEZ
N 7] & UK 3R I8 7 85 156,000,000 7 ~ H il fE
U B 3% 7% # 40,000,000 7T K FE W FI| B 75 #
44,128,000 7T H + M 82 %8 7 5 39,872,000
TLAR B ELT o

N E AT More Star 2 8 BT L RIE
% - [RE R More Starﬁ%ﬁ%f%ﬁ@ﬁZIg
RIR AN IR AR R 5 3% BN4S More Star FAAZAR R
—BRE - Héfgf)\fiiﬂ =+—A'&K
£ @) 2 K More Star Z 40% I HEVE B AR E
EFEREMERRE 2 ER S (R 28
K37) e

ETHBARZ EEEXBRANEEFEBE
e

HETHBARZ EBEBAREBETYE
ko

EXRHINEZA/UAFEREXZERENXN
FEIBUASEEEFEIERNZ

AEBEAELT - EERS
AERAZANESE

WEEM
BRIEBDILE °

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR



18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

:ﬂi ﬁf“#&%ﬂ%hf

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE =T —hF=A=+—RILFE

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES/AMOUNTS DUE FROM
JOINT VENTURES (Cont'd)

The financial information in respect of each of the Group’s
material joint ventures and the aggregate of other joint ventures
is summarised as below. The summarised financial information
below represents the amount shown in the joint ventures’
financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

1488 4 1488
Alberni i Alberni

LPDH LPI  Bayhore MoreCash  MoreStr  StarTrail  Sub-total LPDH
Nt

HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HKS'000

ESTr  BETR  EBTn TR BMTR  ERTR EMTR A%

Curtent asets ROAE 1150785 60568 148999 58509 16085 420499 1,855445 1,053,560
Non-current assets FREEE - - 1762953 1,612,700 1,199,113 - 4574766 -
Curtent labiltes REERE (484430)  (549)  (60572)  (54559)  (4583)  (07,08) (2027758 (492,013
Non-current liabilities FnaeE (690786)  (36,357) (15915  (33,844)  (839,077)  (154302) (2,089,281) (399,718

The above amounts of assets ~~ HtAEREESE
and labliiesinclude the BEATRE:
following:

Cash and cash equivalents BeREALERR VST L978 18293 55989 16072 2501 24240 34584

Current inancial labilites RHLRAE(TEE
(excluding trade and other 5 REMERNE
payables and provisions) MRBE) (479,766)  (25,257)  (701,688)  (508,507) - (206,820) (1922,038)  (490,477)

Non-current financial liabilties &2 R AR (Tl
(excluding trade and other L5 REMERNE
payables and provisions) &) (690,786)  (36,357) - - (800,000) (154,302) (1,681,445  (599,718)

Annual Report 4 # @ 2018-2019

. REELARIZER BREE AT
MIE (&)
FAREEEFEZAERRIREMEE
ARGt 2 B BRI T « T3P
HUBERG R RREBETENBERELE
ARS8 E ARV BEHMRMREE -

Vastness

Properties Investment
Bayshore ~ Limited ~ MoreStar  Star Trail Limited ~ Subtotal
Nt
HK$'000  HKS'000  HK§'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
e AETT B BT A%Tn  E¥TR

5451 U368 626N 15562 43038 17487 158803
- 1828y - 1069113 - 4060 292570
(0589)  (8L630) (2163 (137100 (31100 (12737) (1,572258)
1564 (16659 -y (163,129 - (1,528789)
180 9710 S M B2 16305 166825
5815 (723,112 = - (090 - (14423
31,564) = - (685388 (163,129) - (1479799)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
N RGET

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 B Z—Z— N &=F=+—RAItFE

18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES/AMOUNTS DUE FROM 18, A& ATz WS AT
JOINT VENTURES (Cont'd) FRIE (&)

1488 1488 1488 1488 sQ
Alberni~ Alberni Alberni ~ Albemi Properties Investment

LPDH LPI  Bayshore MoreCash  MoreStar  StarTrail  Sub-total LPDH Limited ~ MoreStar ~ StarTrail ~ Limited  Subtotal
Nt
HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000 KS' ' K §' KS' HKS'
BETT BT  EMTR EMTR  EMTR  EMTR BBt B%TR

Revenue Wi 12,061 635 355,839 25112 72,000 - 465,647 14790 778 335,642 - 72000 - 2995 453145

Proftloss) for the yearfperiod A4 /H7

EH(ER) 1,961 103 5818 (2559 155290 (4983) 155,632 (86205 (45400 9744 - D051 7 132276 281934
Other comprehensive income TEE/BEER
(expense) for the yearfperiod 2 EME (%) 501 275 @017 32,342 - - 2,832 (150) 4514 - B - B 1,532

Total comprehensive income A5 /#RI2E
(expense) for the year/period Wi () 28 7,182 378 1,801 29783 155292 (4983) 189453 (89,097) (4,690) 14,258 - 30572 47 132276 283466

Dividends received from ajoint %% /HEE N

venture during the yearperiod  &EAFRE - - - - 54,800 - 54,800 = - = - = - 167448 167,448
The above profit loss LAAER /S

for the yearlperiod include (B8 B TEE

the following:
Depreciation and amortisation 47 [ - - (39103 - - - (39103 = N CTAY)] = = - (2903)  (66,354)
Interest income FBMA 538 28 1,218 - - - 1,784 4“4 bz} 586 - - - 1337 2,386
Interest expenses HERX - - (326700 (10,806)  (34,087) (4185 (81,748)  (90,754) @ (28399 - (49555 (994) - (174479
Income tax (expense) credit FiER (R £% - - (140) (616) (5,946) - (6,702) - - 206 - (3,512) - (6,878)  (10,184)

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B RS RR M A

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZE=E—NF=A=+—HILFE

18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES/AMOUNTS DUE FROM 18, REE QT2 WS E AT

JOINT VENTURES (Cont'd) TR (&)

The reconciliation of the above summarised financial iR E R EE NG S B TR E T
information to the carrying amount of the interests in the joint DAAENT TR EEAELYEN
ventures recognised in the consolidated financial statements is T

as below:

1488 1488 1488 1488 Mavis Q Vastness
Alberni -~ Alberni Aberni Alberi Properties Investment
LPDH Pl Bayshore MoreCash MoreStar ~ StarTral  Subtotal  LPDH Bayshore ~ Limited  MoreStar ~ SarTrail ~ Limited  Sub-total
e NG
HK§'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000 HK§'000  HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
EMTR RMTR BBTn AMTR AWTR AMTn BETr ARTR A%Tn AMTn BRTR A%Tn BETR #RTR
Net iabiiies) assets of the ~ AEAFZ(Ef)
joint ventures BESE (24431) (1285 1,135465 772,770 371,538 59,115 2313172 (38,171)  (2,008) 1167416 420464 353246 64099 45370 2,010,416
Less: shared by non-controlling 5 : A AR
interests of the ikl
joint venture - - - (76320) - - (76320 = = = = = - - -

Proportion of the Group's ~~ AEERNAEAFZ

ownership interests in il NA NA

the joint ventures 28% 2% 50% 2% 40% 50% TER 28% 28% 50% 50% 40% 50% 50% T@f
Net labiltes) assts of REBRERAEAR

interests in joint ventures a2 (BR)EEFE

attributable to the Group (6,841) (360) 567,733 292,509 148,615 29558 1,031,214 (10,688 (562) 583,708 210,232 141298 32,050 22685 978723
Lossallocated inexcessof ~ HERAMAZ

investment costs BARER 6,841 360 - - - ST 10688 562 - = - = - 1150

Carrying amountof the Group's AEBRALATZ

inerstin the ointventures  #247 EHE - COSETB M0 MBS 2958 103845 - COSBAS 203 WM NG 26 899N
Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not individually BEREEECEERRIZAFTER
material:

2019 2018
—E-hnEFE  —F)N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT

The Group’s share of loss REEELEBE (113,977) (67,213)

The Group’s share of other comprehensive 7N B & (b H 4t 2T

income (expense) Wz () 7,599 (14,260)
The Group’s share of total REBEELEER X B

comprehensive expense (106,378) (81,473)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s ARNEERZEGE R A2

interests in these joint ventures i BRERE 140,918 98,591

Annual Report 4 # @ 2018-2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR MRS R MY A

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE=ZF—hF=A—+—HAILFE

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES/AMOUNTS DUE FROM(TO) 19, A& AT i ek (FEA) B

ASSOCIATES/DEPOSIT PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF AN MATEE RS- RS AT
ASSOCIATE eff®e

2019 2018
—e-nFE  —FNE

HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T AT

Cost of investment in associates, unlisted — AREZ R FIFE ETHIRE 2 KA 881,356 915,740
Share of post-acquisition results and other  E{GUiER ZEE R HMEHE
comprehensive income, net of dividend U %5 (FOBR B B sk E b [O] 3R )

or other return 1,250,870 891,034
2,132,226 1,806,774
Amounts due from associates (note a) FE U B A B IE (M st a) 16,686 9,097
Amount due to an associate (note b) AN i) /NGBS =N e o)) 408,128 132,532
notes: B3
(a) The amounts were non-trade in nature, unsecured, non-interest bearing (a) BHEZIBAIFEEZME  BIKH 28 NE
and had no fixed repayment date. The management did not expect to BEEERBH BEERBPTISARRELR
receive the amounts within twelve months from the end of the reporting B+ @A R B EZIE -
period.
During the year ended 31st March, 2018, the Group capitalised the BE_Z-)\F=ZA=+—RHLFE K&
amount due from an associate of HK$95,000,000 as cost of investment in %] 1% jrE Uk — sl B 2 A B) FRIE 7B #5 95,000,000
that associate. TERAER  ERZME R B ZIREK -
(b) The amount was unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable within (b) BEFBEAEER @8 RARREHRE
one year from the end of the reporting period. ST FREE -

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B RS RR M A

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 H#Z2=Z—NF=A=F+—HILFE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES/AMOUNTS DUE FROM(TO) 19, REA& AT 2R3 FEUR (FE(T) Bt

ASSOCIATES/DEPOSIT PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF AN ENTRIFIE WE—HEE AT
ASSOCIATE (Cont'd) (SRR A=),

The Group’s material associates at the end of the reporting REBRREHAZ T ERLENRBE
period included Orient Town Limited (“Orient Town”), Empresa HwEARAT ([EE])  BAEEERD
de Fomento Industrial E Comercial Concérdia, S.A. BREAT(HAE D) AR IBEBEER
(“Concordia”), Rosedale Hotel Beijing Co., Ltd. (“Rosedale EMEA2FT 4 =1\ E ) ®Wealth
Beijing”) and Wealth Explorer Holdings Limited (“Wealth Explorer Holdings Limited ([ Wealth
Explorer”). All of these associates were accounted for using the Explorer]) o Fat AT B & R RIR & E4ER
equity method in these consolidated financial statements. AU FERERAEZSEARE  c KEER
Details of the Group’s material associates at the end of the SpALHASE Y T EEA N FIEEE T

reporting period are as follows:

Proportion of
Nominal value nominal value of
Place of (Class of of issued and issued/registered Proportion of
incorporation/ shares/ fully paid share capital voting
Name of entity ~ establishment capital held share capital held by the Group power held Principal activity
fisRe,/ BRR  ZEEFEERT/
RR4H i/ Rissk  EREH HERAEE ERRAEELS FRRRRLA IERE
2019 2018 2019 2018
80 CFNF OZE-AE CFR
% % % %
Orient Town Hong Kong Ordinary HK$700 4 45 4 45 Investment holding
5 ; LRk AE7007T (note a)
RAZR (Wita)
Concordia Macau Quota capital (note h) Macau Patacas 35.5 35.5 35,5 35.5 Property development
B S iEMER (Hith) 100,000,000 NEER
HFI%100,000,0007C
Rosedale Beijing  PRC Registered capital 15$86,000,000 20 20 20 20 Hotel operation in Beijing
KRB E A 86,000,000 %70 M FERERE
Wealth Explorer  British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary US$1,000 40 40 40 40 Investment holding
RBRAHE HER 1,000%7 (note ¢
RAZR (W)
notes: fizT -
(@) The principal activities of its subsidiaries are mainly property development (a) ETHBARZ EEE£BEARBR R HET
and property management in Macau. YRR R Y REEIE o
(b)  Quota capital represents the Portuguese equivalence of registered capital (b)  Quota capital RPIE 77 55 BB RIEE
as Portuguese is the official language of Macau. B o
() The principal activities of its subsidiaries are mainly property development (©) ETHBAGZ FEE£BAREBREEET
in Hong Kong. YEEIER o

Annual Report 4 # @ 2018-2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

W N

e MR R

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE—Z—NF=A=+—HILFE

19.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES/AMOUNTS DUE FROM(TO)
ASSOCIATES/DEPOSIT PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF AN
ASSOCIATE (Cont’d)

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for the
year or form a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
Disclosing the details of other associates would, in the opinion
of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the
Group’s material associates and the aggregate of other
associates is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents the amount shown in the
associates’ financial statements prepared in accordance with
HKFRSs.

The financial year end date for Rosedale Beijing is 31st
December. For the purpose of applying the equity method of
accounting, the consolidated financial statements of Rosedale
Beijing for the year ended 31st December, 2018 (2018: 31st
December, 2017) have been used as the Group considers that
it is impracticable for Rosedale Beijing to prepare a separate set
of financial statements as of 31st March. Appropriate
adjustments have been made accordingly for the effects of
significant transactions between that date and 31st March,
2019.

2019
=

Orient Rosedale

19. REE

Nz B (FE) B
SRR B -BBRE LR
SR AC D)

EXRFINESRBHEAERXZEREAXN
TEIBRAKREEEFEIERD
AEBEBMERT - EEZRA WEHEM
BERRZENEEUREBAILE °

BRAAKREEERHERR R

ARt M BEMBESRIILT - T
XFrE B E R R ER BT BT R
SREARRBE AR BHRRATE
B

RN RFEERASART A
_+ E' ° Ef%ﬁ*éﬁ’;\u /iﬁﬁm s

—NF+A=+t—BUIEFE(C
—/\¢ B FT A=
EI) EFABMGRE M RRC ER
B ARAEERRILRHEEBRERE —E
BE=A=+—HANEBHBHRERIT
PER - Bt IRZBEHE_FT—H
FZA=ZT-BHZENEXRR SN
2 SEHEEAE-

2018
NE

Orient Rosedale

Town  Concordia Beijing Wealth  Sub-total Town  Concordia Beijing Wealth — Sub-total
g B: AREE o N EE BE AFHE bpw
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
BETn  ETm  RMTn  EMTn  BMTR  B¥Tn  B¥TR  B%Tr  A¥Th ENTx

Current assets REBEE 7,609,427 6,029,636 502,699 1,842,785 15984547 6,328,826 5,600,534 572,998 1,765,204 14,267,562
Non-current assets FREEE 737,275 719,159 1,041,548 - 2497982 928,366 899,928 1,052,475 - 2,880,769
Current liabliis nHaE 0761422 (768200  GO0S6) (931877 (676067 (561,177 (364814  @35031)  (@54069 (641509
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (1,538,178)  (1,538,178) (116,422 - (3,192,778) (1,786,024) (1,786,024) - - (3,572,048
The above amounts of assetsand ~~ HiAER&ESE

liabilities incluce the following: BEATERE
Cash and cash equivalents BEREESEER 744916 1,154,099 489,513 6,072 2,394,600 352,311 623,256 519,198 5521 1,500,286
Current financial liabilities (excluding  FiB)& & &

trade and other payables (TEEEHR

and provisions) H bR BN RER) B0 (334 G OB (945,16) 06 (087 o088 (86178
Non-current financial liabilities FrELRAE

(excluding trade and other payables ~ (FBHEE5 R

et EMEHSENEEE) (1480857 (1480857 (116420 - BB (1,729,005 (1,729,005) - - 3458050

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR



19.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B RS RR M A

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 &&= —F—hF=A=+—HAILFE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES/AMOUNTS DUE FROM(TO) 19, REA& AT 2R3 FEUR (FE(T) Bt

ASSOCIATES/DEPOSIT PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF AN BATIEE RS- RN T
ASSOCIATE (Cont'd) eff&kE#)

2019
-NF

Orient Rosedale Orient Rosedale

Town  Concordia Beijing Wealth  Sub-total Town  Concordia Beijing Wealth ~ Sub-total
3 BE  AEHE  Explorer Nt B Explorer gt
HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000 K HK$/000 HK$'000  HK$'000
BETn  E%Tn  AMTr  BETn  ETn BNt BBTn  A%Tr A%t BETr

Revenue [l 3,044,046 3,844,046 67,191 - 7755283 673611 655,628 66,822 - 139,061
Profit (loss) for the year REERF (B8 1,762,111 1,792,186 (47,660) (226) 3,506,411 335650 329,295 (35,582) 234 629,129
Other comprehensive (expense) AEEEMRE (FR) WaE

income for the year - - (15,515) - (15,515) - - 23,700 - 23,700

Total comprehensive income (expense) 7% [ 2 F iz
forthe year (B%)eE 1762111 179,186 (63.175) (226 349089 335650 329295  (11,882) 034 652,89

Dividends received from associates ~ AEEEHBERAFRE
during the year 126,000 130,500 - - 256,500 420,525 43,500 - - 464,025

The above profit (loss) for the year ~_F it A4 7 (§538)

include the following: BEATEE
Depreciation and amortisation EREH (20,969) (20,630) (40,986) - (82,585) (16,153) (15,493) (41,607) - (73,253)
Interest income FEHA 3,330 3,330 - - 6,660 1371 1371 14,850 = 17,592
Interest expense MERX (34,249) - 2,378) - (3662) - - - - -
Income tax expense RS (244,068)  (244,068) - - 488136)  (44797)  (44797) = - (89594)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R RMN R

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE=ZF—hF=A—+—HAILFE

19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES/AMOUNTS DUE FROM(TO) 19, RAB& AT i ek (FEA) B

ASSOCIATES/DEPOSIT PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF AN ENTIFIEWE-—EEE AT
ASSOCIATE (Cont'd) EARE:EAC D)
The reconciliation of the above summarised financial LB AR E E RS A B IS RERT
information to the carrying amount of the interest in the RN NG 2 i 7 R E YR
associates recognised in the consolidated financial statements T:
is as below:
2019
=
Orient Rosedale Orient Rosedale
Town  Concordia Beijing Wealth  Sub-total Town ordi BeulngJ Wealth  Sub-total
E- Bt LTHE  Bxplorer gt b S ] Explorer Izt
HK$'000  HK$000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK§000  HK§'000  HK$000 HKS'000  HK$'000
BETn  BMTR  EMTn  EMTn  E%Tn  B%Tn  BETR  B%Tn  BETr  BETR
Net asses of the associates BEARZEESE Q047,100 2442410 1127264 910908 8527684 2909991 2149624 1190442 911135 7,161,192
Less: shared by non-controlling 7 BE DA ARSI
interests of the associates (1,316,748) - - - (1,316,748 (943,182 - - - (943182)

2730354 2442410 1127264 910908 7210936 1966809 2149624 1190442 911,135 6218010

Proportion of the Group’s direct REERBERR R N/A NA
ownership interests in the associates &2 fl 45% 8.7% 20% 40% TER 45% 8.7% 20% 40% TEm
(note ) (note i)
(i) (RtzEi)
Net assets of interests in associates ~ AEEEERNBELNE 2
attributable to the Group En/EETE 1,208,659 212,490 225453 364363 2030965 885004 187,017 238088 364454 1674623
Goodwill [EES - 127,945 - - 127,945 - 127,945 - - 127,945
Capitalisation of imputed interestof ~ BRALZZ & EEFME
non-interest bearing loans (note i)~ #15.(Ff i) (29,012) - - - (2901 (52019 = = = (52,019)
Other adjustments Hih g% - (1,208) - - (1,208) = (1,208) = = (1,208)
Carrying amount of the AEERBEDAZER L
Group's interests in the associates EAE 1,199,647 339,227 225,453 364,363 2,128,690 833,045 313,754 238,088 364,454 1,749,341

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ EEMESERRAR



19.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 #Z=—

19. REZE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES/AMOUNTS DUE FROM(TO)
ASSOCIATES/DEPOSIT PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF AN
ASSOCIATE (Cont’d)

notes:

(i) As at 31st March, 2019 and 2018, Orient Town and the Group held
59.5% and 8.7% equity interests in Concordia, respectively, thereby
leading to the Group holding an effective equity interest of 35.5% in
Concordia.

(ii) On initial recognition, the fair value adjustment of the non-interest bearing
loans was treated as a capital contribution to Orient Town and recognised
as part of the investment cost. Subsequent to the initial recognition, the
imputed interest expense of Orient Town was capitalised in its properties

under development.

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually

material:

The Group’s share of loss REBEIGEE
The Group’s share of other AEEELEMEmEASX

comprehensive expense

The Group's share of total
comprehensive expense

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s ANEBRZSHE AT

R FREAE

interests in these associates

In June 2017, Precious Year Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement to
acquire 45.8% interests in Paul Y. Engineering Group Limited
from The 13 (BVI) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of South
Shore, a company listed on the Stock Exchange, at
consideration of HK$265,200,000. As at 31st March, 2019, the
Group has paid the deposit of HK$159,000,000 (2018:
HK$159,000,000) for the aforesaid acquisition and the
transaction has not been completed.
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REEE (G 2 R X 45

ira SRR R

TNF=F=1—AILFE

N A 2R PR (FEAY) B
ERNRMAWE-HBEQT 2
ENRE#)

fia -

(i) R-E—NER-_ZE—N\E=A=+—8 "
R ANEE DRI A3 A 59.5% X 8.7%
R ARER © LABUAN SR BB A 2 B AR AN A
#7535.5% °

iy  RYTERE  REERZAFEARER
RAFEFTE - WHEDRBRERAES
5o IFHERE  FEZHEF SR ER
HEZMEER -

BRI FEB ML RRZAFTER :

2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT
(5,643) -

20 -

(5,623) =
3,536 57,433

MR_ZE—t&EXA ARRIZ2EWEB
/D\T PreC|ous Year Limited EZE§ 32 Fir_ETH
RAlEREZZ2ENEB R A The 13 (BVI)
Limited5] 3 % #% > W R B B &
265,200,000 T BB REZEEEBRA
Al458%E m M — L F = A
=+—H AEEER MBI HIE
/8% 159,000,000 (= — )\ F : /&
#159,000,000 70 ) K2 32 5 5 AR FERX °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R RMN R

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 BZE—Z—NF=F=+—HILFE

20. OTHER LOAN RECEIVABLES 20. HtEWER

2019 2018
—E-hFE T N\F

HK$'000 HK$’000
BET T BT

Unsecured fixed-rate loan receivables MK E B EWE 584,929 728,000
Secured variable-rate loan receivables BIERE B EIER 168,630 174,324
753,559 902,324
Analysed as: DTA
Current Vi) 584,929 150,000
Non-current FEmED 168,630 752,324
753,559 902,324
A maturity profile of the loan receivables as at 31st March, —hWER—_ZE—NF=H= —1——
2019 and 2018, based on the maturity date is as follows: EI FEWE IR E JHE B3Rz BIHAE,
s

2019 2018
—e-nE  —FN\A

HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT

On demand and due within 1 year BER KRR —FANEH 584,929 150,000
2 to 5 years MERF 168,630 752,324
753,559 902,324
The Directors perform ongoing evaluation of loss rates in EERAGEMEKRERZBEHEER
assessing the ECL for the other loan receivables, including the 18 H—rﬁ@iﬁ?ﬁ%\? @%ﬁﬁt%/\z
repayment history, financial conditions, current creditworthiness E%)ﬁi BRI - ?ETL EE"”E A
and underlying collaterals, if any, of each borrower and T—jlgzu(ﬁ%ﬁ {'_& EI:H |Hf3|ﬂﬂgl&gﬂ2
forward-looking information. As at 31st March, 2019, the carrying ST (A5 753 559 O/OE) 7_|:b° "

amount of other loan receivables was HK$753,559,000.

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ EEMESERRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 #Z= =%

OTHER LOAN RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

At 31st March, 2019, the Group's fixed-rate loan receivables of
HK$500,000,000 (2018: HK$500,000,000), net of loss
allowance for ECL of HK$94,212,000 represented unsecured
and unlisted loan notes issued by a company incorporated in
Bermuda with limited liability with its shares listed on the Stock
Exchange and carry interest at the fixed rate of 9.5% per annum
(2018: fixed rate of 9.5% per annum) and will mature on 27th
November, 2019. The fixed-rate loan receivables of
HK$78,000,000 and HK$108,000,000 (2018: HK$78,000,000
and 150,000,000) net of loss allowance for ECL of HK$80,000
and HK$6,779,000 respectively, are unsecured, carry interest
at fixed rates ranging from of 7% to 12% per annum (2018:
fixed rates ranging from of 12% to 18% per annum) and are
repayable on 7th August, 2019 and with scheduled repayment
date within one year, respectively.

At 31st March, 2019, the Group’s variable-rate loan receivables
represented loan facility of CAD28,700,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$168,700,000) (2018: CAD28,700,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$174,324,000)), net of loss
allowance for ECL of CAD12,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$70,000), granted to Caufield Investments Limited, the joint
venture partner of Bayshore. The loan receivables are secured
by 16.67% equity interest in Bayshore, carry interest at CAD
Prime Rate plus 1.25% per annum (31st March, 2018: CAD
Prime Rate plus 1.25% per annum) and are repayable on 28th
December, 2021.

These loan receivables were accounted for as financial assets
carried at amortised cost.

The management of the Group has concluded that impairment
allowance for other loan receivables of HK$115,133,000 had
been provided as at 1st April, 2018, the date of initial
application of HKFRS 9 (2014), and HK$20,771,000 has been
reversed during the year ended 31st March, 2019. Impairment
allowance of HK$6,779,000 has been provided for new loans
granted during the year ended 31st March, 2019.

Details of ECL assessment of other loan receivables for the year
ended 31st March, 2019 are set out in Note 33(b).

20.
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T — )\ 4 : & #78,000,0007T KB
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RAEEER  RETFMNE7E
i127<_7 —N\F : BEEFFE12
EE18E) B 2R AR-ZZT—hF
NATHEERBETERARA—FNA -

\_,,\
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% B JE W E 548 A Bayshore 2 & & B 1
Caufield Investments Limited 3% H 2 & 5k
%ﬂﬁfﬂuﬁ%zsjoo,oooﬁ(ﬁ”‘EAZU‘/M%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE—Z—NF=A=+—HILFE

20.

21.

OTHER LOAN RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

At 31st March, 2019, the effective interest rate of the variable-
rate loan receivables was 13.33% per annum (2018: 14.01%
per annum).

Before granting any new loans, the Directors will assess the
potential borrower’s credit quality and define credit limits of
the borrower. The Directors perform ongoing evaluation of
collectability in assessing the ultimate realisation of other loan
receivables.

As at 31st March 2018, the amount of other loan receivables
are either with repayable on demand clause or repayable upon
maturity date of the loans and the borrowers have no history of
loan default. Therefore, in the opinion of the Directors, the
balances are neither past due nor impaired.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has monitored the repayment ability of the borrowers

continuously.

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Tax indemnity asset (note a)

Rental deposits (note b) HeRe (MEb)
Deposit paid (note c) B (fic)
Interest receivables (note d) FEWFE (FsEd)
Others HAth

notes:

(a) Prior to the Group’s acquisition of Makerston Limited (“Makerston”) from

Rosedale Hotel Group Limited (“RHGL”) in 2014, DS Eastin Limited (“DS
Eastin”), a subsidiary of Makerston, completed a deemed disposal of 80%
equity interest in Rosedale Beijing. As such, there was a potential tax
liability for the capital gain on the deemed disposal of Rosedale Beijing to
be borne by DS Eastin or Rosedale Beijing. Accordingly, a tax provision
amounting to HK$66,744,000 was recognised.

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement, RHGL undertook to Silver
Infinite Limited (“Silver Infinite”), Makerston and DS Eastin (collectively
known as the “Makerston Group”) and Rosedale Beijing that RHGL will
fully indemnify Silver Infinite, the Makerston Group and Rosedale Beijing
against any taxation under the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law arising
from the deemed disposal, when the same is payable by the Makerston
Group and/or Rosedale Beijing, and all demands, claims, proceedings,
actions, liabilities, costs and expenses. Accordingly, a tax indemnity asset
of HK$66,744,000 was recognised upon the completion of the acquisition
of Makerston.

BIRMEEE (HfEa)

20.

21.

HihEWER (&)
RZEBE—NF=A=+—8" EEMFEHAZ
BERZERFMNERE1333B(=ZF—
FFRER14012) -

REBELEAFERR  EFHFEEERE
EEAZEEEZENAREREER - &

ENFFAEMBRER 2 RE ARG
BB A IREEE S o
R-Z-N\F=ZA=1+—8  EEK

EXBARBRANRERE JHHEMEE
mEEABEERERCE - Bt - &
ERRERERERABTERE -

RREEERE AEEEEERES
RIEEANZEREES ©

HtnFRBEE
2019 2018
—B-hE —F)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETIT
91,304 66,744
20,000 19,200
39,166 39,166
16,439 11,354
6,343 4,124
173,252 140,588

BT -

(@ AEER-_T-NFEHEBEEEEEGRA
7l ([3HE)E 5 & E |) Y& Makerston Limited
([Makerston |) AT * Makerston 2 Bff 8 A &) H
BRAREARAB([BBRA ) TRRME
HERIERIPEZ 80% Az - Bt » 1§
HABREA S RABRRIEL S RAE
ZEApEmMAREEEREEE - At B
TR T IE BB S ¥ 66,744,000 7T °

BIEEE W& BB IE S E WSilver
Infinite Limited ([ Silver Infinite|) + Makerston
M EBRT (58 A [Makerston £ @ |) Kt
RIABAE - iEEE/@JE%lH-rTMEVEﬁ%E
EZHRBEMEMSRIEZ EMBHE(nA
Makerston 52 B & sk 3t RIAB S 1) LA &ﬁﬁ
BRE BR EEEBF - EZ20H &
£ K A K & A [Silver Inﬁnite .
Makerston 5 B &It AR E L B ERE

It B 7 U7 B8 Makerston 52 X 1% 7 72 %RIE
1B & E S5 66,744,000 7T °

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR BTSRRI R

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 #{Z—F—NF=A=+—HILFE

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS (Cont’d)

notes: (Cont’d)

(a)

(d)

(Cont’d)

As disclosed in Note 18, on 23rd November, 2018, the Group completed
the acquisition of 42% interest in More Cash which is entitled to 75%
equity interests in the PRC JV. Accordingly, a tax provision amounting to
HK$24,560,000 was recognised.

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement, the vendor undertook to the
Group that the vendor will fully indemnify the Group against any taxation
under the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law arising from the disposal, when
the same is payable by the Group, and all demands, claims, proceedings,
actions, liabilities, costs and expenses. Accordingly, a tax indemnity asset
of HK$24,560,000 was recognised upon the completion of the acquisition
of More Cash.

In the opinion of the Directors, the tax indemnity assets were not expected
to be recovered within twelve months from the end of the reporting period
and therefore classified as a non-current asset.

The amounts represented rental deposits paid to a joint venture, Fortress
State International Limited (“Fortress State”) in connection with hotel
operating agreements, which entitle the Group to manage and operate a
hotel exclusively in Hong Kong for a period of 6 years. The rental deposits
will be fully refundable upon the end of the lease term on 31st March,
2020.

The amount represented deposit paid to an independent third party with a
view of setting up a company in Vietnam which was proposed to hold and
develop a parcel of land in Vietnam.

Details of ECL assessment of interest receivables for the year ended 31st
March, 2019 are set out in Note 33(b).

DEPOSITS PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF LEASEHOLD
LAND
The amount represented deposits paid for acquisition of

leasehold land for a property development project situated in
the PRC. The Directors intend to hold the leasehold land for
development of properties held for sale in the ordinary course
of business.

21.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 BZE—Z—NF=F=+—HILFE

23. STOCK OF PROPERTIES 23. MEHE

2019 2018
=B-hEFE —T)N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BT T

Properties under development for sale HEZEEDHE 906,150 673,465
Completed properties held for sale HEZEERME 204,787 125,808

1,110,937 799,273
At 31st March 2019, stock of properties included an amount of R-E-NE=A=+—8B W¥FE
approximately HK$906,150,000 (2018: HK$673,465,000) BERBHENRESHAREAEB T @
which is expected to be realised after more than twelve months A 1% %18 7 & 58474 ¥ 906,150,000 7T
from the end of the reporting period. (ZZ—N\%F : #%673,465,0007T) °

24. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 24, FEWERF - MERFANFRIE

2019 2018
—E-hnEFE  —TN\F

HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT

Trade debtors B 5 W IR 3,100 3,278
Refundable earnest money (note i) ATREMNES (FEi) 23,512 24,296
Other debtors, deposits and prepayments ~ EfJEIERTR « & & K IBN A
(note ii) (Bi=E i) 143,123 128,139
169,735 155,713
notes: BfzE -
(i) This represents the money paid by the Group for the possible acquisition (i) EHEAEBMATREWBURMER 2 WERE
of interests in properties located in Canada. MY 2 FIA
(ii) The other debtors, deposits and prepayments mainly represent interest (i) HihfEUBE R - IS RBNZHIBIEERHE
receivables generated from other loan receivables and prepayment on b LA B R A R R R B R LA B TR A
acquisition of land. I o
The management of the Group has concluded that credit loss AEBEEEERE AITRENESZ
for refundable earnest money of HK$23,923,000 had been EE BB 23,923,000t 2R T
provided as at 31st March, 2018 and 1st April, 2018 (the date —N\E=A=+—HAEK-_FE—N\ENA
of initial application of HKFRS 9 (2014)) and HK$23,337,000 — B (BXEREBSMGREERE
has been provided as at 31st March, 2019. F(ZZE—UFE)ZR)FTIR MBE
23,337,000t 2R =T — L F = A
=+—H&tR -

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R M RR M A

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZ—F—hF=A=+—HILFE

DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (Cont’d) 24.

As at 31st March, 2018 and 1st April, 2018 (the date of initial
application of HKFRS 9 (2014)), trade receivables from
contracts with customers amounted to HK$3,278,000 and
HK$3,278,000 respectively.

The Group's credit terms are negotiated at terms determined
and agreed with its trade customers. The Group allows an
average credit period of 60 days (2018: 60 days) to its trade
customers. The following is an aged analysis of trade debtors
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting
period:

Trade debtors aged: B 5 RYERT R
0-60 days TEXRTH
61-90 days ANT—BEhTH
Over 90 days HiEn+H

Before accepting any new customer, the Group will assess the
potential customer’s credit quality and define credit limits by
customer. Limits attributed to customers are reviewed twice a
year. 98% of the trade debtors, that are neither past due nor
impaired, have the best credit rating as of 31st March, 2018.

The Group has provided fully for general trade debtors over
two years because historical experience is that receivables that
are past due beyond two years are generally not recoverable.

Details of ECL assessment of trade debtors and other debtors
and deposits for the year ended 31st March, 2019 are set out in
Note 33(b).
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BHZESERREAED R BB
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AEBEZEEHNKEEE SREER
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BEHHAS R ZBRER DT

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$/000
T T BT T
2,956 3,206

77 5

67 67

3,100 3,278
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE=ZF—hF=A—+—HAILFE

25. BANK BALANCES AND CASH
Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from
0.01% to 3.03% (2018: 0.01% to 1.48%) per annum.

26. CREDITORS, DEPOSITS AND ACCRUED CHARGES

Creditors, deposits and accrued charges  JEJEREZX
Accrued coupon interest on loan notes EREBETRE

Creditors, deposits and accrued charges including trade
creditors amounted to approximately HK$1,905,000 (2018:
HK$1,498,000) and advance from non-controlling interests is
of approximately HK$47,150,000 (2018: Nil).

The following is an aged analysis of trade creditors presented
with reference to the invoice date at the end of the reporting
period:

X RE RERRIX

BITERERE
RITHEMBIEMISEFENF0.01[EE3.03
E(ZZ—)\F : 0.01EE1.48FE )5t °

AR - R REFTRAX

2019 2018
—E-hE

—2-N\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETRT  BET

159,175 82,849
34,595 34,581
193,770 117,430

FERMERZ - B REFHIBEESE
FMERFABE1,905,000 T ( —ZZ— \F :
751,498,000 7T ) [ F FE 1R AR M 25 B4 5K
49785#547,150,000C( = —\F : £) o

UTRESENERARNREHRIZER
B SR Z Rl DA

2019 2018
—EBE-hE ZZN\F

HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT

Trade creditors aged: B 5N BRIERER
0-60 days ZER+H
61-90 days AT—BEh+AB

1,905 1,468
- 30
1,905 1,498

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED (Kl EivEEEARA A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 #Z=—

LOAN NOTES
The movements of the loan notes for the year are set out below:

REEA])
BB SR (MEE9)

At the beginning of the year
Effective interest charged (Note 9)

Coupon interest paid/payable B EAES
Exchange realignment bEE 3¢, 5 B

At the end of the year R
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MEBAWMATA
Non-current liability ERBBE
2-5 years MEERF

In October 2016, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group (the
“Issuer”) issued guaranteed loan notes (the “Notes”) with a
nominal value of US$200,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,508,846,000), which are guaranteed by the Company
and listed on the Stock Exchange. The Notes bear coupon
interest at 4.75% per annum and will mature on 14th October,
2021.

Pursuant to the subscription agreement, the Issuer has the right
to redeem the Notes in whole but not in part at the sum of (a)
the principal amount outstanding on the Notes; and (b) the
outstanding interests up to the date of redemption. The Notes
include the value of the early repayment option as the option is
closely related to the host instrument.

In addition, at any time the Controlling Shareholder (as defined
in the announcement of the Company dated 6th October,
2016), (i) cease to hold, directly or indirectly, at least 35% of
the voting rights of the issued share capital of the Company; or
(ii) cease to be the largest single shareholder of the Company,
the holder of the Notes will have the right to require the Issuer
to redeem all but not in part of the Notes at 101% of their
principal amount, together with accrued interest.

Annual Report 4 # @ 2018-2019

AR BTSRRI R

TNF=F=1—AILFE

27. BEREE

BEREEFRNESHNT
2019 2018
—E-hE —ZT—)\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
1,538,209 1,515,550
82,764 82,017
(74,509) (74,214)
595 14,856
1,547,059 1,538,209
1,547,059 1,538,209
1,547,059 1,538,209

RZZ—RE+ A AEE—FH2EN
Baa ([#17A])E4TEE 200,000,000
Fr (FHERLE% 1,508,846,00070) 2
EEREREER(EE] - BARQRIME
HERRPEERZAT ET - ZIRZRFFE

A7 EFHEEE R T -_—F+
A+ 2E -

REREDGS  ZBOTAGRRQREZ
RAEELSSHR: ROBEBERAHZ
REENB Z@NBELO 2 EMIELD R
B RERSRAENEEZRZEE
FRRAERERET TAREEY -

AN - EERIREERRR (EERAR
AIAER-Z—RE+HAKRBZRM) )
THEERXHEEFEARRIEETEAR
RED35% 2 FORE (i) THEEARR
AlZRAE—RR ZBEFAEADER
2K EHE ’_/\ﬁi$%%§§ﬁ’]101%§§ﬂﬂg
A SERERAZ 25 MmN RE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE=ZF—hF=A—+—HAILFE

28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 28. (RITREMEE

2019 2018
—E-NE —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Bank and other borrowings: RITRAMBEE -
Secured B 1,379,552 1,356,985
Unsecured AR 99,993 119,915
1,479,545 1,476,900
Carrying amount repayable: FEEERmEE
Within one year —FR 107,148 250,000
More than one year, but not exceeding BRE—F  BETEBBRF
two years - 142,139
107,148 392,139
Carrying amount of bank and other B At ESREEIER 2 RIT R
borrowings that contain a repaymenton  H{hfE EIREE :
demand clause:
Within one year —F A 199,535 198,882
More than one year, but not exceeding iR —F - BETHEMRE
two years 224,546 51,898
More than two years, but not HEMF - BETNEERF
exceeding five years 948,316 395,576
Over five years RENRE - 438,405
1,479,545 1,476,900
Less: Amount due within one year shown 5 : —&F R E|8 2 518
under current liabilities GIRRBEBEET) (1,479,545) (1,334,761)
Amount due after one year —F1& B8 2 TR - 142,139
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 &&= —F—hF=A=+—HAILFE

TREMEER®)

28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Cont’d)

Bank and other borrowings comprise

RITRAMEEEE

Variable-rate borrowings: HFEREE:

Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”)  &#HTRAERE ([BBBIRAZERE])

plus 1.25% t0 2.32% (2018: HIBOR plus 1.15%  EFIE125BZE 2328 (ZF—\F :

Carrying amount

SREE
2019 2018
—B-1F —F-N\F
HK$/000 HK$'000
BRI AT

t0 2.32%) per annum HKS$ bank loan (notea) BB BFTREREMENE1.15EZ232E)

ARRTER (HEa) 1,372,397 1,084,761
Higher of HIBOR plus 2.5% or 3% perannum HK$ &5 ETRZEREMEFIR 2 5@ 3 E
other loan (notes a & b) (B ERE) B EMER(MEakb) - 250,000
London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR") plus R FTAERE ([ BITRAZERE])
2.25% (2018: LIBOR plus 2.25%) per annum ~ JIFF|E225F (ZF—N\F : HEHET
Pound Sterling (“GBP") bank loan (note a) H%ﬁ SR 225 E 5 ) K ([ 548 ])
TER (ftita) 107,148 142,139
1,479,545 1,476,900
notes: fisT -
(a) Interest was repriced when HIBOR or LIBOR changed. () FEFEEHRITRER SN BBIBITREF
SEHMEHEE -
(b) The amount was due to an independent third party. The amount has been (b) BRARIEARN —RBYE=F7HE B
fully settled during the year ended 31st March, 2019. BREERBE—T-NF=A=+—AHL
FREBBEN -
(c) The effective interest rate of bank and other borrowings at the end of the (©) FITREMEERREBRERTNE S

reporting period was 3.30% (2018: 2.64%).
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE—Z—NF=A=+—HILFE

29. DEFERRED TAXATION
The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets)
recognised and movements thereon during the current and
prior years:

29. EIEFIE
L‘ATEﬁEP&iﬁ&ﬁfaﬁﬁwzzﬁ
BEEFIBEEE(EE) MEBEE

—tFMA—H
Charged (credited) to profit or loss 1Bk B (5 A) B2k

At Tst April, 2017 n=

At 31st March, 2018 RZE-—NF=A=+—H
Charged (credited) to profit or loss 1Bk B (5 A) B2k

At 31st March, 2019 R-ZE—NF=RA=+—H
At 31st March, 2019, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$2,086,679,000 (2018: HK$1,650,873,000) available for
offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of approximately HK$96,760,000 (2018:
HK$88,466,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of the remaining unused tax losses of
approximately HK$1,989,919,000 (2018: HK$1,562,407,000)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in
unused tax losses are tax losses of HK$1,943,674,000 (2018:
HK$1,531,399,000) which may be carried forward indefinitely
under current tax regulation in Hong Kong and the remaining
tax losses of HK$143,005,000 (2018: HK$119,474,000) will
expire from 2020 to 2024 (2018: 2019 to 2023).

Accelerated tax Tax losses
depreciation recognised Total
SR
MEBIRTE BIREIR Mt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BB T BET T BT
13,157 (13,157) -
1,440 (1,440) -
14,597 (14,597) -
1,368 (1,368) -
15,965 (15,965) -

RZZE-NF=A=+—H8 £&ET
RERHERIOEN 2 RB BB EBES

7B ¥ 2 086,679,000 L ( —F— )\ F : &
#1,650,873,00070) - BB BEEIEH

FF 49785 96,760,000 T (—Z— \&F : 8
& 88,466,000 7T ) HERIEERI B E E © B
B 2R 2 i ) SRV B DA TECRI - Bl 4 L
A AT ARB 475 1,989,919,000
TT(=ZZT— )\%F : #¥1,562,407,000 7T )
BRECEHBEE - RBHAREEER
FERIEE BRI TSR 6] o] IR B4
2 FIAE 185 #1,943,674,000 T ( =&
— \4 : ##1,531,399,0007T) » &l
# B 18 /B 18 78 # 143,005,000 T( = &
— )\ : 5%119,474,00070) HR —Z
—EFE-TONF(ZE-N\F: =&
—NEE_T_ZF)FEm°
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SHARE CAPITAL 30. BRZ
Number
of shares Amount
R 8 E &8
HK$’000
BETIT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BREEEE .01 T EER
Authorised: ETE
At 1st April, 2017, 31st March, 2018 ~ R=-ZT—+FMA—A -
and 31st March, 2019 —“E-NF=ZA=1+—H8HK
—ZE-NE=A=+—H 40,000,000,000 400,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRERE
At st April, 2017 R-ZE—+FWA—H 887,246,135 8,873
Exercise of share options (note a) TTERERAE (FifiEa) 60,000 1
Issue as scrip dividend for (note b) BEITIERARRAR B (FiFED)
~2017 final dividend - TE—FREKRE 27,170,324 271
— 2018 first interim dividend - ZE-N\FERFHEEE 23,236,275 232
At 31st March, 2018 RZFT-—\F=A=+—H 937,712,734 9,377
Issue as scrip dividend for (note c) BATIER AR (FisEc)
— 2018 second interim dividend — \FE R EIR S 34,324,792 343
— 2019 first interim dividend - ZE-NEFEIRRERE 3,249,417 33
At 31st March, 2019 \—E—NF=A=+—H 975,286,943 9,753
notes: Bt et
(a) During the year ended 31st March, 2018, share options were exercised to (a) BE-_Z—N\F=A=+—HILFE  BR
subscribe for 60,000 (2019: Nil) shares in the Company. The option REFEFTE AR E 60,000 (—E—LE: T
exercise price was HK$3.00 per share. IR ARBRRD - BRIETEBREBREE
3.007T ©
(b) During the year ended 31st March, 2018, pursuant to the scrip dividend (b) BE-ZT—\E=A=+—HItFE ' 1B
schemes announced by the Company, the Company issued 27,170,324 RRABRDMZ AR BETE » RARMIRE
and 23,236,275 new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the Company to RBE-ZT—tF=A=+—HEZ=ZZ—N
the shareholders on 29th September, 2017 and 22nd January, 2018, FZA=Z+—BULEFERARE PR
representing approximately HK$75,455,000 and HK$61,367,000, who BWEUABRREZERER  DRIR T —+tF
elected to receive scrip dividend in respect of the final dividend for the NAZ+HhhBAR=ZZF—N\F—A=+=H%
year ended 31st March, 2017 and the first interim dividend for the year 1727,170,324 % % 23,236,275 R R E B
ended 31st March, 2018, respectively. These shares ranked pari passu B0.01 T Z AR R F LR (AEROEE
with the then existing shares of the Company in all respects. 75,455,000 7C &% 7 # 61,367,000 7T ) © Z &
RNERARERBEEROGESHAEZAR
SHER o
() During the year ended 31st March, 2019, pursuant to the scrip dividend () HE-ZT—NF=A=+—HLFE " BE

schemes announced by the Company, the Company issued 34,324,792
and 3,249,417 new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the Company to
the shareholders on 17th September, 2018 and 29th January, 2019,
representing approximately HK$77,062,000 and HK$6,678,000, who
elected to receive scrip dividend in respect of the second interim for the
year ended 31st March, 2018 and the first interim dividend for the year
ended 31st March, 2019, respectively. These shares ranked pari passu
with the then existing shares of the Company in all respects.
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31.

he= A B K

e

—NEFE=A=+—RAILFE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

A share option scheme was adopted on 17th August, 2012
pursuant to a resolution passed by the shareholders of the
Company on the same date, for the primary purpose of
providing incentives to eligible persons and will expire on 16th
August, 2022 (the “Share Option Scheme”). Under the Share
Option Scheme, the Directors may grant share options to the
following eligible persons to subscribe for shares in the
Company:

(i)  any employee or proposed employee (whether full-time
or part-time) or executives, including executive director,
of any member of the Group, the Controlling Shareholder,
any entity in which any member of the Group holds any
direct or indirect equity interests (the “Invested Entity”)
and/or their respective subsidiaries; or

(ii)  any non-executive director (including independent non-
executive directors) of any member of the Group, the
Controlling Shareholder or any Invested Entity; or

(iii) any consultant, adviser or agent (legal, financial or
professional) engaged by any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity; or

(iv) any vendor, supplier of goods or services or customer of
or to any member of the Group or any Invested Entity.

Share options granted should be accepted within 21 days after
the date of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per each grant of the
share options. The exercise price shall be determined by the
Board and shall be at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of
the shares on the date of grant of the share options; or (ii) the
average closing price of shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; or (iii) the nominal
value of a share on the date of grant.

31.

URHAFEARNZRS

RARBBER-_ZE——F N \A++HH
RRABBRBBORBRNE B ERAE
Pt 8 ([T E)) TZBMR
AEEMATIRIER  ZFEHR =
Z-_FN\A+RBER - REBRE
& BEFAATINEERALEHA
RIBA R A 2 FEAHE

(i) AEEEFAKERF  ZERRR -
AEBERKEARFEEMERE
SEERAED 2 ERER(KRE
ERDR/IRSEEZHMBLR
ZIEFAEERERE (THREBL
RBOSITHAB(BEHATESR) :
&

(i) AKBERKERF - ERAERR
EHREERZEMENTES
(BREBIYIFHITES) : X

(i) AKEEMRBERRREMREER
BREAZEMER  MBERFERFE
AR - BERSEA K

(v AEEETREATRETREE
B EMES  ERIRBEEE
HEF -

PR H 2 BB ZAN & B #iEEt 21 K
NEER  ERALES R ZEEE
XfEEIT - ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%@%i'

RELBUATERE  ()RONELE
hﬁ*EZ%mﬁ~jn&ﬁ%%%ﬁ
HAEMAMAEEXA 2 FHKRHE: 3k
(i) BRI R A H 2 HE -
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

There is no specific requirement that an option must be held for
any minimum period before it can be exercised but the Board
is empowered to impose at its discretion any such minimum
period at the time of grant of any particular option. The period
during which an option may be exercised is determined by the
Board at its absolute discretion, save that no option may be
exercised more than ten years from the date of grant.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which share
options under the Share Option Scheme may be granted when
aggregated with the maximum number of shares in respect of
which options may be granted under all the other schemes (the
“Scheme Limit”) is 10% of the total number of shares in issue
on the adoption date of the Share Option Scheme. The Scheme
Limit may be refreshed by a resolution in shareholders’ meeting
such that the total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other schemes shall not exceed 10% of the
total number of shares in issue as at the date of such
shareholders’ approval. However, the Scheme Limit and any
increase in the Scheme Limit shall not result in the number of
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
share options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and other schemes exceed 30% of the total
number of shares in issue from time to time. No person shall be
granted a share option, within 12-month period of the date of
grant, exceeding 1% of the total number of shares in issue as at
the date of grant.

31.
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31.

e SRR I A

—NEFE=A=+—RAILFE

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

On 17th October, 2013, the Company granted the first lot of
share options under the Share Option Scheme with the exercise
period from 17th October, 2014 to 16th October, 2017. All the
outstanding share options lapsed on 17th October, 2017.
Details of the first lot of share options are set out in the financial
statements in prior years.

On 4th April, 2018, the Company granted a total of 27,020,000
share options to the eligible participants to subscribe for the
shares of the Company under the Share Option Scheme, with
vesting period ranging from 1 to 2 years. The Group recognised
the total expense of HK$3,184,000 in relation to the share
options granted by the Company in the current year.

The aggregate fair values of the share options granted on 4th
April, 2018 determined at the date of grant carried out by
independent professional valuers using Binomial Model was
HK$4,234,000. The following data and assumptions were used
to calculate the fair value of the options at grant date:

Closing price of the Shares on the date of grant HK$2.57
Exercise price HK$2.57
Expected volatility 18.44%
Expected option life 4 years
Risk-free rate 1.743%
Expected dividend yield 8.56%

The expected volatility measured at the standard deviation is
based on the historical data of the daily share price movement
of the Company.

The value of an option varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions.

31.

UROBEAXN2RZ (@)

RZF—=F+A+ttH A27RE
%k%%ﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%% ﬁﬁ%ﬁ
—MFE+ATEEE_ZT—LtF+

ﬂ+AE %ﬁﬁ*ﬂﬁ%h%mfg
—ti+ﬂ+t5%ﬁ BB R
ERNBEFENPTREK

R-ZT—N\FEMANHE  ARRBERE
BREFENEGERS2HERDAS R
27,020,000 17 & A% # LA 33 B8 AN A &) iR
m BEBENT—ZEMT - RAFE
AEBERARRATE L BRERERSZ
2 ¥ 3,184,000 7T °

R-ZFE-N\FHAMBRREZERER
FEAR  DHBYEXAEMNEKEL
AHMRA —AANREEEREATGLE
4,234,000 7T - REF EEAAENEH A
Bz X ER PR A SR MR T ¢

RORBELEABZWHmE BE2577T
1IfR(E BH 257 7T
TEHA R 1@ 18.44%
ﬁ%%%%i% 44
[ B 7 2= 1.743%
i‘ﬁﬁﬁﬂx Bl e & 8.56%
RIZEZAS ZBERETIAARRD

EhFﬁQZEiﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁmﬁ
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31. URBEXLZF2RE (&)
TREEEE  EENEMREENET
KOG EIREHE  URAEERBAE
FEHBEE

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 #Z—

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

The following table sets out the details of the Company’s share
options held by Directors, employees and other participants,
and movements in such holdings during the current and prior
years:

Number of share options

RREHE

Exercise price
per share
(subject to
adjustments)

Exercised
during the year

Exercisable Exercised

period

Vesting

Vesting
period

Outstanding
at14.2017
RoR-tE
BA-A
AT

Lapsed
during the year  during the year

Outstanding Granted
at31.3.2018  during the year
H=%-NE
Zhzt-8

AT

Lapsed
during the year

Outstanding
proportion at31.3.2019
SRTER
(TF3%)

HKS$

et

BE¥?  BREE EREN kY EAR FARN

Employees and other participants:

[EERAMAEE
17102073 % 171020B-16102014 17.102014-16102017 300 250 S s = = = - -
-3k “2-SELATHAT CE-METATLAR
TATtA ZE-MELATRA ZE-tETATAR
W 17102003-96102015 17.102015-17.102017 3000 1300 0000 (1335000 - - - - -
“E-SEtATHAE “E-RETATLRR
ZE-RETATRR ZE-tETATHA
442018 e AA2018342019 44201934202 257 - - - S 52000 S0 509000
i3 “Z-\§¥MARAZ —EZ-NERARAZ
FAmA “S-NEMA=E  —E--FMA=A
e 442834200 4420034202 257 - - B S 52000 S0 509000
“E-\fMAREE -—E-Z4MARAE
CE-TEMATR -E-CEMASR
Directors:
£
17102013 S 17102013-96102015 17.102015-17.102017 300 263500 S e - - - - -
EcF “E-=EtPtHAE E-RETATERE
TAttA “E-RETATRR CE-tETATLA
442018 e 442018342019 44201934202 257 . . B S 8300000 - S 8300000
- tyi3 “Z-)\fMAMAZ —E-AERAMAZE
RAMA “E-NERBZR  -E--EMAZR
W 44834200 4420034202 25 - - B S 8300000 B S 830000
“5-\fMAREE -—E-TEMARAE
“E-TENAZR  -F-CEMAZR
A500 (60000 (4185000 B T S 000 26780000
Exercisable at the end of the years 4,245,000 - -
R
Weighted average exercise price per share (HKS) 3.00 3.00 3.00 NA 257 257 257 257
SRIETHIEE (5%) TR
In respect of the share options exercised during the year ended REE—_T—/\F=ZA=1+—HILFE
31st March, 2018, the weighted average closing price of shares B171E Eﬁﬂx%ﬁ‘ﬁ 5 RITE BB RH

at the date of exercise was HK$3.09 (2019: Nil).

IEFAETEREE3.09T(ZFT—N
FE) -
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32.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of loan notes and
bank and other borrowings (which are disclosed in Notes 27
and 28 respectively), cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company comprising issued share
capital and reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual
basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based
on recommendations of the Directors, the Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,
new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of
new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

32.

EXERER

AEBEBEHEN  URRARAEESE
BEAFELLY  ANEEELERR
RaEhRRRERFREFALCR - AEEH
BERRMELFHEFTE -

REE 2 BAEBBIEME27 2287
MEECERRBEARRITREME
§ BHekBReTERANULREADEE
BARGEED(BEBRITRARFERE
) e

E=ZBYFEHNENER - (ERUEHN
Hf—R BEFEREARANEZSE
BIEARERE R - REEZEE
AEBREBI MR - BITHARMDM
BEARD RATBESIEEREES
FEEBRBEARGERE
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 33. 2@ T A
Categories of financial instruments @ =mIESE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Financial assets SEEE
FVTPL TR THEYIRR RET A B 317,439 451,624
FVTOCI BRAFEYIR R AR
2 E 62,243 103,571
Amortised cost (including cash RN
and cash equivalents) (BEREsLRSEEIER) 1,863,089 2,237,882
Financial liabilities EA =R
Amortised cost BRI 3,588,473 3,225,749
Obligations under finance leases R A ERE 568 125
Financial risk management objectives and policies b) HREREEBERKE

(b)

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity
and fund investments, debtors and deposits, other loan
receivables, amounts due from joint ventures, amounts
due from associates, bank balances and cash, creditors
and deposits, amount due to an associate, loan notes, and
bank and other borrowings. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

Market risk

The carrying amounts of the Group entities’ foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and monetary
liabilities at the reporting date are as follows:
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33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)

(i) Currency risk
Several subsidiaries of the Company have certain
foreign currency bank balances, amount due from
an associate, other loan receivables, refundable
earnest monies, equity and fund investments, loan
notes and certain creditors and deposits which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk.
Management has closely monitored foreign
exchange exposure and will undertake procedures
necessary to mitigate the currency risk.

Monetary assets

33. @RI A &)
b)) BEEREEEEREE(E)

miEE ()

(i)  EEERE
KRR ZHENBRARIESRT
SN EZRITHES - B
U — B R RIFUA « EAb
ERER  JFREHE
- WERESEE - BEX
ZEARE T REMERRRIR
& SAEEEAZINER
By o E IR B B ) BS 2K SN R
B WS A B EREIT
FREEBER o

Monetary liabilities

BEEEE BE#EE

2019 2018 2019 2018
—E-hAEF ZT-N\F Z—B-hFE ZZ)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT BET T ST T
US$ =5 10,746 11,193 (1,581,654) (1,572,790)
CAD hnk 23,512 24,296 - =
GBP HEE - 4,411 - -

Sensitivity analysis FREDH
The Group is mainly exposed to effects of NEFBFEATHKEET

fluctuation in US$, CAD and GBP.

The functional currency of the respective group
entities is HK$. The Group’s exposure to the
currency risk of US$ is limited because HK$ is
pegged to US$.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to
a 5% (2018: 5%) increase or decrease in HK$
against CAD and GBP. 5% (2018: 5%) is the
sensitivity rate used and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates.

ERERERE 2R -

HEEEERZIEERR
B mRETEBEEH
B AREBEHZEXTER
REBRAR

TRFAVANEBHNBE S
Bl A, 00 R B K 5% (=
T — )\F : 5%) 2 HRKE -
5%(ZF—\F : 5%) B
ASRELLE - HIEERE
HIERRRE IR 2 5B EE)
YE 2 51 o
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d) 33. @@MIA#E)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b)) HHKEREBEEERBEK(E)
(Cont’d)
Market risk (Cont’d) S E R (&)
(i) Currency risk (Cont’d) () E¥ERE (&)

Sensitivity analysis (Cont’d)

BUREDIT (&)

Impact of CAD lmpact of GBP

ngzEe RFEEE
2019 2018 2019 2018
—E-AE —N\F ZB-h#F —\%F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT E¥%TT E¥Tx B%TE

5% appreciation of the ~ IhEE & FAE
functional currency: 5% :

Decrease in post-tax profit AN € Fi1%

for the year St MR A (982) (1,014) - (184)
5% depreciation of the  Ihac E¥EEI(E

functional currency: 5% :
Increase in post-tax profit ANFE R Fi 1%

for the year & A N 982 1,014 - 184

(i) Interest rate risk (i) FEE R

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk REBREREERFIER
in relation to the fixed-rate amounts due from joint A EREAMBKRERK

ventures, fixed-rate other loan receivables and loan
notes as set out in Notes 18, 20 and 27,
respectively.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to bank balances, variable-rate other
loan receivables and bank and other borrowings as

ERERE (B2 R E R
18 20 %27) &N FEF
KRB o
NEB BB ITESR - F B
HthEWERARIBITRE
o 18 & (5518 2 Bl & 7 BT &

set out in Notes 25, 20 and 28, respectively. It is the 25 20%28) AR EME
Group’s policy to keep its bank and other MEEE NEEBZHRRR
borrowings at floating rate of interests so as to FERTT M H A8 & MR AT
minimise the fair value interest rate risk. BHMEFR - BREAFE

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR, CAD
Prime Rate and LIBOR.
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33.

B 7% ¥R 2% B =

—NEFE=A=+—RAILFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Cont’d)
Market risk (Cont’d)

(i)

(iif)

Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments at the end of the reporting
period which carried floating market interest rate.
The analysis is prepared assuming the amount of
asset and liability outstanding at the end of the
reporting period was outstanding for the whole
year. Bank balances are excluded from the analysis
as the management considers the change in interest
rate is not significant. A 100 basis points (2018: 100
basis points) increase or decrease is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents the
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31st
March, 2019, excluding the capitalised borrowing
costs of approximately HK$2,010,000 (2018:
HK$1,773,000), would decrease/increase by
HK$8,985,000 (2018: decrease/increase by
HK$9,138,000). This is mainly attributable to the
Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable-
rate other loan receivables and bank and other
borrowings.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising
from equity and fund investments. Management
manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risks. The Group’s equity
price risk is mainly concentrated on listed equity
and fund investments. In addition, the Group has
appointed a special team to monitor the price risk
and will consider hedging the risk exposure should
the need arise.

33. €E@T AR #E)
BREMEEEERBE (EZ)

(b)

g mEE ()

(i)

(iii)
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Contd)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)

(iii) ~ Other price risk (Cont’d)
Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below includes equity and
fund investments that are carried at fair values and
has been determined based on the exposure to
equity price risks at the end of the reporting period.
Debt investment is excluded from the analysis as
the management considers the effect arising from
change in price is not significant.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments had
been 30% (2018: 30%) higher/lower:

J post-tax profit for the year ended 31st March,
2019 would increase/decrease by
HK$32,481,000 (2018: HK$71,344,000) as a
result of the changes in fair value of equity
and fund investments; and

. investment revaluation reserve would
increase/decrease by HK$15,592,000 (2018:
HK$25,945,000) as a result of the changes in
fair value of equity and fund investments.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31st March, 2019, other than trade debtors, other
debtors and deposits, other loan receivables, other non-
current assets, amounts due from joint ventures, amounts
due from associates and bank balances and cash whose
carrying amounts best represent the maximum exposure
to credit risk as disclosed in Note 33(a), the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group arising from the amount of
contingent liabilities in relation to financial guarantees
provided by the Group is disclosed in Note 40.

Trade debtors arising from contracts with customers

The management of the Group considers the trade
debtors within lifetime ECL as at 1st April, 2018 and 31st
March, 2019 was insignificant and accordingly no
allowance for credit losses is provided.
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE—Z—NF=A=+—HILFE

33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Cont’d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont’d)

Other debtors and deposits

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of
the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model under
application of HKFRS 9 (2014) (2018: incurred loss
model) on other debtors and deposits by individual
assessment on 12m ECL basis and there had been no
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
except for certain other debtors and deposits which are
measured on lifetime ECL basis as those credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition.

Other loan receivables and interest receivables (included
in other non-current assets and debtors, deposits and
prepayments)

The Group takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the
risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in
full when due or being demanded for repayment.
Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular
analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential
borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment
obligations and by changing the lending limits of each
individual borrower when appropriate. Exposure to credit
risk is also managed in part by obtaining collateral and
corporate and personal guarantees from the borrowers. In
this regard, the Directors consider that the credit risk in
relation to other non-current assets and other loan
receivables are monitored on a revolving basis and
subject to a quarterly or more frequent review. The Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model under
application of HKFRS 9 (2014) (2018: incurred loss
model) by individual assessment on 12m ECL basis and
there had been no significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, except for certain other loan
receivables which are measured on lifetime ECL basis as
those credit risk had increased significantly since initial
recognition.

33. €E@T AR #E)

(b)

BREREEREREEK(E)
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Contd)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Cont’d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont’d)

Bank balances

The credit risks on bank balances are limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

Amounts due from associates and joint ventures and
undrawn loan commitments and financial guarantees to
an associate and joint ventures

The Directors consider that the credit risk in relation to
amounts due from associates and joint ventures are
monitored on a revolving basis and subject to a quarterly
or more frequent review. The Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model under application of HKFRS
9 (2014) (2018: incurred loss model) by individual
assessment on 12m ECL basis and there had been no
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
except for certain amount due from a joint venture which
are measured on lifetime ECL basis as those credit risk
had increased significantly since initial recognition.

For amounts due from associates and joint ventures
within 12m ECL, the management of the Group considers
the credit risks are limited with reference to underlying
asset values of respective associates and joint ventures.
For certain amount due from a joint venture with lifetime
ECL, the management of the Group considers the amount
is credit-impaired with reference to the financial
condition of the joint venture.

Undrawn loan commitments and financial guarantees to
an associate and joint ventures are assessed to be
insignificant with reference to the estimation of the
amount and timing of future cash flows, collateral values
and underlying asset values of respective associate and
joint ventures. Therefore, the loss allowance is not
material.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in Hong Kong, which accounted for
100% (2018: 100%) of the trade debtors as at 31st March,
2019.

The Group has concentration of credit risk in other loan
receivables as disclosed in Note 20, as two borrowers
accounted for 76% (2018: two borrowers accounted for
75%) of the total other loan receivables as at 31st March,
2019. At 31st March, 2019, the majority of borrowers of
the loan receivables are either listed companies in Hong
Kong or private company (2018: listed company in Hong
Kong or private company).

33. €T A #E)

(b)
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE—Z—NF=A=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d) 33. €M I A &)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies b) BHEEMEEAEEREE(E)
(Cont’d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont’d)
Amounts due from associates and joint ventures and
undrawn loan commitments and financial guarantees to
an associate and joint ventures (Cont’d)

The Group does not have any other significant
concentration of credit risk, other than concentration of
credit risk on liquid funds which are deposited with
several banks with high credit ratings, amounts due from
joint ventures as set out in Note 18, amounts due from
associates as set in Note 19, other loan receivables as set
out in Note 20, debtors as disclosed above and
refundable earnest money as set out in Note 24. The

= B R R R E A ()
ERBERNRREER AR - K
B E AR 7 —E# & 2]
REERFREZITHER(E)
BRIERRZEREEFRRITZRN
BHEL MEFIBAABKASER
BIGRIE - BT RE 19 BT 88 U Bt 2 X
BISRIE - M RE20 T &k H Al B W &
R EX PR R R 24
FEA TREFRESERZEER
REFERIN AEERERH T
MEMEAEHEERR - XEH

Group assesses the credit risk by reviewing and EIEEMNERT G I EE
monitoring the financial performance of the R EEERE  MEEERAE
counterparties and the management considers the default R TNE A o

risk is not significant.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment AEBANIZERRTRTGHEIE
comprises the following categories: LAT$ER -

Internal credit

rating Description Trade debtors Other financial assets
AREEFE B 7 BYURR HittEMEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of Lifetime ECL - not 12m ECL
v default and does not have any credit-impaired TEARBEEEE
past-due amounts KAHHEERR
RPUFENRRE - WEEFBE - BEERE
6
Watch list Debtor frequently repays in full amount after Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
BRELE due dates but usually settles after due date  credit-impaired T EAESREEEE
EHACERIBAR2EER  HRE KABRPEEBR
REBBREHESE - BEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL — not
Al &R in credit risk since initial recognition credit-impaired credit-impaired

through information developed KATRHIEEERE KATRHEEERE

internally or external resources -BEERE - BEERE
BRBAAE BRI BE RS

HERIAK - FERREEEM

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ EEESEBRAR
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 H#Z2=Z—NF=A=F+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d) 33. £RT A %)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies b)) BREREEEERBE(E)
(Cont’d)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont’d) EEEEBE AT (Z)

Internal credit

rating Description Trade debtors Other financial assets
ABEEFR  Hd B 5 YR HiteMEE

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL - credit- Lifetime ECL - credit-
BB credit-impaired impaired impaired

BEBRAREFEREERE KABRHEEER KABHEEER
-EfEERE - 2EERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written off Amount is written off
sy debtor is in severe financial difficulty ST A ST A

and the Group has no realistic

prospect of recovery
ARERAGBBARNBREN RS -

MASERRKEFAZ #EYT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE=ZF—hF=A—+—HAILFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d) 33. EMTAEE)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies b BEERESEBERRE(E)
(Cont’d)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont’d) 1= B2 B2 K R (B 5F 1 (&)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the TRFAVNANEBE BESEREZEE
Group’s trade debtors, other debtors and deposits, other Bih 2B S EIWNER - EmfE
loan receivables, other non-current assets, amounts due EA LR HimplwED - Hi4
from joint ventures, amounts due from associates and IERFEE - quy/ﬂ\%@ HIE -
bank balances which are subject to ECL assessment: JE U Bt 4% N B ZRE LA &fﬁﬁ EER T
EERR

External Internal Gross
credit credit carrying
rating rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount

HEBEE REBEE  +SEARKAEME

R R 2ER EEAE
HK$’000
BT

Financial assets at amortised costs

REBHERRIIRZERMEE
Amounts due from joint 18 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 370,294
ventures (note 1) TEA KRR +_EREHEEESE
UG &N EFHRIE () N/A Loss Lifetime ECL 11,022
iE A E1a — credit-impaired
XATEEAEEEE
- EEERE
381,316
Amounts due from associates 19 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 16,686
(note 1) i@ A K= B2 +EAEHREEESE
JE s B 8 2 B 0B (BERE 1)
Other loan receivables 20 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 354,700
Em B ER TEA 1B fex + @ AEHREEEE
N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL 500,000
i@ A Al &t — not credit-
impaired
XATEEAEEEE
- BEERE
854,700

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B RS RR M A

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 H#Z2=Z—NF=A=F+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d) 33. €RiTR (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies b) BEEMESEAEERHE(E)

(Cont’d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont’d) S EE KRB (Z)
External Internal Gross
credit credit carrying
rating rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount
HEEE REEE T+T-EAIKAFEHE
LR AR EER FREAE

HK$’000
BT
Other non-current assets 21 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 130,235
HibJEmE & E TEA {EWEES TEAEHREEEE
Trade debtors (note 3) 24 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL 3,100
2 S REUERF (HI7E3) TERA R fex — not credit-
impaired
KATEEIEEEE
- BEERE
Other debtors and deposits 24 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 52,791
HAitb EUER R R iR® TEA EWEES TEAAEHREEEE
N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL 16,137
TEA Al &E — not credit-
impaired
KATEEIEEEE
- BEERE
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL 23,337
TE A 18 — credit-impaired
KATEEEEEE
-EBEERE
92,265
Bank balances 25 Baa2 Low risk 12m ECL 525,740
RITHEER - Aaa 1K = B TEAEHREEEE
Baa2 & Aaa
Other items
Hhg g
Undrawn loan commitments 35 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 56,522
to joint ventures (note 2) iE A {livE TEARREEER
A& g R RREZARBA
SRURIE (3 2)
Financial guarantee contracts 40 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 1,630,522
(note 2) T EA (N +ZEATEHREEEE
MBERE K (HE2)
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE=ZF—hF=A—+—HAILFE

33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Cont’d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont’d)

(b)

notes:

1.

All the amounts due from joint ventures and associates are with no
fixed repayment terms. The Directors consider the ECL are
insignificant with reference to the estimation of the amount and
timing of future cash flows, collateral values and underlying asset
values of respective associates and joint ventures, except for
certain amount due from a joint venture which is credit-impaired.

For undrawn loan commitments to joint ventures and financial
guarantee contracts, the gross carrying amount represents the
maximum amount the Group guaranteed under the respective
contracts.

For trade debtors, the Group has applied the simplified approach
in HKFRS 9 (2014) to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL.
The ECL on the trade debtors are assessed collectively using a
provision matrix, grouped by shared credit risk characteristics and

33. ERIAE &)

(b)

g EE BRI (E

= B m e R m E M ()
FEE -

1. IR M A A B B R AL UR
EETERY EERR R%E?
BEERB LA EARNRRRER
B HAMREEREREEEENS
BRERE BREEBEYTEX
HEFEEERENEBEK—HEEA
BIFRIARS ©

2. FEA &R R Z KRB P EREE
REMBRERANME - BREAREALR
SERBEBSOMERZEREHE

3. HREZRKESRT S - AREERA
R BWMERLAESR(ZF—WF)
BEET AR BkA BB ERERE
BEE AREABRAEME SR

the loss allowance is not material. B oD Y TAE B IS - it
ZEERBEHSE  EBEEREL
TEKX-

HE-Z-—NF=A=+—HIF
E - $El%@ L b fE U E FA R
¥ 13,992,000 7C © sHREEEAM
IEREE E A EE 590,000 7T &
7 o) H Aty fE AR BR R R 32 & B /R E
BE A BB 1,030,000 7T °

TR E MU E R - Efh3E
MBEE m%%%%&ﬁ@u
R — A A A T BT
HEEBERZES -

During the year ended 31st March, 2019, the Group
reversed HK$13,992,000, provided HK$590,000, and
reversed HK$1,030,000 net impairment allowance for
other loan receivables, other non-current assets and other
debtors and deposits respectively.

The following table shows the movement in ECL that has
been recognised for other loan receivables, other non-
current assets, other debtors and deposits and amount
due from a joint venture.

Other
non-current
assets (note i)
AfERE
BE (W)

Amount due
from a joint
venture
Eh-Bag
AAFE
Lifetime ECL

(credit-
impaired)
AABBRE
FA(EE
HE)
HK$'000
BRI

Other loan receivables

AfbENER

Lifetime ECL
(not credit-
impaired)
AABBRE
TR BEGHES
RACERE HE)
HKS'000

AR

Other debtors and deposits (note i)

AERERR RS (W)

Lifetime ECL ~ Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired)  impaired)

KABBRE KARHEE
TEAES ToEARY BEGEER BAR(ER

Nt EEER  GEFE HE) HE) st

HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
AETT ARt AETr  B%Tn BBt BETn

12mECL Sub-total ~ 12mECL  12mECL Sub-total

At31st March, 2018 — HKFRS 9 2000) R=F—~\E=A=+-F

—EREBREENS IR
(ZEEhE) - - - - - - 23923 23923 11,022 34,945
Amounts remeasured through opening 3t ASHIRE A2 EFi 2
retained profits 48 195 114,938 115,133 1,902 5 4433 = 4438 = 121473
At Tt April, 2018 R=F-)\§HA-A 195 114,938 115,133 1,902 5 4433 23,923 28,361 11,022 156,418
Changes due to financial instruments EEAIE ARZERIAN
recognised as at 15t April B 29
— Impairment losses reversed —EEREER 45) (20,726) (20,771) - 4 (1393) - (1,397) - 22,168)
— Bxchange adjustments —EHER - - - - - - (586) (586) - (586)
Financial assets newly originated MELREE 6,779 = 6,779 590 367 = = 367 = 7736
At31st March, 2019 R=F-NE=R=1-A 6,929 94,212 101,141 2,492 368 3,040 23337 26,745 11,022 141,400

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED ErFESREER AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B RS RR M A

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (b)

(Cont’d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont’d)

notes:

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 H#Z2=Z—NF=A=F+—HILFE

33. @RI A &)

BEREERERBE(E)

= B R R R E A ()

fiE -

(i) Other non-current assets mainly include interest receivables (i)

generated from other loan receivables.

(ii) Other debtors and deposits mainly include interest receivables (ii)

generated from other loan receivables and refundable earnest

money.

Changes in the ECL provision of other loan receivables

are mainly due to:

Settlement in full of other loan
receivables with a gross carrying
amount of HK$40,000,000

Settlement in full of other loan
receivables with a gross carrying
amount of HK$110,000,000

New other loan receivables with a
gross carrying amount of
HK$108,000,000

HiERBAETZREHMRKE
FREE & 2 FEWFIS.

Hib R RA IR TR BIEEME
U B R A ) PR M B RN TR B 2

Bt E R MR EREREE

HRER  DERRR

FEEMEMEREFRABRE
7B #£ 40,000,000 7T

EEEMNEMERERRAAE
A5 110,000,000 7T

I E MR E KRR
#AFEB 108,000,000 7T

Annual Report 4 # @ 2018-2019

Increase (decrease) in ECL
EREEEEREM(RS)
Lifetime ECL
(not credit-

12m ECL impaired)

KAFHMEE
T-EAEHS BRGHEE

R
HK$'000
BT

H1E)
HK$’000
BT T

- (20,726)

6,779 =




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR R

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE=ZF—hF=A—+—HAILFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Cont’d)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont’d)
Changes in the ECL provision of other debtors and
deposits are mainly due to:

Settlement in full of interest receivables
with a gross carrying amount of
HK$3,945,000

Settlement in full of interest receivables

33. @RI A &)
b)) BEEREEEEREE(E)

= B R R R E A ()
Hib RUSR R MR e 2 BEEEE
BRELRZE  DEERR

Increase (decrease) in ECL

FAHEEREEIEMORL)
Lifetime ECL
(not credit-
impaired)
KARHEEE
BB GEEE
RAE)
HK$’000
BEFT

12m ECL

+=fEARES
EEEA
HK$’000
BT

ZEE EYF) B AR AR
AL 3,945,000 7T

2 HEM B S ARE AR

with a gross carrying amount of 77,390,000 7T
HK$7,390,000 - (1,393)
New interest receivables with a FIE e YR B AR E

gross carrying amount of
HK$5,846,000

4RFES 5 5,846,000 7T

367 -

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR



33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ira SRR M

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 #Z2—F—NF=A=+—HILFE

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Cont’d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Cont’d)

Changes in the ECL provision of other non-current assets
are mainly due to:

New interest receivables with a gross carrying
amount of HK$7,579,000

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group'’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors the
utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.

The Directors are taking active steps to improve the future
liquidity position of the Group by generating sufficient
operating funds internally and utilising undrawn banking
facilities.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms and has
been drawn up according to the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank
loans with a repayment on demand clause are included
in the earliest time band regardless of the probability of
the banks choosing to exercise their rights. The table
includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the
extent that interest flows are at floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the
end of the reporting period.

Annual Report 4 # @ 2018-2019

T P UOR) 2 BR T
@EEE L 7 579,000 7T 590

33. @RI A &)

BREREEEERBE(E)

ERABRR AL ()
HipIER AR 2 AN EEER
BHRED - HEBAR -

Increase

in ECL
12m ECL
BHEEE
B1E

tT=EAEM
FEEBR
HK$'000
BT

mBELmEE
ERRBDECARE  AEEER
LiERe LR eEERBERNE
BER/ITTRKY  BHAAREE
LERRESIRERESRERD
TE - EREERRTEEZD
RBER - LR S ER R -

EERIVERBENEAEERR
ZRBEERMR - BR/RREABEE
RAZEES RBAARBARITE

TR A & BHZ IR 1 7 & SRR
ZHRNTESRABBHRT ARG
o WIRBRASEAERZ&R
Bz EmABEARMBARSRERN
fREL- BRME @ IS REREER
R RITER » TmRITERH
BEERITEAMEN  —FF AR
RRHAKREE - TREENE
EARSRERE - MHBRERTE
BFTE - RERBBTIRBERR
ZHMEBH -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE=ZF—hF=A—+—HAILFE

33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Cont’d)
Liquidity risk (Cont’d)
Liquidity tables

Weighted
average
interest rate

il 37
il
%

2019 —2-NE
Non-derivative financial iablites HTELREE
Creditors and deposits ERERHREE -
Amount due to an associate R —RIBE ARIFE -
Obligations under finance leases REMEAE

~fixed rate -8 5.78
Bank borrowings Ri7lEE

- variable rate - %8 3.30
Loan notes — fixed rate ﬁ?—ki‘,’iﬁ b 475
Financial guarantee contracts (Note 40) B EREH (HE40)

Undrawn loan commitments to joint ventures A EARIRE 2 XA EH
(Note 35) %F(Bﬁﬁm

Weighted
average
interest rate

2018 —B-N\E
Non-derivative financial liabilities Hitemas
Creditors and deposits e =
Amount due to an associate ER—RBENRHE =
Obligations under finance leases REAGAE

— fixed rate -8 5.67
Bank and other borrowings fﬂﬁ&ﬁ‘r@ 5

— variable rate - B8 264
Loan notes — fixed rate ENER-E8 475
Financial guarantee contracts (Note 40) M ERa N (H0)

Undrawn loan commitments to an associate [~ A A E RAL AT
and joint ventures (Note 35) REZAGRE AR

(RizE35)

33. ERIAE &)
b)) HEERSEEERBEEK(Z

BN 2 R (g)
ﬂ/b@jﬁﬁ_ﬁ‘:

(0]]
demand or
less than

3 months

2
HK$ 000

BT

3 months

HK$'000
AR

1to5
years

ik
HKS'000
AR

Total
undiscounted
cash flows

AEE
REng
L
HK$'000
BRI

Carrying
amount
at
31.3.2019

I
HK$'000
AR

153,741 . - 153,741 153,741
408,128 - - 408,128 408,128
40 120 47 639 568
1,378,115 109,073 - 1487188 1479545
18,132 54397 1569256 1,641,785 1,547,059
1,958,156 163590 1569735 3691481 3,580,041
1,630,522 - - 1630522 -
56,522 - - 56,522 -

On
demand or
less than

3 months

3 months

—f
HK$/000
AETTL

Tto5
years

—z5%
HK$'000
/Em%TE

Total
undiscounted
cash flows

Carrying
amount
at
31.3.2018

78,108 - - 78,108 78,108
132,532 = = 132,532 132,532
22 49 63 134 125
1,339,625 = 143,072 1,482,697 1,476,900
18,132 54,397 1,641,786 1,714,315 1,538,209
1,568,419 54,446 1,784,921 3,407,786 3,225,874
1,271,959 - - 1,271,959 -
602,102 - - 602,102 -

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR BTSRRI R

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZ—F—hF=A=+—HILFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Cont’d)

Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “on demand or less than 3 months” time
band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31st March,
2019, the carrying amounts of these bank loans amounted
to HK$1,372,397,000 (2018: HK$1,084,761,000). Taking
into account the Group's financial position, the Directors
do not believe that it is probable that the banks will

exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The Directors believe that the undiscounted
principal and interest of such bank loans will be repaid in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out
in the loan agreements as below.

Less than 3 months DR=1EA
3 months to 1 year =ERAE—%
1to 5 years —ERF

Behf

Exceeding 5 years

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could be
required to settle under the arrangement for the full
guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the
counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations at
the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that
it is more likely than not that no amount will be payable
under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject
to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a
function of the likelihood that the financial receivables
held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer
credit losses.

The amount included above for variable interest rate
instrument for non-derivative financial liabilities is subject
to change if variable interest rate differ to those estimates
of interest rates determined at the end of reporting period
based on spot rates.

33. @RI A &)

(b)

Annual Report 4 # @ 2018-2019

BEREERERBE(E)

FHEELE (F)

B A5 1% ZRER KR 2 RITERR
FR BB S ITEA TR Bk D
R=Z@ER|zEBM&EE  R=_F
—NF=A=+—H " ZE8RTE
;7 BREEABE1,372,397,000 7T
(=ZZ— \F : ##1,084,761,000
TL) © BET RAEE Z ISR
EERERITAIRETEERSE
RO ERER - EBHEZSE
RITERZARBBERE RFEHIR
BERmHRSBETERAHEE
M e

2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —E-N\F
HK$/000 HK$’000
BETT BT
172,303 24,726
67,334 200,989
1,293,850 509,982
- 488,257
1,533,487 1,223,954

Bl AMBEREOZEB/RN
BERXZETHRRE@HAR - X
SEREZHRIBEAEBEE 2 BIER
THRZERTE  REREHRZ
B AEBER B/ TAFEERE
LR AMERIRIE - 281 - B
AREERZE T RBERRELR
B2 rRelEm IR EE) - BRI AL
MR 5 $ 77 Fr i 2 FE R B 75 e
WA IRE SRR Z AT REIE AR -

R R EE VS EE SR
E B2 FEEH TR - AR
P EEMABEZFETALE
IR IREED -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZ—

33.

ZNF=A=T—RIFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(c)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of the reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as well as the
level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorised (Levels 1 to 3 as set out in
Note 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the
fair value measurements is observable.

Set out below is the information about how the fair values
of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair
value are determined, including the valuation techniques
and inputs used:

33. @RI A &)

(0

Valuation technique
Fair value hierarchy and key inputs

Financial assets Fair value as at

fEERER

SREE RUATAS2ATE
3132019 3132018
ZE-RE —T)\&

ZR=t-B =ZA=t-H

HK$'000 HKS'000
BRI BB

DYEER

Financial assets at FVTPL

TERARE

EMITAZAFENE
BREEMBELLFETEBZFE
EEMEEZ N FE
AEEHBYEREETRBREHR
ZRFEFE - TRIEHBEREE
ZEEMEELAFEZEN (AR
mE - BVPT A fA(E 7% R B A B
B)REARBATEAEMAEH
J\%HT‘“ZTER%QEFH"“$TE#E

DRERFESR(MEIMHSE
—E=R)Z2EH -

AT EHEEAEERAFE
AEZERMIAZATFEZER
BREMAAGBETZRBABIE

Significant
unobservahle
inputs

EXRIEE
BAYE

Relationship

of unobservable
inputs to fair value
#ibza

PN ¢
AYEZRE

BROVESIRR AR
LEREE
Listed equity securities 34,070 71,825 Level 1 Quoted closing prices in an NA N/A
LiAES Eh active market 0 i 01
RERmEHRAHE
Listed equity securities - 205,920  Level 3(31.3.2018:  Market approach which uses relevant  Estimated number of  An increase in the
(note iii Level 1) information generated by operating cinemas ~ estimated number of
LR 34,070 71745 F=R certain companies with and estimated number ~ operating
(RzEiii) (Z2-N& comparable businesses of operating screens  cinemas and
SA=T-B: (3132018 Quoted closing (e BEERUER  estimated number of
1) prices in an active market) [FHEBHBHE  operating screens
mRE RRLTEARHEZ  (132006NA would esultin
AfEREEH (C2-NE an increase in
(ZE-\5=f=t-R: =F=1-H fair value, and
RERDEHRUHE) TER) vice versa

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR

(31.3.2018: N/A)
fhteEEREER
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ENBERNTE
E RZR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B RS RR M A

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 &&= —F—hF=A=+—HAILFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd) 33. @RI A &)

(c) Fair value measurement of financial instruments (Cont’d) (© ZL2RMIBEZATEFEE)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are B EMEEL N T EFEZRE
measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Cont’d) BELREEC XFE(E)

Significant Relationship
Valuation technique unobservable of unobservable
Financial assets Fair value as at Fair value hierarchy and key inputs inputs inputs to fair value
#ibzg
HERER EXELER AHBR
tREE WATE?ﬁZ’R?@ AYEER TERAHE PN ¢ AYEZBRE
31.3.2019 2
“E-nf
ZR=t-H
HK$'000 HK$ 000
BT BETT
Unlisted investment funds 95,596 7,002 Level 3 Net asset value of the unlisted Net asset value An increase in the
in overseas =8 equity and partnership BEHE net asset value
NEdzELTRERS investments that are the deemed would result in
resale price of the investments an increase in
provided by the external fair value,
counter-parties and vice versa
FLARARBRR AR AEFREN
SHRARARER, RERATHE
ABREZAERE B k2R
Financial assets
atFvTodl
RAVEIRRA
Afp2Ekiz
LTHEE
Listed equity securities 35,043 73271 Level1 Quoted closing prices in an N/A N/A
LiAES -4 active market el li
RERTRRERTE
Unlisted equity securities 27,200 30,300 Level 3 Market approach which uses Minority and Asignificant
¥ LmiAES =k prices and other relevant marketability increase in the
information generated by discount of 25% minority and
market transactions involving (2018: 25%) marketability
comparable businesses (note ii discount would
ek RRSRFAEEKL HERRERR resultin a
AR A EERRAL k2! significant
iR hEE25% decrease in fair
(ZE-N\&: value,
25%) (i) and vice versa
HERRERR
[LCARE &
KELIHRS
ATEARTH
R

Annual Report 4 # @ 2018-2019
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 BZE—Z—NF=F=+—HILFE

33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(c)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments (Cont’d)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are

measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Cont’d)
notes:

(i) The fair values of the unlisted equity securities as at 31st March,
2019 and 2018 are determined by Asset Appraisal Limited, using
the market approach.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement of financial

33. @RI A &)

(0

EMIAZAFEFEE)
BREEMEEL N TFHETBZFE
BE@MEEZ L FHEE

FYaE -

i) FLETIBAELER-—BE—NER-F
—\FE=ZAR=+—HAZAFEHPH
ERETEERERARKATSE
B °

E=RATFEFEZSREELRMN

assets is as follows: T
Unlisted
investment Unlisted Listed
funds in equity equity
overseas securities securities Total
Righz
E kL i
REES RA&RS RARS o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BETT
At 1st April, 2017 RZE—+FMA—H 5,051 30,700 = 35,751
Addition #0 2,011 - - 2,011
Unrealised loss, recognised in: RATERZRERES !
— profit or loss -B& = = = =
~ other comprehensive income - HthREME - (400) - (400)
At 31st March, 2018 RZE-\F=A=+-H 7,062 30,300 - 37,362
Transfer o - - 146,261 146,261
Addition =0 54,018 - - 54,018
Unrealised gain (loss), recognised in: RUATHRRZ RER N (B58) -
— profit or loss -85 34,516 - (146,261) (111,745)
- other comprehensive income - HthREME - (3,100) - (3,100)
At 31t March, 2019 W=F-NE=A=+-A 95,596 27,200 - 122,79

(ii) A 5% increase/decrease in the minority and marketability discount
holding all other variables constant would decrease/increase the
carrying amount of the unlisted equity securities by HK$1,800,000
(2018: HK$2,000,000).

(i) As at 31st March, 2018, the fair value of certain listed equity
securities was HK$205,920,000, which was determined based on
quoted closing prices in an active market and thus classified as
Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. During the year ended 31st
March, 2019, following the suspension of trading and due to a
lack of quoted closing prices or recent transaction prices in the
market, the quoted closing price was no longer available and thus
the fair value of such listed equity securities was measured using a
valuation technique performed by independent professional
valuers with significant unobservable inputs made by the
management and hence classified as Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy. An approximately 20% increase in the number of
operating screens holding all other variables constant would result
in zero fair value of the Level 3 suspended listed equity securities
(2018: N/A).

(i) LPEBRRERRTISEINEE
Ft/ 5% - ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁtﬂ%{%&h
T I ETRAFS 2 REEBR
A /18 0 1,800,000 7T (ZF— )\
£ A% 2,000,0007T) °

iy WKR=FE-—NEFE=ZA=+—RH0 B5FL
TRAEHRZAFEAEBE
205,920,0007C + JHIE A IE B TH 35 B
wBMEEE  AMABEAATES
BE—H-RBEE-T—NLF=A
S+—HALEFE BERNEREE
B Al ETRABS RS ISR
W ESGITMERSE @ 2Rk
TETHEA W ZELTMRAES
ZAFETEB Y EEGEMEAA
BEBRBAETAEHRE ALK 2
BERT#ETHE  YEMSBEARF
BEERE=M - EEREHELMD
20% * MATA LM EHERFTE - &
EHEEEEENFE A LETRAE
H2AFEAT(ZE—N\F: T@
) -

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR



33.

34.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 #Z=—

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(c) Fair value measurement of financial instruments (Cont’d)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis (Cont’d)
Except as disclosed in note (iii), there was no other
transfer amongst Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 for both
years.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on a discounted cash flow analysis.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those
for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows
as cash flows from financing activities. Interest payments in
relation to below liabilities are included in other payables and
accruals and presented in operating cash flow.

33.

34.

ira SRR R

TNF=F=1—AILFE

SRIAE)

© LMIBEZATVEHEE)
BAR S BB N FEHB R E
ELBEEZAFE(E)
B BT Giii) PR AR BB & 4N - MM E4E
BRE— —R=HzELEH
R H e R E N,

tREERSBABZATFENR
BAREEBEAUMBRERESD
WEE -

EERRNEA M IEMRITEHK

ROz eREENERMABZER

EEEEATEBE
MEFBMELEREZHER

TRAVNAEEREBELHMELREL
2 BREASKIFRSES WAL

BAELAREN IR ENAE
Bl RnE8RANDEARE LTI
EERESREZRSREIRKRE R
B BT EERB BN AR
RN REREARB T WAL ZR
LMEFIR o

Amount due to
non-controlling
interests
(included in
creditors,
deposits and Obligations Bank
Amount due accrued Dividend  under finance and other
to an associate charges) payable leases horrowings
EAFERER
HE(BEE
Ef-B ERER #E me RITR
BERRRE  REREX) EHRS REAR g &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AR AR BT AU AR AR
At Tst April, 2017 R-B—+EMA-H 418915 = - 235 1,588,680 2,007,830
Financing cash flows RERLHE (286,383) - (61,102) (110) (129,143) (476,738)
Scrip dividend MRAE - - (136,822) - - (136,822)
Dividends recognised ERRDELRE
as distribution = = 197,924 = = 197,924
Exchange adjustment EH A% = = - = 17,363 17,363
At 31st March, 2018 RZE-\F
=fA=+-H 132,532 - 125 1,476,900 1,609,557
Financing cash flows HERENE 275,59 47,150 (125,990) (140) 13,081 209,697
Scrip dividend MRAE - - (83,740) - - (83,740)
Dividends recognised BRABDELIRE
as distribution = = 209,730 = = 209,730
Addition i - - - 583 - 583
Exchange adjustment B A% = = - - (10,436) (10,436)
At31st March, 2019 RZZ2-NF
=A=1-R 408,128 47,150 = 568 1,479,545 1,935,391
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE=ZF—hF=A—+—HAILFE

35. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure contracted for but not
provided in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of:

— construction of investment properties
— acquisition of stock of properties
— equity and fund investments

Other commitments:

— construction of stock of properties

— investment in an associate

— investments in joint ventures

— loan to an associate

— loan to joint ventures

— capital contribution in a company for
a proposed land development
in Vietnam

36. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
The Group as lessee

Minimum lease payments paid under
operating leases during the year:

Premises

35. EXRRHAMALE

2019
—E-hEF

HK$'000
BET T

BRI ERNERE BB HREK

2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
BT T

BEzEARRY
- BRI EME 4,202 16,073
-WIEMETE 8,280 14,060
-BARESEKE 40,138 -
52,620 30,133
HAth A
-EEYEER 139,890 176,569
- RER—EHE AR 106,200 106,200
—-REREERNT 15,072 895
— [A— MR IR E R - 598,745
- AL RRIREER 56,522 3,357
— BLERE MRS B R L T )
—BRAREE
9,941 9,937
327,625 895,703
380,245 925,836
36. REHERE
AEEESEBEA

2019
—E-NF

HK$'000
BET T

FARBKEHEINZRIE
MERK

BF 80,328

2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
BEET T

95,472

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 H#Z2=Z—NF=A=F+—HILFE

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS (Cont’d)

The Group as lessee (Cont’d)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments
for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases which fall due as follows:

—FR
E_EFTF(BREREMT)

Within one year
In the second to fifth year inclusive

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for certain of its office premises and hotel. Leases are
negotiated for lease terms of one to six years and rentals are
fixed.

The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was
HK$11,314,000 (2018: HK$16,436,000). The properties which
were leased out as at 31st March, 2019 had rental yield of
approximately 1% (2018: 1%) and with committed tenants with
the longest tenure for two (2018: two) years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted
with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments:

—FR

Within one year

In the second to fifth year inclusive

F_EERF(BREEEWT)

36. REHERES)
KEBERAEBA(E)
RMEHR - AEBERBEDNITHHELE
HEARTIFREZMZARKERE
FEENT -

2019 2018
—B-hE —TN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT IT
87,215 84,037
2,667 86,088
89,882 170,125

REHENFEAREREETREFE
MBEENzEE - HBERER—EN
FoHESEE -

AEBEAEHEA
FARDM2MERSRABBE
11,314,000t ( — & — )\ F: # ¥
16,436,000 )c R=ZF — L FE = A
= t+t—HELHAMEZHELRO A1
B(Z=—N\F:18) S@BEFFIvzHE
NERABEME(ZE—NF : WE) o

RBERR - AEEE 8 FIIRRRIE
MENREBFRTA -

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BEET I
2,443 3,077
1,070 208
3,513 3,285
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4= A
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE—Z—NF=A=+—HILFE

37.

38.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s bank and other
borrowings and credit facilities were secured by the following:

W - B R
REWZE
MEFE
R—BEE QR

Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties

Stock of properties

Interest in a joint venture

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefits
scheme which is registered under the Occupational Retirement
Scheme Ordinance for eligible employees. The assets of the
scheme are separately held in funds under the control of
trustees.

The cost charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
represents contributions paid or payable to the fund by the
Group at rates specified in the rules of the scheme. Where there
are employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in
the contributions, the contributions payable by the Group are
reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had no significant
forfeited contributions, which arose upon employees leaving
the retirement benefits scheme and which are available to
reduce the contributions payable by the Group in future years.

With effect from 1st December, 2000, the Group has also
joined the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) for employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is
registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Authority under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in funds under the control of an
independent trustee.

37.

38.

BEERR
R|EMR ARBEZRITREMEER
UREERE TIISAFEER

2019 2018
—B-nF —TN\F
HK$/000 HK$'000
BEFT  BETR
910,166 929,332
922,000 900,000
752,922 475,690
- 141,298
2,585,088 2,446,320
R S ER IR

AEERABEREBRETREBEERNK
REEET 8GN 2 T BB TR AR
T8l LAt B ZEEBHEEATERL
HEEORFA -

R B BERIGR 2 KA ARBIZZ
AEREMERFELEAESE N
FE 2 13K - i B 2 8BS HBA
Bzt E) - RDR Y2 30 A R F0R
REBREA 2 HK -

RBERR AEELEREESRER
R@AEBIM A A BIEHUR AN SR B E 1R
FEEBMNHMRZ BN -

—EETF+-A—AE AEER
AEBEESNBRHEAESH B2
el - AESH B RER I
AHSH BIED AR HIEAES 58T
BEER - BHRELHHEERAR
EAESWER LR —ABITRA
THZ ESHE -

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ EEESEBRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR BTSRRI R

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE—T—hF=A=1+—HILFE

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES (Cont'd)

Under the rule of the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the
scheme at rate specified in the rules. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme. The contributions to the MPF
Scheme charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
represent contributions paid or payable to the funds by the
Group at rates specified in the rules of the scheme with a cap.
No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution
payable in future years.

The employees of the subsidiaries in the PRC are members of
state-managed retirement benefits schemes operated by the
PRC government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefits
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefits schemes is to make the
required contributions under the schemes.

The total costs charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss of HK$5,754,000 (2018: HK$5,683,000) represented
contributions paid or payable to the schemes by the Group
during the year.

38.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR MRS R MY A

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE=ZF—hF=A—+—HAILFE

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES 39. EEEATIRXRERER
Related party transactions BRAEALRS
(i)  During the year, the Group entered into the following () ER FEFEZHEEEHENLI Y
transactions with related parties: T35

2019 2018
—EB-NF —F-N\F

Related party note Nature of transaction HK$’000 HK$'000
RREAL M XSHE BRI BETT

Joint ventures:

BERT:
Fortress State (as defined in Note 21(b)) Interest income
AR (ERAME21(0) MBIEA 7,990 19,822
(@ Rental expense

HEMX 72,000 72,000
1488 Alberni LPDH (as defined in Note 18) Interest income
(EERHE18) MBIEA 20,146 19,082
1488 Alberni LPI (as defined in Note 18) Interest income
(&K 18) MBBA 1,060 1,004
City Synergy Limited Management fee received

EHREER 360 480
Whiterfield Peak Limited Management fee received

ERERE 240 -
Eastern Cosmo Limited Property commission income

= E/ES i - 3,420
Associates:
wﬂiﬂ
Concordla (as defined in Note 19) Management fee received
B (ERAME9) EREER 120 120
Macau Properties Holdings Limited Rental income
BRI ESEERAR BEBA 1,165 1,141
Concordia Property Development Consultancy fee expense 14,000 14,000

Holdings Limited BREHX

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B RS RR M A

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 &&= —F—hF=A=+—HAILFE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES 39, BEEATXS R &L ()

(Cont’d)
Related party transactions (Cont’d) BEEALRS (E)
(i) (Cont’d) i (&)

2019 2018
—B-hF —FN\F

Related party note Nature of transaction HK$’'000 HK$’000
BREAL M XEME BETT BT

Other related companies:

BtEERA -
Hi Park Limited (“Hi Park”) (b)  Licence fee received 588 391
=AERAR ([&H]) BT E
Rental and management fee 641 564
received
EhHEERERE
Rental expense 29 24
HeRz
Vectr Venture Limited (“Vectr”) () Rental income and 1,088 1,088
management fee income
HERAREEZBRA
Other related parties:
BEtEREAL :
Dr. Chan Kwok Keung, Charles (d)  Discretionary bonus on 10,000 -
BRERE L consultancy service
BRI RSB EEAL
notes: B
(a) At the end of reporting period, the Group had commitments for the (@) RBEMR  REBEFRR —FR
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating B2 TR ETHE 2 RR&KIE
lease with Fortress State amounting to HK$80,000,000 (2018: THE 1 FURHE 26 80,000, 0007r(_
HK$76,800,000) which fall due within one year; and nil amount =T — )\ F : &% 76,800,0007C) :
(2018: HK$80,000,000) which fall due in the second to fifth years ﬁé%::’é%ﬁi(@%ﬁ%ﬁi)ﬂ%ﬁ
inclusively. The Directors expect to renew the lease contract upon Z AR EHE 2 KRR KERE
its expiry. NREERBEEL(ZT—N\F:
7 #80,000,0007T) ° & ETEHNE
HRSEEMRL
(b) Mr. Cheung Hon Kit, an executive Director, is the shareholder of (b) PWITEEREGEEARAZRE -
Hi Park.
(© Vectr is controlled by Mr. Chan Yiu Lun, Alan, an executive (©) Vectr J3 11T 55 BRI S A 12 il
Director.
(d) Dr. Chan Kwok Keung, Charles and his associates are the (d) WM E  BREARE T RE
Controlling Shareholders as disclosed in Note 1. B8 NAIERRE -

Annual Report 4 # @ 2018-2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE—Z—NF=A=+—HILFE

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
(Cont’d)
Related party transactions (Cont’d)
(i)  Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of key management personnel,
representing the Directors, during the year was as follows:

39.

BREAIXRGRERE)

EBEALRS (&)

(i) FEEBEASHH
REEFTEEERAE(ESR) M
NN

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

BETT BT IT

Short-term benefits 5 AAER 43,570 43,570

Equity-settled share-based payment AR EEE UGB R TFZ
expense X 1,967 -
Post-employment benefits i3 e T 577 588
46,114 44,158

The remuneration of Directors is determined by the
remuneration committee, with reference to the prevailing
market conditions, their duties and responsibilities and
time spent on the affairs of the Group as well as their
performance.

Related party balances

Details of the outstanding balances with related parties are set
out in the consolidated statement of financial position and in
Notes 18 and 19.

Other related party transactions
The Company provided corporate guarantee for loan facilities
granted to certain joint ventures and associates. Details of the
guarantee are set out in Note 40.

EEME I RFTMEEE2RER
N REZBBRBER - RAK
BEBARM KR RRBIELE

ﬁ_':_o

BEEATEE
HAERBEALTZHAEBELEHRFBIR
LA ISR RIA LM FE18 K19 °

HibEBEALRS
AABRETEER R L E QR FTE
REFRERHEARER - BHEERF
IBERMIFE40 ©

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR



40.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 #Z=—

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31st March, 2019 and 2018, the Group’s contingent
liabilities mainly arose from financial guarantee contracts by
provision of corporate guarantee to its joint ventures and an
associate as follows:

ira SRR R

TNF=F=1—AILFE

40. HAREE
BA_T NEXR—ZF-—NF=ZA=1+—
ZK‘*IZ?%EJ;IEQ@}@WH\

BERAR—HBERRREATAR
BRAIFEEVFERREH

2019 2018
ZE-AE —EN\F
HK$000 HK$'000
BT BT T
a 50% owned joint venture A 50% 26 &R A] 91,000 91,000
a 40% owned associate A 40% 2B & A A 565,707 565,707
a 50% owned joint venture HH50% 26 & A 58,000 -
a 40% owned joint venture BB 40% 26 ERF] 320,000 =
a 28% owned joint venture in Canada B 28% 2 NEREE QA 230,418 238,100
a 50% owned joint venture in Canada B 50% 2 NEXEE QA 365,397 377,152
1,630,522 1,271,959

The amounts disclosed above represent the aggregate amounts tEABEESEENR_F-NAF=A

that could be required to be paid if the guarantees were called
upon in entirety as at 31st March, 2019, of which
HK$1,307,070,000 (2018: HK$937,597,000) has been utilised
by the associate/joint ventures.

The Directors consider that the fair value of the above
guarantees is insignificant on initial recognition and it is not
probable that an outflow in settlement will be required. As at
1st April, 2018, date of initial application of HKFRS 9 (2014),
the ECL for outstanding financial guarantees are assessed to be
not material.

Annual Report 4 # @ 2018-2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR MRS R MY A

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE—Z—NF=A=+—HILFE

41. SUMMARISED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 41, ZKA BB ARk R R E
THE COMPANY

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT

Non-current assets EMEBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RIBRBRZRE 1,203,306 1,074,530
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG 5,199,359 5,406,563
6,402,665 6,481,093

Current assets MENE B
Other receivables and prepayments £ {th i U 578 K 78 (- 5008 291 334
Amount due from a subsidiary FEU — R B A RIRIR 105,760 -
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR RS 261,300 354,172
367,351 354,506
Current liabilities mEE &

Other payables and accruals HAb I RIE RER X 1,017 989
Amount due to a subsidiary J& A<t — I Bt /B8 22 RIRKIE 105,760 -
Bank borrowings RITIEE 99,993 119,915
206,770 120,904
Net current assets BB EFE 160,581 233,602
Total assets less current liabilities BEERTHARE 6,563,246 6,714,695

Non-current liability FERBEE
Amount due to a subsidiary JE A<t — I BfT /B8 22 R RK IR 289,708 400,995
6,273,538 6,313,700

Capital and reserves P& 7R K (it
Share capital f& R 9,753 9,377
Reserves EiE (a) 6,263,785 6,304,323
6,273,538 6,313,700

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
/T\ ﬁ ﬁk #& 2% |§ﬁ FI_I\I_

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 &&= —F—hF=A=+—HAILFE

41. SUMMARISED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 41, ZAA BBER R RBE 2)
THE COMPANY (Cont'd)

note: P aE
(a) Reserves (a) s
Share-
Capital based
Share  Contributed redemption payment Retained
premium surplus reserve reserve profits Total
RAEE URGH R
RDEE BB i Xt RERF L
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT 7 7T BETT BETT BT BETT
(note)
(B5E)
THE COMPANY ARH
At Tst April, 2017 RZZ—+tFWA—-AH 3,176,486 113,020 9,185 2,622 2,493,995 5,795,308
Profit and total comprehensive AERRNREEREER
income for the year - - - - 572,912 572,912
Exercise of share options TR RE 216 - = 37) - 179
Transfer of lapse of share options 1 R4 K 288 ¢ - = - (2,585) 114 (2,471)

Issue of shares pursuant toscrip 1R B 2% G
dividend scheme for

2017 final dividend -2 -EERERE 75,184 = - - = 75,184
—2018 first interim dividend -ZE-\FE—RFH
s, 61,135 - - - - 61,135

Dividends recognised as distribution FE/E7 &2 5

(Note 13) (Bt 13) - - - = (197,924) (197,924)
At 31st March, 2018 RZE-\$=A=1+-H 3,313,021 113,020 9,185 - 2,869,097 6,304,323
Profit and total comprehensive AEEENR2ERGEE

income for the year - - - - 82,644 82,644
Recogpition of equity-settled LA R A5 B AR AT

share-based payments (Note 31) 350 (Fif3£31) - - - 3,184 - 3,184

Issue of shares pursuant toscrip RN S5 B3 711D
dividend scheme for

~2018 second interim dividend - ZZ— \FEZRFH
Be 76,719 . . . - 76,719
2019 first interim dividend - 2R NEFE-RTH
RS 6,645 - - - - 6,645
Dividends recognised as distribution #3215 1.2 &8 (3£ 13)

(Note 13) - - - S 9730 (209,730)
At 315t March, 2019 R-E-NE=A=+—A 3,396,385 113,020 9,185 3188 2742011 6,263,785
note: The contributed surplus of the Company represented the credit Mist : RARZHMABRBRIERE_ZT—TF

arising from capital reduction pursuant to the capital =R T=HZRASHET Hﬁ$ﬁ| e
reorganisation on 13th March, 2010. FRESHER -

Annual Report &3 @ 2018-2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R RMN R

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 BZE—Z—NF=F=+—HILFE

42. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 42.
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31st
March, 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

EEWELE
AAREEMBAAR-E—NFR=
T—\F=A=+—B2HENT -

Name of subsidiary

WEAREH

Place of
incorporation/
registration/
establishment
SRR B
R

Issued and
fully paid

share capital/
registered capital

ERTRAR
Ra/EMEx

Total attributable
equity interest
held by the Company
KRR

L3 42
2019 2018
S
% %

Principal activities

FEER

Advance Tech Limited Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share 100 100 Securities investment

RERRAR BE BEITERR EHRE

Anyone Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands USS$1 ordinary share 100 100 Property development
EERAES IXTERR NEER

Asia Falcon Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 ordinary share 100 100 Investment holding
RBRAES 1RTERR REER

Assets Island Limited Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share 100 100 Property development
BB AR TERR NEER

CWB Land Limited Hong Kong HK$209 ordinary shares 100 100 Property development
&R AR209TEBR NRER

Dormax Limited Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share 100 100 Property development

SEERAF Bk BRI TERR NEER

DS Eastin Hong Kong HK$20 ordinary shares 100 100 Investment holding

= BE B0 TERR REER

Eagle Spirit Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 ordinary share 100 100 Investment holding
EERKES IXTERR RAER

Global Intelligence Investments British Virgin Islands USS$1 ordinary share 100 100 Investment holding

Limited RERARS IXTERR REER

Great Intelligence Limited Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 Property investment
B AR TERR NERE

ITC Properties Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 Money lending

BREENEERAR BB AE 2 TERR B

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED

@ BHMESREERAQA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd)

Name of subsidiary

WEAREH

[TC Properties (Hong Kong) Limited
ITC Properties Investment (China)
Limited

ITC Properties (Macau) Limited

ITC Properties Management Limited
RHEEEERERAA

[TC Properties (Overseas) Limited

ITC Properties (Townsend House)
Company Limited

Place of
incorporation/
registration/
establishment
MR B/
R

British Virgin Islands
RERLEE

British Virgin Islands
RERARS

British Virgin Islands
RERKEE

Hong Kong
B

British Virgin Islands
RERARS

United Kingdom
RE

Annual Report &3 @ 2018-2019
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 H#Z2=Z—NF=A=F+—HILFE

42. XEMBLE (&)

Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered capital
BERTRAR
RE/ERER

US$1 ordinary share
1XTERER

USS$1 ordinary share
IXTERR

US$1 ordinary share
IXTERR

(i) HK$2,000

ordinary shares

(i)8% 2,000 EBHK
(i) HK$500,000
non-voting deferred
shares (note a)

(ii) 7% 500,000 7
GETY

US$100 ordinary shares
100X &R

GBP1 ordinary share
1RELBER

Total attributable
equity interest

held by the Company
LG iES:
FEfREAR

2019

—B-NE

%

100

100

100

100

100

90.1

2018
—E0\F
%

100

100

100

100

100

90.1

Principal activities

FEER

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Securities investment and
provision of management
services

BERERBHERRY

Investment holding

BAER

Property investment and
development

NERERER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R RMN R

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 BZE—Z—NF=F=+—HILFE

42. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd) 42. TEMBAT @)
Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid Total attributable
registration/ share capital/ equity interest
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
FMEL ER/ BRTRAR ENGTlE S
WEA R EH R i 2 Bx/ERER bR AE TEXH
2019 2018
Z2-nFE ZZNF
%
[TCP Alberni Holdings Limited Canada (i) CAD4,760,100 common shares 100 100 Investment holding
JIIEYA 1% 4,760,100 7T % Ak RAER

(ii) CAD1,812,632
preferred shares
1,812,632 TEER
(2018: (i) CAD4,760,100
common shares

(ii) CAD1,282,107
preferred shares)
(ZE-N\&:

(i) D& 4,760,100 70 L 3B A%
(ii) ¥ 1,282,107 TLEER)

Keen Step Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 Property investment

BEARAA BA BELTERR NERE

Le Petit Rosedale Hotel Limited Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share 100 100 Hotel operation

HBHmBEBRAR Bk BEITERR BEEE

Lion Speed Developments Limited ~ British Virgin Islands US$1 ordinary share 100 100 Securities and
RERUES 1ETERR fund investments

RERZRES
Million Orient Limited Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary share 100 100 Investment holding
REARAA B BB TERR RAER

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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TNF=F=1—AILFE

42.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Name of subsidiary

WEAREH

Place of
incorporation/
registration/
establishment

MR B/
R

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 #Z—

42. XEMBLE (&)

Issued and
Total attributable
equity interest

fully paid

share capital/
registered capital
ERTRAR
RE/EREE

LGS
FElRiAR
2019

“E-hE  ZZ-

%

held by the Company

2018
NE
%

Principal activities

FTEER

Prime Paramount Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 ordinary share 100 - Investment holding
RERLES 1RTERR RAER
Rank Ace Investments Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 ordinary share 100 100 Property investment
EERKES IXTERER NERE
Rosedale Group Management Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 Provision of management
Limited ) BELTERR services
HEREERERAA RAEE R
Rosedale Hotel Kowloon Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 ordinary share 100 100 Hotel operation
NEHEBEERAR BE BEITERR BEEE
Rosedale Restaurant and Catering Hong Kong HK$1,991,061,472 100 100 Restaurant operation
Limited 0 ordinary shares REEE
BREKARAR 7E%1,991,061,472 7T
EER
Silver Infinite British Virgin Islands US$1 ordinary share 100 100 Investment holding
RBRAES IXRTERR REER
Solid Riches Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 ordinary share 100 100 Investment holding
THERRA EERKES IXTEER RAER
Success Well Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary shares 100 100 Property investment
REEREBRDF B BE2TERR NERE

Annual Report &3 @ 2018-2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HE=ZF—hF=A—+—HAILFE

42. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd)

Name of subsidiary

WEARER

Place of
incorporation/
registration/
establishment
EMEL/ BR
R

42. FEWBLE (&)

Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered capital
BERTRAR
RE/EMEE

Total attributable
equity interest

held by the Company
LG ES:
FEfREAR

2019

—g-hEF

%

2018
—E-N\F
%

Principal activities

FEER

Top Century International Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 ordinary share 100 100 Investment holding
EBRAES 1ETERR RERR

Treasure Generator Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 ordinary share 100 100 Loan note issuer
RBRAES 1ETERR BEFRBEITA

Unique Way Limited British Virgin Islands US$2 ordinary shares 100 100 Investment holding

HEBRAR EBRAES 2ERTEBR RERR

Utmost Sound Limited British Virgin Islands US$1,000 ordinary shares 72 100 Investment holding
RERARS 1,000% T E B REEK

SHAMERREARARF PRC (note b) RMB275,389,430 100 100 Property development
Bl (RfEED) AR¥275,3894307C NEER

notes: Bt &

(a) The non-voting deferred shares, which are not held by the Group, neither (i) (@) WIHAEERFE 2 EREREERG &
carry no rights to dividends, (ii) receive notice of or attend or vote at any BRI () PSRRI AT ERAR B ¢ (i)
general meeting of the company, nor (iii) participate in any distribution on RAMEMRRAGZBERHERRAEH
winding up practically. REERE : i) NERBE2EEM DK -

(b)  This subsidiary is a wholly-foreign owned enterprise established in the b)) WHEBARRRREKZZINEBERE -

PRC.

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R M RR M A

for the year ended 31st March, 2019 HZ—F—hF=A=+—HILFE

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

Other than =T AIFTERFZEBR A which operates in the
PRC, ITC Properties (Townsend House) Company Limited
which operates in the United Kingdom, and ITCP Alberni
Holdings Limited which operates in Canada, all of the above
subsidiaries have their principal place of operations in Hong
Kong.

Other than Treasure Generator Limited which is the Issuer of
the Notes as disclosed in Note 27, none of the subsidiaries had
any debt securities outstanding at the end of the reporting
period or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or
assets of the Group. Disclosing the details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

At the end of the reporting period, majority of the subsidiaries
of the Company operate in Hong Kong. The compositions and
the principal activities of the subsidiaries are summarised as
follows:

Principal activity

EFREK

Country/place of incorporation/establishment

MR PRI ZER, R

42. FEMBAT (&)

BR-TRIMEXFEERARZKLEH
2h AL 7 H B - ITC Properties (Townsend
House) Company Limited 2 48 & i B i
R & B K ITCP Alberni Holdings Limited
2B BN INE RSN - A EFTE
BARZ FBEEMBBMRNES o

¥ Treasure Generator Limited ( 20 Fff 5% 27
Frigse) BRBEEIT AN - RIREEIRL
FAEAMER - SHB AT EEM
REBZEBESF -

EXRFINESRA/UARERENEE
BEARFEZARANMBLR - EFR
B REAMHBARNZENSEHE
f&B D L&

RIREHIR - RABKREED 2 W B A A
REBEE -MNBARIZHAKKEEE
R

Number of subsidiaries
M R & B
2019 2018
=B-hE —T)N\F

Property Hong Kong/PRC/Canada/United Kingdom/Others 46 33
YES B/ HENEXREE S EA
Hotel and leisure Hong Kong/PRC/Others 18 16
BB RO R BB/ Bt
Securities investments Hong Kong/Others 4 3
BEHRE BBt
Finance Hong Kong/Others 3 3
BE BB/ A
Others Hong Kong/PRC/Macau/Others 111 99
Hit BB/ HE R EH A

182 154
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
B2

For the year ended 31st March,
BE=A=1-HLHFE

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
—E-HF ZE-RF ZT—+tF ZT-N\F ZEB-hE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$/000 HK$’000 HK$/000

BT T BT T FERETT BT T BT T

Revenue U 25 59,610 143,402 188,871 246,625 262,299
Profit before taxation B 758 BT Vi ) 823,710 1,467,846 302,849 183,626 141,055
Taxation FRIE (22,646) (9,227) (24) (1,477) (1,165)
Profit for the year AN i F 801,064 1,458,619 302,825 182,149 139,890

Profit attributable to: THI AT EERF

Owners of the Company RATER A 803,550 1,460,094 303,238 182,488 140,583
Non-controlling interests ~ FEFZEA#E &5 (2,486) (1,475) (413) (339) (693)
801,064 1,458,619 302,825 182,149 139,890

As at 31st March,
R=A=+—H
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

—T-RF B E—+F ZT-/\& ZB-hF
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
BT BT BT BT BT

Total assets EERBE 6,206,445 7,679,130 9,442,543 8,983,396 9,171,176
Total liabilities BERTE (2,012,658)  (2,164,232)  (3,865,117)  (3,446,488)  (3,832,062)

4,193,787 5,514,898 5,577,426 5,536,908 5,339,114

Equity attributable to: THIA LRI
Owners of the Company AR RIHEAB A 4,194,070 5,516,749 5,574,275 5,532,655 5,336,124
Non-controlling interests JEIARAE RS (283) (1,851) 3,151 4,253 2,990

4,193,787 5,514,898 5,577,426 5,536,908 5,339,114

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR



SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES
TEMEWR

Group’s
Approximate Stage of ownership
Location ross floor area Lease term  Use completion rEE2

i 8 HNEEER A Jich=3 SR R EaRE
(sq. ft.)
(¥HR)

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SELF USE AND INVESTMENT PROPERTY

BEERRREZME

30th Floor, Bank of America Tower, 13,880 Long Office Completed 100%
No. 12 Harcourt Road, Central, =331 FNE B

Hong Kong

BEBPREBE 2R

EERITH0 3018

Le Petit Rosedale Hotel, 31,000 Long Hotel Completed 100%
No. 7 Moreton Terrace, g B BIERK

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

EERBEERETHR

AR 8 B I

250 Hennessy, 55,600 Long Office/Car parks  Completed 100%
No. 250 Hennessy Road, =2t WA /B BEK

Wan Chai, Hong Kong
BB BT HEFE 2505
250 Hennessy

The Westin Bayshore, 449,000 Freehold ~ Hospitality/ Completed 50%
1601 Bayshore Drive, Vancouver, KA Conference/ &%

British Columbia, Canada Ancillary uses

MEREEFHe L B8R TE BE/ 8%/

Bayshore Drive 1601 5% REMSE

BF AT

Rosedale Hotel Kowloon, 110,000 Long Hotel Completed 40%
No. 86 Tai Kok Tsui Road, R B [S5-374

Tai Kok Tsui, Hong Kong
FEAAEAKAEE 865

NERIARBIA IS

Portions of Dabiao International Centre, 640,000 Medium Commercial/ Completed 31.5%
No. 362 Jiangnan Avenue South and ) Office/Hotel/ B &M

No. 238 Changgang Zhong Road, Car parks

Haizhu District, Guangzhou City, the PRC [GEYS VNV

B B R E) TR KB R 362 9% BEE B

K E & 238 5%

EREBRR LA

Annual Report 4 # @ 2018-2019



SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES
TEWMEWR

Group’s
Approximate Stage of ownership
Location ross floor area Lease term  Use completion rEE2
2 HELEER ) A% 2 A B BRRE
(sq. ft.)
(F7R)
STOCK OF PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT
ERMEEE
Nos. 205-211A Hai Tan Street, 40,116 Long Residential/ Foundation works 100%
Sham Shui Po, Hong Kong (Gross site area & Commercial completed (Anticipated
BARKEEEH 205-211A5 approximately FE/ B completion date: 2020)
4,550 sq. ft.) HETIZE K
(B EIE (TEER T HE
#)4,550°F5R) 2
Nos. 41, 43 and 45 30,000 Long Residential/ Demolition completed 100%
Pau Chung Street, (Gross site area & Hj Commercial (Anticipated completion
To Kwa Wan, Hong Kong approximately FE/ date: 2021)
&5+ 1Bl 3,532 sq. ft.) BIFE T
41 43 455 (smEE (RHRTHE
493,532 F71R) T —F)
Townsend House, 26,531 Freehold ~ Commercial Applied for 90.1%
5 Greycoat Place, (Gross site area KA S redevelopment
London United Kingdom approximately EHFER
Bl fm iGreycoat Place 5% 6,098 sq. ft.)
Townsend House (R e mE s
#96,098 ¥ 77R)
Nos. 21, 23, 25,27, 29 and 31 23,183 Long Commercial Planned for 72%
Sheung Heung Road, To Kwa Wan, (Gross site area =i (note) redevelopment (note)
Hong Kon approximately EEICIES) BatglE (M)
%%im +231525 9,100 sq. ft.)
27 ~ 29 K31 sr? (it ETE
#99,100F 5R)
No. 23 Po Shan Road, Mid-levels, 80,000 Long Residential Foundation works 40%
Hong Kongg.E (Gross site area & Hj F=x in progress (Anticipated
BB+ ILEME23 % approximately completion date: 2020)
15,000 sq. ft.) HE TI2EITH
(RS (FEER T HE :
#915,000 F 7 R) ZEITF)
Lote 2 to Lote 12 of One Oasis, 1,767,000 Medium Residential/ Development by phase 35.5%
Sky Oasis and Grand Oasis, (Gross site area 1 & Commercial (Anticipated completion
Estrada de Seac Pai Van, approximately %/ HE date: 2019 to 2021
Coloane, Macau 302,000 sq. ft.) in phases)
RFBIR A S (st mEmia ERDEER
TEMR  TELERSERR #1302,000°F5R) (RERTAE:
Z Lote 2 E Lote 123E] —E-NEERE
2% HEER)
1444 Alberni Street, Proposed: Freehold ~ Residential/ Re-zoning approved 28%
711 Broughton Street e KA Commercial  2E| L3 B JEHE/E
and 740 Nicola Street, 648,000 FE/H%
Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada (Gross site area
MEREEF R ERFTE approximately
Alberni Street 1444 5% - Broughton Street 43,230 sq. ft.)
7115% % Nicola Street 740 5% (b A
943,230 FAR)

note: The site is presently planned for residential redevelopment upon completion of — FfiaE @ EHEiA23R 5+ 2178 72 pk W BE R & W AR 2R
the acquisition and compliance with town planning issues. BETEEER -

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ ErFESREER AR



DEFINITIONS

In this annual report, the following expressions have the following meanings unless otherwise specified:

EARFRA - BXESBHEN

Annual General Meeting

BREFAE

Board
=

Bye-laws

NCIEGEL

CAD
ik

CG Code
EERTA|

Company
ZA/NG)

Director(s)

55

Group
ZN S

HK$
ok

Hong Kong
BA
Listing Rules

EHRA

Macau

R

THFAERAGIATRE

the annual general meeting of the Company to be held at 13/F., 250 Hennessy,
250 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong on Friday, 6th September, 2019 at
10:30 a.m.

RARZEIIR ZZE-NFAARNR(EHR) EF TR =1 REEBEFHEF
250 13BRITZBRAFKE

the board of Directors

B9

the bye-laws of the Company as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified
from time to time

ARFZ RRBR ETRHET  BRARITER)

Canadian dollars, the lawful currency of Canada

MEXREE G I

the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
LR RIRT SR+ AR E AT RAEEEBRE)

ITC Properties Group Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited
liability, the Shares of which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 199)

EEHESREARAR  —BARAERETMRILZEREERR]  EROREBER
FrEAR £ (R 1SR - 199)

the director(s) of the Company
AREES

the Company and its subsidiaries

AR REKE AT

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

ERREEREE

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
hEEERRITTHR

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

B FTRE 5 L AR B (B AEHER] RS TTIER)

Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC
BRI B TT R

Annual Report & 5§ @ 2018-2019



DEFINITIONS

Model Code
=g

MOP
RPTEE

PRC
F

RMB
AR

SFO
BH N EE &
Share(s)

& 17

Shareholder(s)
f&ER

Share Option Scheme
ARt &

Stock Exchange
Bt 2P

US$
e

Year

RER

%

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out

in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
ETRRIM ST AEC EMRTAESETESFXHNRESTE])

Macau Patacas, the lawful currency of Macau

BFVETE BRI

the People’s Republic of China, and for the purpose of this annual report, excluding

Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan

g \RAME  BAFHRNES - TREDS RPIRAE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

FEDEEEBARSE

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as

amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

FEREDES71 EFSF LA GERD (K TRER] - RIATTER)

ordinary share(s) of HK$0.01 each in the issued share capital of the Company
RAFEETRATFREEER0.01 T2 EBRERND

holder(s) of the Share(s)

R FEE A

the existing share option scheme of the Company adopted on 17th August, 2012
ARAR=F-——FN\A+EERAZIREBIEE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEEBARHMARAT]

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

EBEDEEE®BET

the financial year ended 31st March, 2019
HE-_ZT-NF=ZA=1T—HLEMBFE

per cent.

Bt

In case of any inconsistency, the English version of this annual report shall prevail over the Chinese version.

REFIHZ A~ EXARIB(EAZE - BIARKRZE

ITC PROPERTIES GROUP LIMITED @ EFESBEERAR
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30/F., Bank of America Tower, 12 Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong
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